Endocrine consequences in children due to the COVID-19 pandemic social behavior changes

Edited by Guilherme Guaragna-Filho and Stefano Stagi

Published in Frontiers in Endocrinology Frontiers in Pediatrics





FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source

acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-8325-3368-0 DOI 10.3389/978-2-8325-3368-0

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

Endocrine consequences in children due to the COVID-19 pandemic social behavior changes

Topic editors

Guilherme Guaragna-Filho — Federal University of Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil Stefano Stagi — University of Florence, Italy

Citation

Guaragna-Filho, G., Stagi, S., eds. (2023). *Endocrine consequences in children due to the COVID-19 pandemic social behavior changes*. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-8325-3368-0



Table of contents

- 04 Editorial: Endocrine consequences in children due to the COVID-19 pandemic social behavior changes Guilherme Guaragna-Filho and Stefano Stagi
- 06 Incidence of Diabetic Ketoacidosis Among Pediatrics With Type 1 Diabetes Prior to and During COVID-19 Pandemic: A Meta-Analysis of Observational Studies

Osamah M. Alfayez, Kholood S. Aldmasi, Nada H. Alruwais, Nouf M. Bin Awad, Majed S. Al Yami, Omar A. Almohammed and Abdulaali R. Almutairi

- 15 Presentations, Complications, and Challenges Encountered During Management of Type 1 Diabetes in Egyptian Children During COVID-19 Pandemic: A Single-Center Experience Marise Abdou, Mona M. Hassan, Samah A. Hassanein, Eman H. Elsebaie and Radwa A. Shamma
- 26 Difference of Precocious Puberty Between Before and During the COVID-19 Pandemic: A Cross-Sectional Study Among Shanghai School-Aged Girls

Yao Chen, Jianyong Chen, Yijun Tang, Qianwen Zhang, Yirou Wang, Qun Li, Xin Li, Zihan Weng, Ju Huang, Xiumin Wang and Shijian Liu

- 35 Impact of Covid-19 Pandemic on the Effectiveness of Outpatient Counseling in Childhood Obesity Management Domenico Corica, Alessandra Li Pomi, Selenia Curatola, Giorgia Pepe, Annalisa Giandalia, Angelo Tropeano, Angela Alibrandi, Tommaso Aversa and Malgorzata Wasniewska
- 43 Current evidence on the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on paediatric endocrine conditions

Margherita Gnocchi, Tiziana D'Alvano, Claudia Lattanzi, Giulia Messina, Maddalena Petraroli, Viviana D. Patianna, Susanna Esposito and Maria E. Street

- 56 An increasing tendency of precocious puberty among Korean children from the perspective of COVID-19 pandemic effect Kyu Hee Choi and Seung Chan Park
- 65 Weight gain in type 1 diabetes during the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic. Does lockdown affect the metabolic control of pediatric patients?

Agnieszka Zubkiewicz-Kucharska, Beata Wikiera and Anna Noczyńska

75 The effect of COVID-19 on the presentation of thyroid disease in children

Rebecca McCowan, Edith Wild, Angela K. Lucas-Herald, Jane McNeilly, Avril Mason, Sze Choong Wong, S. Faisal Ahmed and M. Guftar Shaikh

82 Implicating factors in the increase in cases of central precocious puberty (CPP) during the COVID-19 pandemic: Experience of a tertiary centre of pediatric endocrinology and review of the literature

C. Barberi, V. Di Natale, V. Assirelli, L. Bernardini, E. Candela and A. Cassio

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED AND REVIEWED BY Sally Radovick, Rutgers, The State University of New Jersey, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Guilherme Guaragna-Filho ggfilho@hcpa.edu.br

RECEIVED 24 July 2023 ACCEPTED 09 August 2023 PUBLISHED 15 August 2023

CITATION

Guaragna-Filho G and Stagi S (2023) Editorial: Endocrine consequences in children due to the COVID-19 pandemic social behavior changes. *Front. Endocrinol.* 14:1266239. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2023.1266239

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Guaragna-Filho and Stagi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Editorial: Endocrine consequences in children due to the COVID-19 pandemic social behavior changes

Guilherme Guaragna-Filho^{1*} and Stefano Stagi^{2,3}

¹Department of Pediatrics, School of Medicine, Federal University of Rio Grande do Sul, Porto Alegre, Brazil, ²Department of Health Sciences, University of Florence, Firenze, Italy, ³Meyer Children's Hospital IRCCS, Florence, Italy

KEYWORDS

endocrine disorders, COVID - 19, precocious puberty, T1D (type 1 diabetes), childhood obesity, thyroid disorders

Editorial on the Research Topic

Endocrine consequences in children due to the COVID-19 pandemic social behavior changes

Over the last 3 years, the human race has faced the greatest healthcare challenge of the 21^{st} century, a challenge made even greater, because the last time something of this magnitude occurred was over 100 years ago. To overcome the COVID 19 pandemic, the medical community was called on to use intellectual and industrial resources on a scale never seen before.

From the first cases, it was clear that the effects of COVID19 on the paediatric population would not be limited to acute respiratory conditions, but that young people's mental health would be severely effected due to lockdowns. Endocrinological consequences, whether directly caused by the virus, as shown in some studies on DM1 (1), or multifactorial, such as the increase in cases of precocious puberty (2) soon began to appear. Evidence of collateral damage to the endocrine system continues to emerge and research into its aetiology and pathophysiology is just beginning.

This special edition focuses on the endocrinological consequences of the COVID19 pandemic in children and adolescents. A good place to start is the work of Gnocchi et al., a review of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on paediatric endocrine disorders, which highlights well documented phenomena such as increases in obesity as well as less researched consequences, for example the impact on vitamin D and Calcium metabolism.

A widely noted phenomenon was the increase in cases of PP. Barberi et al. present interesting data on the role of electronic devices in triggering PP during the pandemic period in Italy. Choi and Park present important data on the increase in prevalence of PP from 2016 to 2021 in the Korean population, emphasizing the prevalence in boys which increased 2-fold during the pandemic period. Chen et al. suggest that ghrelin levels play a role in the regulation of puberty based on their analysis of the increase of PP cases in Shanghai during the first year of the COVID-19 pandemic compared with the five previous years.

Alfayez et al. conducted a systematic review and metanalysis showing that diabetic ketoacidosis (DKA) risk, especially for the severe form, increased significantly during the pandemic. Abdou et al. showed that during COVID waves 1 and 2, there was an increase in the incidence of newly diagnosed cases compared with the pre-COVID period, and that patients presented with more severe DKA with a significantly higher incidence of hypokalaemia. Zubkiewicz-Kucharska et al. analysed the influence of lockdown in T1D management, finding increases in weight gain and daily insulin doses during the period.

McCowan et al. showed that overall rates of thyroid dysfunction have not altered since the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic, however the number of patients with transient thyroid dysfunction, not requiring ongoing treatment has increased. Finally, Corica et al. describe the difficulties that the pandemic brought for the management of obesity in children and adolescents.

More studies will be needed to explain these phenomena, focusing not only on clinical presentation but also on the role of epigenetics. The covid pandemics is over, however the challenge of interpreting its effects on the paediatric population has just started for paediatric endocrinologists and healthcare professionals.

References

1. Barrett CE, Koyama AK, Alvarez P, Chow W, Lundeen EA, Perrine CG, et al. Risk for newly diagnosed diabetes >30 days after SARS-CoV-2 infection among persons aged <18 years — United States, March 1, 2020–June 28, 2021. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep* (2022) 71(2):59–65. doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm7102e2

Author contributions

GG: Writing - original draft. SS: Writing - review & editing.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

2. Stagi S, De Masi S, Bencini E, Losi S, Paci S, Parpagnoli M, et al. Increased incidence of precocious and accelerated puberty in females during and after the Italian lockdown for the coronavirus 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic. *Ital J Pediatr* (2020) 46 (1):165. doi: 10.1186/s13052-020-00931-3





Incidence of Diabetic Ketoacidosis Among Pediatrics With Type 1 Diabetes Prior to and During COVID-19 Pandemic: A Meta-Analysis of Observational Studies

Osamah M. Alfayez^{1*}, Kholood S. Aldmasi², Nada H. Alruwais², Nouf M. Bin Awad³, Majed S. Al Yami⁴, Omar A. Almohammed^{5,6} and Abdulaali R. Almutairi⁷

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Andrea Enzo Scaramuzza, Istituti Ospitalieri di Cremona, Italy

Reviewed by:

Valentino Cherubini, Azienda Ospedaliero Universitaria Ospedali Riuniti, Italy Ivana Rabbone, University of Eastern Piedmont, Italy Lorenzo lughetti, University of Modena and Reggio Emilia, Italy

*Correspondence:

Osamah M. Alfayez oalfayez@qu.edu.sa

This article was submitted to Pediatric Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Specialty section:

Received: 17 January 2022 Accepted: 08 February 2022 Published: 09 March 2022

Citation:

Alfayez OM, Aldmasi KS, Alruwais NH, Bin Awad NM, Al Yami MS, Almohammed OA and Almutairi AR (2022) Incidence of Diabetic Ketoacidosis Among Pediatrics With Type 1 Diabetes Prior to and During COVID-19 Pandemic: A Meta-Analysis of Observational Studies. Front. Endocrinol. 13:856958. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.856958 ¹ Department of Pharmacy Practice, College of Pharmacy, Qassim University, Qassim, Saudi Arabia, ² College of Pharmacy, University of Shaqra, Al Dawadmi, Saudi Arabia, ³ Department of Pharmacy Practice and Science, College of Pharmacy, University of Arizona, Tucson, AZ, United States, ⁴ Department of Pharmacy Practice, College of Pharmacy, King Saud bin Abdulaziz University for Health Sciences, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia, ⁵ Department of Clinical Pharmacy, College of Pharmacy, King Saud University, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia, ⁶ Pharmacoeconomics Research Unit, College of Pharmacy, King Saud University, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia, ⁷ Drug Sector, Saudi Food and Drug Authority, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia

Background: Previous reports suggest that the Coronavirus Disease-2019 (COVID-19) pandemic might have affected incidences of diabetic ketoacidosis (DKA) and new diagnoses of type 1 diabetes. This systematic review and meta-analysis aimed to estimate the risk of DKA, including severe DKA, during the COVID-19 pandemic versus the prior-to-COVID-19 period among pediatric patients with type 1 diabetes.

Methods: PubMed and EMBASE were searched for observational studies investigating the risk of DKA among pediatric patients with type 1 diabetes during the COVID-19 pandemic and the prior-to-COVID-19 period. A random meta-analysis model was performed to estimate the relative risk of DKA during the COVID-19 pandemic compared to before the pandemic. Subgroup analyses were conducted based on the type 1 diabetes status, established or newly diagnosed. In addition, sensitivity analysis was conducted for studies that reported results from adjusted analysis for potential confounders using fixed effect model.

Results: A total of 20 observational studies reported the risk of DKA, of which 18 reported the risk of severe DKA. The risks of DKA and severe DKA were 35% (RR 1.35, 95%Cl 1.2-1.53, $l^2 = 71\%$) and 76% (RR 1.76, 95%Cl 1.33-2.33, $l^2 = 44\%$) higher in the during-COVID-19 group compared to the prior-to-COVID-19 group, respectively. Among patients with newly diagnosed type 1 diabetes, the risk of DKA was 44% higher for the during-COVID-19 group compared to the prior-to-COVID-19 group (RR 1.44, 95%Cl 1.26-1.65; $l^2 = 64\%$). Only two studies reported the risk of DKA among patients with established type 1 diabetes and the cumulative risk was not statistically significant. In the sensitivity analysis, four studies reported an adjusted odds ratio (aOR) of the risk of DKA during COVID-19 compared to the prior-to-COVID-19 period. The fixed estimate from the

meta-analysis found an increase in the risk of DKA in the during-COVID-19 group compared to the prior-to-COVID-19 group (aOR 2.04, 95%CI 1.66-2.50).

Conclusions: This study showed that DKA risk, especially the risk of severe DKA, has increased significantly during the pandemic. Healthcare systems must be aware and prepared for such an increase in DKA cases and take all necessary measures to prevent future spikes during the pandemic.

Systematic Review Registration: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display_record.php?RecordID=272775, identifier PROSPERO [CRD42021272775].

Keywords: COVID-19, diabetic ketoacidosis, incidence, meta-analysis, pediatrics, systematic review, type 1 diabetes

INTRODUCTION

Diabetic ketoacidosis (DKA) is a life-threatening complication of diabetes that can occur at type 1 diabetes onset (1, 2). The International Society of Pediatric and Adolescent Diabetes defined DKA patients as having a blood glucose level greater than 200 mg/dl, a pH level under 7.3, and a bicarbonate level under 15 mmol/L. Severe DKA, however, is recognized by a decline in pH level to under 7.1 or potentially a bicarbonate level under 5 mmol/L (3). The incidence rate of DKA at type 1 diabetes onset ranged from 13 to 80%, requiring hospitalization in most cases and leading to the consumption of more healthcare resources (3–5). The recently reported prevalence of DKA among children with newly diagnosed type 1 diabetes was around 30%, with much variation in the prevalence between 13 countries in the study (6).

Patients with diabetes are at greater risk of infection relative to the general population, and the risk is higher for patients with type 1 diabetes compared to patients with type 2 diabetes (7). The Coronavirus Disease-2019 (COVID-19) pandemic has dramatically affected the lifestyle of patients and their access to healthcare services worldwide, including delayed diagnosis or management of chronic diseases, such as type 1 diabetes (8, 9). Moreover, several studies reported an increase in DKA and severe DKA cases among the pediatric population (10–17). Also, some studies reported a possible increase in type 1 diabetes cases during the pandemic (11, 12, 18). Therefore, we conducted a comprehensive systematic review and meta-analysis to estimate the risk of DKA, including severe DKA, among patients with type 1 diabetes prior to and during the COVID-19 pandemic.

METHODS

Search Strategy and Databases

A systematic literature search was conducted by KSA, NHA, and NMB for observational studies using the PICO (population, intervention, comparison, outcome) framework (P: pediatric patients with type 1 diabetes, I: during the COVID-19 pandemic, C: prior to COVID-19, O: incidences of DKA).

The electronic databases *PubMed* and *EMBASE* were searched from inception to December 28, 2021. The *Elsevier Coronavirus Research Repository Hub* was also searched for potentially eligible studies. The search strategy and keywords are available in **Supplemental Table 1**. This systematic review and metaanalysis was registered with PROSPERO (<u>CRD42021272775</u>), and the manuscript was prepared based on the Meta-Analysis of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (MOOSE) guideline (19).

Study Selection, Data Extraction, and Quality Assessment

All retrieved citations, after removing duplicates from the Rayyan software (20), were independently screened by the three investigators for eligibility; initially through titles and abstracts, then through a full-text review. Studies published as an abstract or in non-English language were excluded. Disagreements were resolved by consensus. Two investigators (KSA and NHA) extracted the following data into an Excel sheet: primary author's last name, year of publication, location of the study, study period, key inclusion/exclusion criteria, number of patients with type 1 diabetes, study period, and number of patients with DKA and severe DKA. Two other investigators (ARA and OMA) checked the extracted data and independently performed the quality assessment of included articles using the Newcastle-Ottawa Scale (NOS) (21, 22). Disagreements were resolved by consensus.

Data Synthesis and Analysis

The primary outcome of the analysis estimated the risk of DKA among pediatric patients with type 1 diabetes in the during-COVID-19 pandemic group relative to the prior-to-COVID-19 group using the risk ratio (RR) with a 95% confidence interval (95% CI). The secondary outcome is the relative risk of severe DKA in the during-COVID-19 group versus the prior-to-COVID-19 group. We performed the meta-analysis with a random effect model using R version 4.0.4 and presented the results on a forest plot, including the heterogeneity I² statistics. Egger's test was employed to assess the potential for publication bias. We performed subgroup analyses based on type 1 diabetes status (newly or established diagnoses) and sensitivity analyses for studies that reported adjusted point estimates (RR or OR) using the fixed effect model.

RESULTS

Characteristics of Included Studies

The systematic search yielded 372 citations, and 20 studies met the inclusion criteria (**Figure 1**) (10–18, 24–34). These studies included 37,174 patients with type 1 diabetes in the prior-to-COVID-19 pandemic group and 27,812 patients in the during-COVID-19 group. Most of the studies were conducted in European countries from hospitals or tertiary care centers (**Table 1**).

Risk of Bias Assessment

All the included studies had more than 7 points on the NOS scale, suggesting good (7–9) quality (**Supplemental Table 2**). However, only seven studies demonstrated a good quality on the comparability domain due to the adjustment for the baseline characteristics between the two groups (during-COVID-19 and prior-to-COVID-19).

Risk of DKA

A total of 20 studies investigated the risk of DKA during COVID-19 compared to the prior-to-COVID-19 period

(**Figure 2**). Seven studies have shown an increase in the risk of DKA during the pandemic. The cumulative risk of DKA was 35% higher for the during-COVID-19 group compared to the prior-to-COVID-19 group (RR 1.35, 95%CI 1.20-1.53) but with significant heterogeneity ($I^2 = 71\%$, *p*<0.01).

Risk of Sever DKA

Eighteen studies have investigated the risk of severe DKA during COVID-19 compared to the prior-to-COVID-19 period (**Figure 3**). Ten studies have shown an increase in the risk of severe DKA during the pandemic. The cumulative risk of severe DKA was 76% higher for the during-COVID-19 group compared to the prior-to-COVID-19 group (RR 1.76, 95%CI 1.33-2.33, $I^2 = 44\%$, p=0.03).

Subgroup Analysis

Risk of DKA Among Patients With Newly Diagnosed Type 1 Diabetes

A total of 18 studies investigated the risk of DKA among patients with newly diagnosed type 1 diabetes during COVID-19 compared to the prior-to-COVID-19 period (**Figure 4**), with



TABLE 1 | Characteristics of the included studies.

Study	Location	COVI	D-19	Patient included	Setting	
		During (N)	Prior (N)			
Dżygało, 2020 (17)	Poland	34	52	≤18 years	Single center	
Kamrath, 2020 (10)	Germany	532	954	≤18 years	Multicenter	
Rabbone, 2020 (18)	Italy	160	208	<15 years	Multicenter	
Alaqeel, 2021 (32)	Saudi Arabia	106	154	1–14 years	Multicenter	
Boboc, 2021 (11)	Romania	147	312	<18 years	Single center	
Bogale, 2021 (24)	USA	42	370	≤18 years	Single center	
Danne, 2021 (25)	Worldwide	25543	31258	≤21 years	Multicenter	
Dilek, 2021 (12)	Turkey	74	46	<18 years	Single center	
Hawkes, 2021 (26)	USA, Europe	73	92	<18 years	Single center	
Ho, 2021 (13)	Canada	107	114	<18 years	Multicenter	
Jacob, 2021 (14)	Israel	150	154	≤18 years	Multicenter	
Lawrence, 2021 (15)	Australia	11	42	<18 years	Single center	
McGlacken, 2021 (16)	UK	17	30	<18 years	Multicenter	
Salmi, 2021 (27)	Finland	84	231	≤15 years	Multicenter	
Zubkiewicz-Kucharska, 2021 (28)	Poland	30	1961	<18 years	Multicenter	
Al-Abdulrazzaq, 2021 (29)	Kuwait	324	303	≤12 years	Multicenter	
Goldman, 2021 (30)	Israel	146	364	<18 years	Multicenter	
Kostopoulou, 2021 (31)	Greece	21	17	<18 years	Multicenter	
Mameli, 2021 (32)	Italy	201	502	<18 years	Multicenter	
Mi Seon Lee, 2021 (33)	Korea	10	10	<19 years	Single center	

eleven reporting an increase in the risk of DKA during the pandemic. The cumulative risk showed a 44% increase in the risk of DKA for the during-COVID-19 compared to the prior-to-COVID-19 groups (RR 1.44, 95%CI 1.26-1.65), again with significant heterogeneity ($I^2 = 64\%$, *p*<0.01).

Risk of DKA Among Patients With Established Type 1 Diabetes

Two studies have reported the risk of DKA among patients with established type 1 diabetes (**Figure 5**); one of them found an increase in the risk of DKA during the pandemic. However, the cumulative risk of DKA was insignificant (RR 1.14, 95%CI 0.83-1.56, $I^2 = 76\%$, p=0.04).

Sensitivity Analysis

Four studies reported an adjusted odds ratio (aOR) of the risk of DKA during COVID-19 compared to the prior-to-COVID-19 period (**Supplemental Figure 1**). The fixed estimate from the meta-analysis showed an increase in the risk of DKA for the during-COVID-19 group compared to the prior-to-COVID-19 group (aOR 2.04, 95%CI 1.66-2.50). Conversely, three studies reported an adjusted relative risk (aRR) of DKA during COVID-19 compared to the prior-to-COVID-19 period (**Supplemental Figure 2**). The fixed estimate from the meta-analysis showed an increase in the risk of DKA for the during-COVID-19 group compared to the prior-to-COVID-19 period (**Supplemental Figure 2**). The fixed estimate from the meta-analysis showed an increase in the risk of DKA for the during-COVID-19 group compared to the prior-to-COVID-19 group (aRR 1.27, 95%CI 1.18-1.36).





Publication Bias

The publication bias test was performed for all outcomes except for the subgroup analysis of the established type 1 diabetes cohort, which only included two studies. The results of Eager's test did not show potential for publication bias.

DISCUSSION

This meta-analysis aimed to estimate the risk of DKA, including severe DKA, among pediatric patients with type 1 diabetes during COVID-19 pandemic compared to prior-to-COVID-19. The cumulative risks of DKA and severe DKA were 35% and 76% higher, respectively, for the during-COVID-19 period compared to prior to COVID-19. The cumulative risk of DKA among patients with newly diagnosed type 1 diabetes showed a 44% increased risk of DKA for the during-COVID-19 compared to the prior-to-COVID-19 groups.

Several hypotheses were raised to explain the increase in incidences of DKA and severe DKA during the pandemic. A delay in seeking medical attention was suggested by several studies (10, 35, 36). Such a delay was attributed to fear of infection, cancellation of several medical services, or the closing of some centers due to an increase in infections among medical staff and admitted patients (10, 35, 37–39). For those newly diagnosed with type 1 diabetes presenting with DKA, it is hypothesized that delay in seeking medical help will be preceded by a longer duration of type 1 diabetes symptoms. However, several studies have reported that the duration of symptoms during the pandemic were comparable to duration prior to COVID-19 (11, 17, 28, 40). This finding suggests that the delay in diagnosing type 1 diabetes is not the only cause for an increased risk of DKA.





This result might also be supported by the reported no-change or unexpected lower HbA1c levels during the pandemic (25, 28). That said, a limitation does exist regarding the duration of symptoms given that the information provided in the studies depends on parents' ability to recall those symptoms.

Most of the studies included in this meta-analysis investigated those who were newly diagnosed with type 1 diabetes, which makes it unlikely that worsening glycemic control during the pandemic led to the increase in DKA cases. Only two studies have reported DKA cases among patients with a history of type 1 diabetes. Jacob et al. reported a statistically significant increase in DKA during the pandemic (14), while Alaqeel et al. showed no difference in DKA cases in those with preexisting type 1 diabetes (34). Although some studies have reported a decrease in physical activities during the lockdown period (25, 41), many studies have observed good glycemic control during the lockdown period, which might be a result of close parental supervision during the lockdown or the increased use of diabetes-related technology in some countries (25, 42–45).

Another possible factor could be an increase in the incidence of type 1 diabetes among children during the pandemic. However, most of the studies investigating this idea did not report a significant increase in the incidence of type 1 diabetes during the pandemic. Boboc et al. reported a 30% overall increase in incidences of type 1 diabetes between March 2020 and February 2021 (11). Interestingly, incidences were found to be lower during the early weeks of the pandemic (March to April 2020). Rabbone et al. also reported a decrease in new cases of type 1 diabetes during the pandemic from February 2020 to April 2020 (18). Such an early decrease in incidences of type 1 diabetes during the pandemic might be attributed to lower overall exposure to viral infections during the lockdown period, as viral infections are known risk factor for developing type 1 diabetes (46-48). Moreover, it is also reported that new type 1 diabetes cases are usually higher in the winter season compared to summer (49-51). Thus, it is unlikely that the seasonality of type 1 diabetes is the reason for the decrease in type 1 diabetes incidences reported by those studies (11, 18). Overall, the results regarding the changes in the incidence of type 1 diabetes during the pandemic are inconclusive, making larger studies with a longer duration warranted.

COVID-19 infection has resulted in several complications. Some reports suggest that the virus might be able to affect the pancreas, resulting in a dysregulation of glucose metabolism (52, 53). A UK study suggested a possible link between COVID-19 infection and new-onset of type 1 diabetes or severe DKA (40). However, this study was limited by its small sample size. Conversely, a German study showed that COVID-19 infection did not increase type 1 diabetes cases when there was no evidence of autoimmunity. Importantly, this study only covered the first wave of the pandemic in Germany (approximately four months period) (54). Thus, possible links cannot be entirely ruled out, but larger studies are needed to confirm them. Unfortunately, among the studies included in this meta-analysis, only a small number of patients had COVID-19, and data regarding prior exposure to the virus are limited, making it difficult to attribute such an increase in DKA cases to current or prior COVID-19 infection.

Regardless of the actual cause of increased DKA during the pandemic, DKA remains to be a serious life-threatening complication that must be prevented. Early detection of type 1 diabetes symptoms and early diagnoses is key in preventing DKA. Overall, incidences of DKA at type 1 diabetes diagnosis is a challenge (2, 6, 55, 56), despite the pandemic. Missed diagnoses of type 1 diabetes by healthcare providers have been documented (56, 57). Children diagnosed with type 1 diabetes were more likely to have visited their primary care providers within the 30 days prior to diagnosis (57), which indicates missed opportunities for early detection of type 1 diabetes symptoms.

Efforts should be directed toward increasing awareness of healthcare providers, patients, and families regarding the symptoms of type 1 diabetes. Prevention campaigns have proven useful in reducing the prevalence rate of DKA in newly diagnosed children with type 1 diabetes (58–60). Cherubini et al. study suggested several actions that can optimize awareness campaigns such as targeting families of children under the age of 15 years, smaller geographic areas and family pediatricians in addition to utilizing innovative communication tools (61). Although public health campaigns might be challenging during pandemics given the public is receiving large amount of health information, they could be useful as a public health tool during such pandemic periods when DKA is on the rise.

In the past few years there have been significant improvements in identifying those with high risk for developing type 1 diabetes. Moreover, screening for type 1 diabetes through islet autoantibodies and genetic testing is currently reserved for research (62). However, one main advantage of such screening at the population level would be the reduction of DKA at type 1 diabetes onset (63). This was observed in two studies were significant reductions in DKA frequency was noted (64, 65). However, the cost-effectiveness of screening needs to be assessed. Given the significant increase in DKA and severe DKA cases observed during the COVID-19 pandemic, screening for type 1 diabetes during or right after such pandemics might be considered as a potential tool to aid preventing DKA cases in the future.

This study is not without limitations. All the included studies are observational and had some degree of heterogeneity.

Seven studies demonstrated a good quality in the comparability domain. Differences in inclusion criteria, analyzed periods, and number of subjects included might have played a role in the observed heterogeneity. Few studies presented an adjustment for potential confounders and included them in the sensitivity analysis. Only two studies reported DKA cases for those with a history of type 1 diabetes, which made it impossible to assess if poor glycemic control might have played a role in increased DKA cases. Besides that, the mean duration of type 1 diabetes was only reported in one study. Insufficient data were reported regarding COVID-19 infection status among the included studies which made it impractical to perform a subgroup analysis for those with positive COVID-19 infection at type 1 diabetes diagnosis.

In conclusion, the results of this meta-analysis showed a statistically significant increase in DKA and severe DKA risk among pediatrics during the pandemic in comparison to prior to the pandemic period. Such an increase might be attributed to several factors that might differ in magnitude from one country to another. Healthcare systems must be aware and prepared for such an increase in the risk of DKA or severe DKA during similar pandemic conditions. Timely access to healthcare, an increase in public and healthcare providers' awareness of type 1 diabetes symptoms through public health educational and screening campaigns, and proper diabetes management during pandemics or similar situations remain important and key to avoiding similar spikes in incidences of DKA or severe DKA in the future.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

REFERENCES

- Duca LM, Wang B, Rewers M, Rewers A. Diabetic Ketoacidosis at Diagnosis of Type 1 Diabetes Predicts Poor Long-Term Glycemic Control. *Diabetes Care* (2017) 40(9):1249–55. doi: 10.2337/dc17-0558
- Rewers A, Klingensmith G, Davis C, Petitti DB, Pihoker C, Rodriguez B, et al. Presence of Diabetic Ketoacidosis at Diagnosis of Diabetes Mellitus in Youth: The Search for Diabetes in Youth Study. *Pediatrics* (2008) 121(5):e1258–66. doi: 10.1542/peds.2007-1105
- Dhatariya KK, Glaser NS, Codner E, Umpierrez GE. Diabetic Ketoacidosis. Nat Rev Dis Prim (2020) 6(1):1–20. doi: 10.1038/s41572-020-0165-1
- Umpierrez GE, Kitabchi AE. Diabetic Ketoacidosis: Risk Factors and Management Strategies. *Treat Endocrinol* (2003) 2(2):95–108. doi: 10.2165/ 00024677-200302020-00003
- Saydah SH, Shrestha SS, Zhang P, Zhou X, Imperatore G. Medical Costs Among Youth Younger Than 20 Years of Age With and Without Diabetic Ketoacidosis at the Time of Diabetes Diagnosis. *Diabetes Care* (2019) 42 (12):2256–61. doi: 10.2337/DC19-1041
- Cherubini V, Grimsmann JM, Åkesson K, Birkebæk NH, Cinek O, Dovč K, et al. Temporal Trends in Diabetic Ketoacidosis at Diagnosis of Paediatric Type 1 Diabetes Between 2006 and 2016: Results From 13 Countries in Three Continents. *Diabetologia* (2020) 63(8):1530–41. doi: 10.1007/s00125-020-05152-1
- 7. Carey IM, Critchley JA, Dewilde S, Harris T, Hosking FJ, Cook DG. Risk of Infection in Type 1 and Type 2 Diabetes Compared With the General

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

OMA and ARA contributed to the conception and design of this study. KSA, NHA, and NMB conducted the literature search. KSA and NaA performed the data extraction. ARA did the statistical analysis and wrote the methods section with inputs from MA, OAA, and OMA. All authors contributed to writing the manuscript. All authors revised and approved the final version of the manuscript. OMA is the guarantor of this work.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the Researcher Supporting Project number (RSP-2021/77), King Saud University, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia. The funding agency had no role in designing the study, conducting the analysis, interpreting the data or writing the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to extend their appreciation to King Saud University for funding this work through the Researcher Supporting Project (RSP-2021/77), King Saud University, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fendo.2022. 856958/full#supplementary-material

Population: A Matched Cohort Study. *Diabetes Care* (2018) 41(3):513-21. doi: 10.2337/dc17-2131

- Bauer J, Brüggmann D, Klingelhöfer D, Maier W, Schwettmann L, Weiss DJ, et al. Access to Intensive Care in 14 European Countries: A Spatial Analysis of Intensive Care Need and Capacity in the Light of COVID-19. *Intensive Care Med* (2020) 46(11):2026–34. doi: 10.1007/s00134-020-06229-6
- Elbarbary NS, dos Santos TJ, de Beaufort C, Agwu JC, Calliari LE, Scaramuzza AE. COVID-19 Outbreak and Pediatric Diabetes: Perceptions of Health Care Professionals Worldwide. *Pediatr Diabetes* (2020) 21(7):1083–92. doi: 10.1111/pedi.13084
- Kamrath C, Mönkemöller K, Biester T, Rohrer TR, Warncke K, Hammersen J, et al. Ketoacidosis in Children and Adolescents With Newly Diagnosed Type 1 Diabetes During the COVID-19 Pandemic in Germany. JAMA - J Am Med Assoc (2020) 324(8):801–4. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.13445
- Boboc AA, Novac CN, Ilie MT, Ieşanu MI, Galoş F, Bălgrădean M, et al. The Impact of Sars-Cov-2 Pandemic on the New Cases of T1dm in Children. A Single-Centre Cohort Study. J Pers Med (2021) 11(6):551. doi: 10.3390/ jpm11060551
- Dilek SÖ, Gürbüz F, Turan I, Celiloğlu C, Yüksel B. Changes in the Presentation of Newly Diagnosed Type 1 Diabetes in Children During the COVID-19 Pandemic in a Tertiary Center in Southern Turkey. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab (2021) 34(10):1303–9. doi: 10.1515/jpem-2021-0287
- Ho J, Rosolowsky E, Pacaud D, Huang C, Lemay JA, Brockman N, et al. Diabetic Ketoacidosis at Type 1 Diabetes Diagnosis in Children During the

COVID-19 Pandemic. *Pediatr Diabetes* (2021) 22(4):552-7. doi: 10.1111/ pedi.13205

- Jacob R, Weiser G, Krupik D, Takagi D, Peled S, Pines N, et al. Diabetic Ketoacidosis at Emergency Department Presentation During the First Months of the SARS-CoV-2 Pandemic in Israel: A Multicenter Cross-Sectional Study. *Diabetes Ther* (2021) 12(5):1569–74. doi: 10.1007/s13300-021-01049-3
- Lawrence C, Seckold R, Smart C, King BR, Howley P, Feltrin R, et al. Increased Paediatric Presentations of Severe Diabetic Ketoacidosis in an Australian Tertiary Centre During the COVID-19 Pandemic. *Diabetes Med* (2021) 38(1): e14417. doi: 10.1111/dme.14417
- McGlacken-Byrne SM, Drew SEV, Turner K, Peters C, Amin R. The SARS-CoV-2 Pandemic Is Associated With Increased Severity of Presentation of Childhood Onset Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus: A Multi-Centre Study of the First COVID-19 Wave. *Diabetes Med* (2021) 38(9): e1464. doi: 10.1111/dme.14640
- Dżygało K, Nowaczyk J, Szwilling A, Kowalska A. Increased Frequency of Severe Diabetic Ketoacidosis at Type 1 Diabetes Onset Among Children During COVID-19 Pandemic Lockdown: An Observational Cohort Study. *Pediatr Endocrinol Diabetes Metab* (2020) 26(4):167–75. doi: 10.5114/ pedm.2020.101003
- Rabbone I, Schiaffini R, Cherubini V, Maffeis C, Scaramuzza A. Has Covid-19 Delayed the Diagnosis and Worsened the Presentation of Type 1 Diabetes in Children? *Diabetes Care* (2020) 43(11):2870–2. doi: 10.2337/dc20-1321
- Stroup DF, Berlin JA, Morton SC, Olkin I, Williamson GD, Rennie D, et al. Meta-Analysis of Observational Studies in Epidemiology: A Proposal for Reporting. J Am Med Assoc (2000) 283(15):2008–12. doi: 10.1001/ jama.283.15.2008
- Ouzzani M, Hammady H, Fedorowicz Z, Elmagarmid A. Rayyan-A Web and Mobile App for Systematic Reviews. Syst Rev (2016) 5(1):1–10. doi: 10.1186/ s13643-016-0384-4
- 21. Wells G, Shea B, O'Connell D, et al. *Ottawa Hospital Research Institute* (2021). Available at: http://www.ohri.ca/programs/clinical_epidemiology/oxford.asp (Accessed December 1, 2021).
- Quigley JM, Thompson JC, Halfpenny NJ, Scott DA. Critical Appraisal of Nonrandomized Studies-A Review of Recommended and Commonly Used Tools. J Eval Clin Pract (2019) 25(1):44–52. doi: 10.1111/JEP.12889
- Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG. The PRISMA Group. Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses: The PRISMA Statement. *PLoS Med* (2009) 6(6):e1000097. doi: 10.1371/journal. pmed1000097
- Bogale KT, Urban V, Schaefer E, Bangalore Krishna K. The Impact of COVID-19 Pandemic on Prevalence of Diabetic Ketoacidosis at Diagnosis of Type 1 Diabetes: A Single-Centre Study in Central Pennsylvania. *Endocrinol Diabetes Metab* (2021) 4(3):e00235. doi: 10.1002/edm2.235
- 25. Danne T, Lanzinger S, De Bock M, Rhodes ET, Alonso GT, Barat P, et al. A Worldwide Perspective on COVID-19 and Diabetes Management in 22,820 Children From the SWEET Project: Diabetic Ketoacidosis Rates Increase and Glycemic Control Is Maintained. *Diabetes Technol Ther* (2021) 23(9):632–41. doi: 10.1089/dia.2021.0110
- Hawkes CP, Willi SM. A Trend Towards an Early Increase in Ketoacidosis at Presentation of Paediatric Type 1 Diabetes During the Coronavirus-2019 Pandemic. *Diabetes Med* (2021) 38(4):e14461. doi: 10.1111/dme.14461
- Salmi H, Heinonen S, Hästbacka J, Lääperi M, Rautiainen P, Miettinen PJ, et al. New-Onset Type 1 Diabetes in Finnish Children During the COVID-19 Pandemic. Arch Dis Child (2021) 0:1–6. doi: 10.1136/archdischild-2020-321220
- Zubkiewicz-Kucharska A, Seifert M, Stępkowski M, Noczyńska A. Diagnosis of Type 1 Diabetes During the SARS-CoV-2 Pandemic: Does Lockdown Affect the Incidence and Clinical Status of Patients? *Adv Clin Exp Med* (2021) 30(2):127–34. doi: 10.17219/ACEM/130359
- Al-Abdulrazzaq D, Alkandari A, Alhusaini F, Alenazi N, Gujral UP, Narayan KMV, et al. Higher Rates of Diabetic Ketoacidosis and Admission to the Paediatric Intensive Care Unit Among Newly Diagnosed Children With Type 1 Diabetes in Kuwait During the COVID-19 Pandemic. *Diabetes Metab Res Rev* (2021) 22:e3506. doi: 10.1002/DMRR.3506
- 30. Goldman S, Pinhas-Hamiel O, Weinberg A, Auerbach A, German A, Haim A, et al. Alarming Increase in Ketoacidosis in Children and Adolescents With Newly Diagnosed Type 1 Diabetes During the First Wave of the COVID-19

Pandemic in Israel. Pediatr Diabetes (2021) 23(1):10-18. doi: 10.1111/ PEDI.13296

- Kostopoulou E, Eliopoulou MI, Rojas Gil AP, Chrysis D. Impact of COVID-19 on New-Onset Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus - A One-Year Prospective Study. *Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci* (2021) 25(19):5928–35. doi: 10.26355/ EURREV_202110_26869
- Mameli C, Scaramuzza A, Macedoni M, Marano G, Frontino G, Luconi E, et al. Type 1 Diabetes Onset in Lombardy Region, Italy, During the COVID-19 Pandemic: The Double-Wave Occurrence. *EClinicalMedicine* (2021) 39:101067. doi: 10.1016/J.ECLINM.2021.101067
- 33. Lee MS, Lee R, Ko CW, Moon JE. Increase in Blood Glucose Level and Incidence of Diabetic Ketoacidosis in Children With Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus in the Daegu-Gyeongbuk Area During the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) Pandemic. Yeungnam Univ J Med (2021) 39(1):46–52. doi: 10.12701/YUJM.2021.01221
- 34. Alaqeel A, Aljuraibah F, Alsuhaibani M, Huneif M, Alsaheel A, Dubayee MA, et al. The Impact of COVID-19 Pandemic Lockdown on the Incidence of New-Onset Type 1 Diabetes and Ketoacidosis Among Saudi Children. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) (2021) 12:669302. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.669302
- Lazzerini M, Barbi E, Apicella A, Marchetti F, Cardinale F, Trobia G. Delayed Access or Provision of Care in Italy Resulting From Fear of COVID-19. *Lancet Child Adolesc Heal* (2020) 4(5):e10–1. doi: 10.1016/S2352-4642(20)30108-5
- Cherubini V, Gohil A, Addala A, Zanfardino A, Iafusco D, Hannon T, et al. Unintended Consequences of Coronavirus Disease-2019: Remember General Pediatrics. J Pediatr (2020) 223:197–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2020.05.004
- Baum A, Schwartz MD. Admissions to Veterans Affairs Hospitals for Emergency Conditions During the COVID-19 Pandemic. JAMA - J Am Med Assoc (2020) 324(1):96–9. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.9972
- 38. Lynn RM, Avis JL, Lenton S, Amin-Chowdhury Z, Ladhani SN. Delayed Access to Care and Late Presentations in Children During the COVID-19 Pandemic: A Snapshot Survey of 4075 Paediatricians in the UK and Ireland. *Arch Dis Child* (2021) 106(2):e8. doi: 10.1136/archdischild-2020-319848
- Roland D, Harwood R, Bishop N, Hargreaves D, Patel S, Sinha I. Children's Emergency Presentations During the COVID-19 Pandemic. J Clean Prod (2020) 4(8):e32. doi: 10.1016/S2352-4642(20)30206-6
- Unsworth R, Wallace S, Oliver NS, Yeung S, Kshirsagar A, Naidu H, et al. New-Onset Type 1 Diabetes in Children During COVID-19: Multicenter Regional Findings in the U.K. *Diabetes Care* (2020) 43(11):e170-1. doi: 10.2337/dc20-1551
- Dunton GF, Do B, Wang SD. Early Effects of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Physical Activity and Sedentary Behavior in Children Living in the U.S. BMC Public Health (2020) 20(1):1–13. doi: 10.1186/s12889-020-09429-3
- Fernández E, Cortazar A, Bellido V. Impact of COVID-19 Lockdown on Glycemic Control in Patients With Type 1 Diabetes. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* (2020) 166:108348. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2020.108348
- Christoforidis A, Kavoura E, Nemtsa A, Pappa K, Dimitriadou M. Coronavirus Lockdown Effect on Type 1 Diabetes Management on Children Wearing Insulin Pump Equipped With Continuous Glucose Monitoring System. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* (2020) 166:108307. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2020.108307
- 44. Capaldo B, Annuzzi G, Creanza A, Giglio C, De Angelis R, Lupoli R, et al. Blood Glucose Control During Lockdown for COVID-19: Cgm Metrics in Italian Adults With Type 1 Diabetes. *Diabetes Care* (2020) 43(8):e88–9. doi: 10.2337/dc20-1127
- 45. Minuto N, Bassi M, Montobbio C, Vinci F, Mercuri C, Perri FN, et al. The Effect of Lockdown and Physical Activity on Glycemic Control in Italian Children and Young Patients With Type 1 Diabetes. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)* (2021) 12:690222. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.690222
- Wagenknecht LE, Roseman JM, Herman WH. Increased Incidence of Insulin-Dependent Diabetes Mellitus Following an Epidemic of Coxsackievirus B5. Am J Epidemiol (1991) 133(10):1024–31. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a115811
- 47. Von Herrath M. Can We Learn From Viruses How to Prevent Type 1 Diabetes? The Role of Viral Infections in the Pathogenesis of Type 1 Diabetes and the Development of Novel Combination Therapies. *Diabetes* (2009) 58(1):2–11. doi: 10.2337/db08-9027
- van der Werf N, Kroese FGM, Rozing J, Hillebrands JL. Viral Infections as Potential Triggers of Type 1 Diabetes. *Diabetes Metab Res Rev* (2007) 23 (3):169–83. doi: 10.1002/dmrr.695

- Szypowska A, Ramotowska A, Wysocka-Mincewicz M, Mazur A, Lisowicz L, Beń-Skowronek I, et al. Seasonal Variation in Month of Diagnosis of Polish Children With Type 1 Diabetes - A Multicenter Study. *Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes* (2019) 127(5):331–5. doi: 10.1055/s-0043-125321
- Kostopoulou E, Papachatzi E, Skiadopoulos S, Rojas Gil AP, Dimitriou G, Spiliotis BE, et al. Seasonal Variation and Epidemiological Parameters in Children From Greece With Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus (T1DM). *Pediatr Res* (2021) 89(3):574–8. doi: 10.1038/s41390-020-0899-1
- Nishioka Y, Noda T, Okada S, Myojin T, Kubo S, Higashino T, et al. Incidence and Seasonality of Type 1 Diabetes: A Population-Based 3-Year Cohort Study Using the National Database in Japan. *BMJ Open Diabetes Res Care* (2020) 8 (1):e001262. doi: 10.1136/bmjdrc-2020-001262
- Rubino F, Amiel SA, Zimmet P, Alberti G, Bornstein S, Eckel RH, et al. New-Onset Diabetes in Covid-19. N Engl J Med (2020) 383(8):789–90. doi: 10.1056/ nejmc2018688
- Müller JA, Groß R, Conzelmann C, Krüger J, Merle U, Steinhart J, et al. SARS-CoV-2 Infects and Replicates in Cells of the Human Endocrine and Exocrine Pancreas. *Nat Metab* (2021) 3(2):149–65. doi: 10.1038/s42255-021-00347-1
- 54. Kamrath C, Rosenbauer J, Tittel SR, Warncke K, Hirtz R, Denzer C, et al. Frequency of Autoantibody-Negative Type 1 Diabetes in Children, Adolescents, and Young Adults During the First Wave of the COVID-19 Pandemic in Germany. *Diabetes Care* (2021) 44(7):1540–6. doi: 10.2337/dc20-2791
- Wolfsdorf JI, Glaser N, Agus M, Fritsch M, Hanas R, Rewers A, et al. ISPAD Clinical Practice Consensus Guidelines 2018: Diabetic Ketoacidosis and the Hyperglycemic Hyperosmolar State. *Pediatr Diabetes* (2018) 19:155–77. doi: 10.1111/pedi.12701
- Bui H, To T, Stein R, Fung K, Daneman D. Is Diabetic Ketoacidosis at Disease Onset a Result of Missed Diagnosis? J Pediatr (2010) 156(3):472–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2009.10.001
- Townson J, Cannings-John R, Francis N, Thayer D, Gregory JW. Presentation to Primary Care During the Prodrome of Type 1 Diabetes in Childhood: A Case-Control Study Using Record Data Linkage. *Pediatr Diabetes* (2019) 20 (3):330–8. doi: 10.1111/PEDI.12829
- Holder M, Ehehalt S. Significant Reduction of Ketoacidosis at Diabetes Onset in Children and Adolescents With Type 1 Diabetes-The Stuttgart Diabetes Awareness Campaign, Germany. *Pediatr Diabetes* (2020) 21(7):1227–31. doi: 10.1111/PEDI.13064
- 59. Vanelli M, Costi G, Chiari G, Giacalone T, Ghizzoni L, Chiarelli F. Effectiveness of a Prevention Program for Diabetic Ketoacidosis in Children. An 8-Year Study in Schools and Private Practices. *Diabetes Care* (1999) 22(1):7–9. doi: 10.2337/DIACARE.22.1.7
- 60. King BR, Howard NJ, Verge CF, Jack MM, Govind N, Jameson K, et al. A Diabetes Awareness Campaign Prevents Diabetic Ketoacidosis in Children at

Their Initial Presentation With Type 1 Diabetes. *Pediatr Diabetes* (2012) 13 (8):647-51. doi: 10.1111/J.1399-5448.2012.00896.X

- 61. Cherubini V, Marino M, Carle F, Zagaroli L, Bowers R, Gesuita R. Effectiveness of Ketoacidosis Prevention Campaigns at Diagnosis of Type 1 Diabetes in Children: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* (2021) 175:108838. doi: 10.1016/J.DIABRES.2021.108838
- Committee ADAPP. 2. Classification and Diagnosis of Diabetes: Standards of Medical Care in Diabetes—2022. *Diabetes Care* (2022) 45(Supplement_1): S17–38. doi: 10.2337/DC22-S002
- Besser REJ, Ng SM, Gregory JW, Dayan CM, Randell T, Barrett T. General Population Screening for Childhood Type 1 Diabetes: Is it Time for a UK Strategy? Arch Dis Child (2021) 5:archdischild-2021-321864. doi: 10.1136/ ARCHDISCHILD-2021-321864
- Larsson HE, Vehik K, Bell R, Dabelea D, Dolan L, Pihoker C, et al. Reduced Prevalence of Diabetic Ketoacidosis at Diagnosis of Type 1 Diabetes in Young Children Participating in Longitudinal Follow-Up. *Diabetes Care* (2011) 34 (11):2347–52. doi: 10.2337/DC11-1026
- 65. Ziegler AG, Kick K, Bonifacio E, Haupt F, Hippich M, Dunstheimer D, et al. Yield of a Public Health Screening of Children for Islet Autoantibodies in Bavaria, Germany. *JAMA* (2020) 323(4):339. doi: 10.1001/JAMA. 2019.21565

Author Disclaimer: The contents of this manuscript are solely the authors' views and may not be understood or quoted as being made on behalf of or reflecting the position of the Saudi Food and Drug Authority.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Alfayez, Aldmasi, Alruwais, Bin Awad, Al Yami, Almohammed and Almutairi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Presentations, Complications, and Challenges Encountered During Management of Type 1 Diabetes in Egyptian Children During COVID-19 Pandemic: A Single-Center Experience

Marise Abdou^{1*†}, Mona M. Hassan^{1†}, Samah A. Hassanein^{1†}, Eman H. Elsebaie^{2†} and Radwa A. Shamma^{1†}

¹ The Diabetes, Endocrine and Metabolism Pediatric Unit, Pediatric Department, Cairo University, Cairo, Egypt,

² Public Health and Community Medicine Department, Cairo University, Cairo, Egypt

Background: The coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic has been associated with significant challenges pertaining to the management of children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes (T1D). Issues such as fear of infection and lockdown measures have resulted in delayed and more severe clinical presentations of this disease.

Objectives: This study aimed at reporting the frequency and severity of diabetic ketoacidosis (DKA) and the rate of DKA complications in children with diabetes who presented to the emergency unit during COVID-19 pandemic. Furthermore, the purpose of this study was to compare the data collected from the first and second COVID-19 waves with that of the pre-COVID-19 period and describe the challenges encountered during disease management.

Methods: This cross-sectional study included all children and adolescents with T1D who presented to the emergency department at Abo El Rish Children's Hospital, Cairo University, during the first and second COVID-19 waves. It also included data collected from the pre-COVID-19 period. Demographic and clinical data, investigations, and management details were collected from the patients' medical records.

Results: Three hundred twenty-four Egyptian children and adolescents diagnosed with T1D were recruited. One hundred forty patients (43.2%) presented with severe DKA, and approximately 66% were newly diagnosed with T1D. The participants presented with manifestations suggestive of COVID-19, such as fever (29.5%), respiratory manifestations (7.2%), and gastrointestinal symptoms (14.7%). Thirty-seven patients were tested for severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 infection using nasopharyngeal swabs, and four patients tested positive. Around 18% of patients developed hypokalemia during disease management. A comparison between these data and the data from previous years revealed that there was a significant increase in the number of newly diagnosed

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Ahmed Khattab, Rutgers, The State University of New Jersey, United States

Reviewed by:

Sara Elisabeth Lubitz, Rutgers, The State University of New Jersey, United States lan Marshall, Rutgers Biomedical and Health Sciences, United States

*Correspondence:

Marise Abdou marisemd80@gmail.com

[†]ORCID:

Marise Abdou orcid.org/0000-0001-9961-5299 Mona M. Hassan orcid.org/0000-0002-2198-8228 Samah A. Hassanein orcid.org/0000-0002-9745-6770 Eman H. Elsebaie orcid.org/0000-0001-8961-4700 Radwa A. Shamma orcid.org/0000-0001-5010-0518

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 14 November 2021 Accepted: 27 January 2022 Published: 11 March 2022

Citation:

Abdou M, Hassan MM, Hassanein SA, Elsebaie EH and Shamma RA (2022) Presentations, Complications, and Challenges Encountered During Management of Type 1 Diabetes in Egyptian Children During COVID-19 Pandemic: A Single-Center Experience. Front. Endocrinol. 13:814991. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.814991 cases with more severe DKA at presentation and a higher frequency of development of hypokalemia during both COVID-19 waves.

Conclusion: An increase in the frequency of newly diagnosed cases was identified during the first and the second COVID-19 waves compared with the pre-COVID-19 period. The patients presented with more severe DKA, probably due to a more delayed presentation. The frequency of hypokalemia development was also significantly higher, and the severity of DKA was associated with a longer ICU admission. Further studies are required to establish a definitive link between the COVID-19 pandemic and the severity of presentation.

Keywords: presentations, complications, challenges, type 1 diabetes, COVID-19, children and adolescents

INTRODUCTION

Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) is an infectious respiratory syndrome caused by severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) (1). Among the various modes of COVID-19 virus transmission, droplet infection is the most common, which is increased by close contact with positive cases (2, 3). Furthermore, it has been suggested that this virus can be transmitted through the fecal-oral route, as it was found to be shed in stools and urine. It is also found in the tears of infected individuals (2, 3). The clinical presentations of a COVID-19 infection can vary from asymptomatic to severely infected cases. It can sometimes lead to death (2). The symptoms in infected children are more likely to be mild. According to the findings of a Chinese study on children who tested positive, typical symptoms were found in 45% of cases, mild respiratory symptoms were found in 42%, 13% were asymptomatic, and no children had life-threatening symptoms (4). Children with immunocompromising conditions, such as diabetes, may be at a higher risk of a more severe disease (5).

The COVID-19 pandemic poses significant challenges to the management of children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes (T1D), especially in newly diagnosed cases. These challenges have affected both the institutional and self-management levels, particularly in limited-resource settings (6). More specifically, this pandemic has changed the way that patients access healthcare settings—from scheduled clinic and hospital visits to telemedicine (7).

Parents were reluctant in seeking prompt medical advice and therefore delayed the presentation of children with diabetes. Multiple factors contributed to this, including the fear of spread of infection especially among these vulnerable patients, the overwhelmed medical system by the care of SARS-CoV-2infected patients in addition to the limited resources, and the lockdown measures. This might have affected the outcome especially in cases presenting with diabetic ketoacidosis (DKA) (8). Additionally, the need of managing children and adolescents with T1D in the emergency unit had affected the duration until the resolution of DKA and imposed an additional risk of infection. They were required to stay in the emergency unit along with other patients until all necessary investigations to exclude a COVID-19 infection were completed, in accordance with our center's policy. Provided that they test negative, these patients were transferred to the inpatient ward at the Diabetes, Endocrine, and Metabolism Pediatric Unit (DEMPU).

Even after DKA resolution, the length of hospital stay had to be minimized to reduce the risk of infection during admission. After discharge, children with diabetes were followed up *via* phone as an alternative way to regularly scheduled clinic visits in an attempt to minimize the risk of exposure to infection. This inadequate approach induced an additional load over both physicians and parents in limited-resource settings that lack the availability of continuous glucose monitoring (CGM). This was particularly noted in children who were recently diagnosed with diabetes and were still devastated by the diagnosis (9).

Data on the development, clinical presentation, and management of T1DM (both new onset and known) during the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic in Egyptian children are limited, with no available comparisons with patients during the pre-COVID-19 period. Therefore, the aims of this study were to identify the challenges during management and follow-up of children and adolescents with T1D and to report the severity and frequency of DKA together with the rate of DKA complications. Finally, we aimed at comparing the collected data with data from the pre-COVID-19 period.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

This cross-sectional study included Egyptian children and adolescents with T1D who presented to the emergency department at the Abo El Rish Children's Hospital, Cairo University, between June and July 2020 (first COVID-19 wave) and between December 2020 and February 2021 (second COVID-19 wave). All patients who presented with DKA or hyperglycemia either as a first presentation or with known diabetes were included. Their ages varied from 6 months up to 18 years. DKA was confirmed by the classic triad of hyperglycemia (blood glucose >200 using a glucometer), metabolic acidosis (pH <7.3, HCO₃ <15), and ketonuria using urinary dipsticks (10).

The patients were recruited at presentation to the ER during the first and the second COVID-19 waves after obtaining verbal consent from the patients and/or their parents and legal guardians. Data from the pre-COVID-19 period was collected retrospectively by reviewing the patients' medical records. The DEMPU records were reviewed, and the following data were collected:

- Age, gender, onset of diabetes (newly diagnosed or known T1D), initial presentation (DKA or hyperglycemia), and the presence of signs of a neurological affliction.
- Duration of ICU admission (if applicable) and the full length of hospital stay.
- Symptoms suggestive of a COVID-19 infection.
- Management details especially pertaining to the antishock therapy received and the development of hypokalemia that necessitated correction.
- Investigations performed at presentation, including random blood glucose, ketone bodies in urine (using urinary dipsticks), and venous blood gases, upon which patients were classified into mild, moderate, and severe DKA (mild DKA: pH, <7.3; HCO₃, <15; moderate DKA: pH, < 7.2, HCO₃, <10; severe DKA: pH, < 7.1; HCO₃, <5) (10). Furthermore, electrolytes (Na and K), renal functions (urea and creatinine), and complete blood count (CBC) with differential (especially total lymphocyte counts) and C-reactive protein (CRP) were also included. Serum K levels <3.5 mEq/L were also used to diagnose hypokalemia. Hypokalemia was graded into mild (serum K, 3–3.4 mEq/L), moderate (serum K, 2.5–2.9 mEq/L), and severe (serum K, <2.5 mEq/L) (11).
- Radiological data, including computed tomography (CT) of the chest and brain in selected cases presenting with neurological symptoms and signs, were included.

The initial screening for a COVID-19 infection, according to hospital policy, included CBC and CT chest examinations. If CT was suspicious of COVID-19 and/or CBC revealed lymphopenia and/or leukopenia, the patients were kept in an isolation unit until a test swab was done to exclude or confirm a COVID-19 diagnosis. The normal lymphocyte count in adults is 1,000–4,800/µl (1–4.8 × 10⁹/L; in children <2 years, the normal count is 3,000–9,500/µl (3–9.5 × 10⁹/L). At the age of 6 years, the lower limit of normal count is 1,500/µl (1.5 × 10⁹/L). Different laboratories may have slightly different normal values (12).

RESULTS

A total of 324 Egyptian children and adolescents with T1D were included in this study. One hundred fifteen patients were recruited during the first COVID-19 wave and 209 patients during the second COVID-19 wave. Male individuals constituted 51.2% of all patients, and the female individuals were at 48.8%. The participants' age ranged from 6 months to 18 years. Regarding the initial presentation during the first and the second COVID-19 waves, 70 patients (21.6%) presented with hyperglycemia, and 254 patients (78.4%) presented with DKA. One hundred forty patients (43.2%) had severe DKA, and 45% of them were admitted during the first COVID-19 wave and 55% during the second COVID-19 wave. During both COVID-19 waves, 213 participants (65.7%) were newly diagnosed with T1D, and 111 (34.3%) were known to have diabetes. In total, 23% of the newly diagnosed patients presented with hyperglycemia, 9% with mild DKA, 17.3% with moderate DKA, and 50.7% with severe DKA. Whereas, 19% of patients known to have diabetes presented with hyperglycemia, 18% with mild DKA, which is approximately double the cases of newly diagnosed diabetes, 34.2% with moderate DKA, which is higher than the newly diagnosed group, and 28.8% with severe DKA. A comparison of the demographic and clinical data of the studied groups is presented in **Table 1**.

The mean age and SD of patients during the first and the second COVID-19 waves were 7.96 \pm 3.55 and 8.1 \pm 3.57 years, respectively (p = 0.722), revealing no statistically significant difference between both groups regarding age. The frequency of severe DKA was noted to be significantly higher during the first COVID-19 wave (54.8% of the cases) compared to the second wave (36.8% of the cases). Additionally, it was noted that the median bicarbonate level of patients admitted during the first wave was 4 mEq/L (range, 0.8-47 mEq/L), which was statistically significantly lower than the median bicarbonate level of patients admitted during the second wave (7.65 mEq/L, ranging from 0.8 to 27.9 mEq/L) (p = 0.003). There were statistically significant differences between the first and the second COVID-19 waves regarding the presence of features suggestive of a COVID-19 infection, such as fever, severity of initial presentation, presence of suspicious CT chest findings, and positive CRP (p <0.001, *p* < 0.001, *p* = 0.011, *p* < 0.001, and *p* < 0.037 respectively). Table 1 shows that these features were more prevalent during the first COVID-19 wave.

In the present study, 14 patients (7.4%) admitted during the second COVID-19 wave had hypokalemia at presentation-eight of them presented with mild hypokalemia, four had moderate hypokalemia, and two had severe hypokalemia-whereas the number of patients who developed hypokalemia as a complication during management in both COVID waves was 59, making up 18.3% of the study group (5 patients during the first COVID-19 wave and 54 patients during the second COVID-19 wave). Out of the 54 who developed hypokalemia as a complication during the second COVID-19 wave, 26 (12.5%) received oral correction and 28 patients (13.5%) received intravenous correction. A statistically significant association was observed between the rates of hypokalemia that developed during management and the amount of shock therapy received (p < p0.001), as shown in Figure 1. In contrast, there was no statistically significant association between hypokalemia development and intravenous bicarbonate treatment in some cases of severe DKA (p = 0.092) (Figure 2) or with the development of gastrointestinal symptoms (p = 0.969) in admitted patients with diabetes (Figure 3).

First COVID-19 Wave

The mean age of patients who presented with severe DKA was 7.6 \pm 3.63 years (mean pH of 6.93 \pm 0.105 and mean HCO₃ of 2.707 \pm 1.018 mEq/L). In total, 58.7% of patients who presented with severe DKA were female individuals, and 41.3% were male individuals (p < 0.021, statistically significant). Approximately 77.8% of patients with severe DKA were newly diagnosed with

TABLE 1 | Comparison between the first and the second COVID-19 waves regarding the patients' demographic, clinical, laboratory, and radiological data.

Variables studied	Firs	t wave	Seco	nd wave	P-value
	Tota	al (115)	Tot		
	N	%	N	%	
Gender					0.629
Male	61	53.0%	105	50.2%	
Female	54	47.0%	104	49.8%	
Diabetes status					0.118
First presentation	82	71.3%	131	62.7%	
Known to have T1D	33	28.7%	78	37.3%	
Positive clinical manifestations suggestive of COVID-19 infection	57	49.6%	33	15.9%	<0.001 ^a
Fever	53	93.0%	25	12.1%	<0.001 ^a
Respiratory symptoms suggestive of infection	6	10.5%	13	6.3%	0.272
Gastrointestinal symptoms suggestive of infection	8	13.8%	31	15.0%	0.822
Neurological manifestations (low GCS and/or seizures)	5	8.8%	28	13.5%	0.336
Metabolic status at presentation	0	0.070	20	10.070	0.011 ^a
Hyperglycemia	22	19.1%	48	23.0%	0.011
Mild DKA	8	7.0%	31	14.8%	
Mild DIX Moderate DKA	22	19.1%	53	25.4%	
Severe DKA	63	54.8%	77	36.8%	
Total leukocytic count at presentation	05	04.070	11	30.076	1.000
Leukocytosis	53	46.5%	80	41.2%	1.000
Leukopenia	0	0.0%	7	3.6%	
Normal	61	53.5%	107	55.2%	
	01	00.070	107	00.2%	0.315
Lymphocytic count at presentation	7	6.1%	7	3.6%	0.315
Lymphocytosis	7 19	6.1% 16.7%	24		
Lymphopenia				12.4%	
Normal	88	77.2%	162	83.9%	0.0018
CRP at presentation		04.00/	. –	0.00/	<0.001 ^a
Positive	28	24.3%	17	8.2%	
Negative	61	53.0%	42	20.3%	
Not done	26	22.6%	148	71.5%	
CT chest suspicious of COVID-19 infection	14	12.5%	12	5.8%	0.037 ^a
Nasopharyngeal swab for COVID-19					0.108
Positive	3	2.6%	1	0.5%	
Negative	15	13.0%	18	8.7%	
Not done	97	84.4%	189	90.9%	
Complications during DKA management					<0.001 ^a
Hypokalemia	5	4.3%	54	26.0%	
No hypokalemia	110	95.7%	154	74%	
Hypernatremia	1	0.9%	4	1.9%	
Other	10	8.7%	6	2.9%	

^aP-value less than 0.05 is considered statistically significant.

N, number; CT, computed tomography; CRP, C-reactive protein; GCS, Glasgow Coma Scale; T1D, Type 1 diabetes.

T1D, whereas 22.2% were patients with known diabetes (p = 0.014, statistically significant), as shown in **Table 2**.

Only few patients (5%) who presented with severe DKA suffered from neurological symptoms (low Glasgow Coma Scale score and/or seizures) (p = 0.041, statistically significant). However, a high proportion of these patients showed leukocytosis with a longer duration of stay in the ICU (p < 0.001 for both). There were no other statistically significant associations with other variables, as shown in **Table 2**.

Second COVID-19 Wave

The mean age of patients admitted with severe DKA during this wave was 7.8 \pm 3.48 years. There was no predilection to a certain gender among this group. The mean blood glucose of patients with severe DKA was 585 \pm 175.27 mg/dl, with a mean pH value of 6.91 \pm 0.103, mean HCO₃ value of 3.1 \pm 1.23 mEq/L, and mean

serum creatinine value of 0.976 ± 0.363 mg/dl. There were statistically significant differences in these parameters when compared with the values obtained from patients admitted with lesser grades of DKA or with hyperglycemia (p < 0.001). The mean total leukocytic count was statistically higher among subjects with severe DKA (25.39×10^3 , p < 0.001). The mean time spent in the ICU (33 h) was also significantly longer (p < 0.001). Additionally, the mean number of times that patients with severe DKA received shock therapy was 3.92 times (each was 10 cc/kg), which was significantly more than those with milder presentations (mild DKA, moderate DKA, or hyperglycemia) (p < 0.001). Fifty-nine patients (76.6%) with severe DKA were newly diagnosed with T1D, whereas 18 patients (23.4%) were known to have T1D (p = 0.001).

Furthermore, we observed that the increased severity of DKA was associated with a significantly higher total leukocytic count and higher frequency of developing complications, especially





hypokalemia, during management (p < 0.001 for both). Despite the high number of cases presenting with severe DKA, only few suffered from neurological manifestations (in the form of low Glasgow Coma Scale score and seizures) (p < 0.001). During DKA management, only 19 out of 77 (24.7%) patients received IV bicarbonate therapy (p < 0.001). Finally, we did not identify any statistically significant association with other variables, as shown in **Table 3**.



A confirmation of diagnosis of SARS-CoV-2 infection in suspected cases was done by performing COVID-19 PCR using nasopharyngeal swabs. This procedure was performed in 37 children who fulfilled the local testing criteria (clinical, laboratory, and imaging). Only four of them tested positive (three in the first COVID-19 wave and one in the second COVID-19 wave). The patients had to stay for 48 h in the emergency department waiting for the result of the nasopharyngeal swab. This was associated with a significantly longer ICU stay (mean duration of ICU stay was 45.5 h for whom a swab was done *versus* 24.5 h for whom a swab was not done, p = 0.002), However, this long stay in the ER was not associated with more complications (p = 0.581).

Comparison Between the First and the Second COVID-19 Waves and the Pre-COVID-19 Period

This study also compared the data of patients with T1D admitted during the COVID-19 pandemic and of patients admitted during the pre-COVID-19 period. During the pre-COVID-19 period, 60 patients were admitted to the Abo El Rish Hospital between January and February 2018. Twenty-three of them (38.3%) were newly diagnosed diabetes cases, whereas 61.7% were known to have diabetes. Those numbers were significantly different from the number of patients admitted during the COVID-19 pandemic (where 65.7% of patients were newly diagnosed and 34.3% were known diabetic patients, p < 0.001) (**Table 4**).

During both the first and the second COVID-19 waves, we found that the mean HCO₃ level was 8.9 mEq/L, which was significantly lower than the mean HCO₃ level during the pre-COVID-19 period (11.8 mEq/L) (p = 0.012), as shown in **Table 4**. This indicates that the severity of DKA was significantly higher during the COVID-19 pandemic compared to the pre-COVID-19 period. We also noticed that hypokalemia, as a complication of DKA management, was more frequently observed during the COVID-19 pandemic compared to the pre-COVID-19 period. More specifically, 18.3% of patients admitted during the COVID-19 pandemic developed hypokalemia as a complication in comparison to 6.7% of patients in the pre-COVID-19, which was statistically significant (p = 0.001).

DISCUSSION

The current cross-sectional study was carried out to describe the characteristics of children and adolescents with T1D who presented to our center during the first and the second COVID-19 waves. Furthermore, the purpose of this study was to identify the challenges encountered during patient management and follow-up, with a focus on data pertaining to the clinical presentation and management of T1D (both new onset and known patients) during the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic, especially considering that data on children are still limited in Egypt.

TABLE 2 | Association of the grades of severity of DKA and the enlisted variables in the first COVID-19 wave.

	Initial presentation								P-value
	Нуре	rglycemia	Mi	ld DKA	Mode	erate DKA	Sev	ere DKA	
	N	%	N	%	N	%	N	%	
Gender									0.021 ^a
• Male	17	77.3%	4	50.0%	14	63.6%	26	41.3%	
• Female	5	22.7%	4	50.0%	8	36.4%	37	58.7%	
Diabetes status									0.014 ^a
First presentation	17	77.3%	2	25.0%	14	63.6%	49	77.8%	
Known to have T1D	5	22.7%	6	75.0%	8	36.4%	14	22.2%	
Fever	4	80.0%	4	80.0%	7	100.0%	38	95.0%	0.339
Gastrointestinal symptoms suggestive of infection	1	20.0%	1	20.0%	1	12.5%	5	12.5%	0.942
Respiratory symptoms suggestive of infection	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	6	15.0%	0.415
Neurological manifestations (low GCS and/or seizures)	2	40.0%	1	20.0%	0	0.0%	2	5.0%	0.041 ^a
CT chest suspicious of COVID-19 infection	5	23.8%	1	12.5%	0	0.0%	8	12.9%	0.141
Total leukocytic count at presentation									<0.001
Leukocytosis	2	9.5%	3	37.5%	5	22.7%	43	68.3%	
Leukopenia	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	
• Normal	19	90.5%	5	62.5%	17	77.3%	20	31.7%	
Lymphocytic count at presentation									0.232
Lymphocytosis	2	9.5%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	5	7.9%	
Lymphopenia	2	9.5%	2	25.0%	1	4.5%	14	22.2%	
Normal	17	81.0%	6	75.0%	21	95.5%	44	69.8%	
CRP at presentation									0.157
Positive	5	22.7%	4	50.0%	3	13.6%	16	25.4%	
Negative	9	40.9%	4	50.0%	12	54.5%	36	57.1%	
Not done	8	36.4%	0	0.0%	7	31.8%	11	17.5%	
Nasopharyngeal swab for COVID-19									0.452
Positive	1	4.5%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	2	3.2%	01102
Negative	4	18.2%	1	12.5%	0	0.0%	10	15.9%	
Not done	17	77.3%	7	87.5%	22	100.0%	51	81.0%	
Complication during DKA management									0.093
 Hypokalemia 	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	4	18.2%	1	1.6%	
Hypernatremia	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	1	1.6%	
Other complications	3	13.6%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	7	11.1%	

^aP-value less than 0.05 is considered statistically significant.

N, number; TLC, total leukocytic count; CRP, C-reactive protein; CT, computed tomography; DKA, diabetic ketoacidosis; GCS, Glasgow Coma Scale; T1D, Type 1 diabetes.

During the first and the second waves of the COVID-19 pandemic, 254 (78.3%) patients presented with DKA to the emergency department at the Abo El Rish Children Hospital, 140 of whom (43.2%) had severe DKA (mean pH: 6.93 ± 0.1 SD and mean HCO₃: 2.7 \pm 1 SD). Sixty-three (45%) patients with severe DKA presented during the first COVID-19 wave and 77 (55%) patients during the second COVID-19 wave. The newly diagnosed cases presenting with severe DKA during both waves were 108 (49 patients (77.8%) during the first wave and 59 patients (76.6%) during the second wave). This finding is consistent with the observations of a UK-based research study conducted during the first wave of the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic. Children and adolescents with diabetes, aged <17 years, were included in this study. They noticed that 70% of the patients with newly diagnosed T1D and who presented with DKA had severe DKA (13). The high proportion of children presenting with severe DKA could be explained by many factors, including lockdown measures, limited resources, and the overwhelmed medical system by the care of SARS-CoV-2-infected patients, which forced many parents to be worried and reluctant to seek

prompt medical advice, therefore delaying the clinical presentation. Our observations agreed with those of the research conducted to study the specific considerations in the management of patients with diabetes during the coronavirus disease pandemic (8). Additionally, the period selected for conducting the current study and patient recruitment was between December 2020 and February 2021 (second COVID-19 wave), which coincided with the seasonal increase in the frequency of T1D and in cases presenting with DKA at first presentation. Regarding the severity of DKA in patients with known diabetes, 14 (22.2%) presented with severe DKA during the first COVID-19 wave and 18 (23.4%) during the second COVID-19 wave. This might reflect the fact that this pandemic had changed the way patients access healthcare. Telemedicine had greatly replaced scheduled clinic and hospital visits, especially during the first wave where we had expected higher rates of DKA. The transition period was associated with an increased burden for both patients and physicians, especially in Egypt where we experience limited resources and lack of CGM availability. This finding was consistent with the study conducted

TABLE 3 | Association of the grades of severity of DKA and the enlisted variables in the second COVID-19 wave.

				Initial pre	esentation	l			P-value
	Нуре	rglycemia	Mi	ld DKA	Mode	erate DKA	Sev	ere DKA	
	N	%	N	%	N	%	N	%	
Gender									0.266
Male	22	45.8%	17	54.8%	32	60.4%	34	44.2%	
Female	26	54.2%	14	45.2%	21	39.6%	43	55.8%	
Diabetes status									0.001 ^a
First presentation	32	66.7%	17	54.8%	23	43.4%	59	76.6%	
Known to have T1D	16	33.3%	14	45.2%	30	56.6%	18	23.4%	
Fever	3	6.5%	4	12.9%	4	7.5%	14	18.2%	0.166
Gastrointestinal symptoms suggestive of infection	3	6.5%	5	16.1%	7	13.2%	16	20.8%	0.189
Respiratory symptoms suggestive of infection	3	6.5%	2	6.5%	0	0.0%	8	10.4%	0.124
Neurological manifestations (low GCS and/or seizures)	1	2.2%	2	6.5%	2	3.8%	23	29.9%	< 0.001ª
CT chest suspicious of COVID-19 infection	3	6.5%	3	9.7%	1	1.9%	5	6.5%	0.484
Total leukocytic count at presentation									<0.001 ^a
Leukocytosis	1	2.3%	8	26.7%	17	33.3%	54	77.1%	
Leukopenia	4	9.3%	1	3.3%	2	3.9%	0	0.0%	
Normal	38	88.4%	21	70.0%	32	62.7%	16	22.9%	
Lymphocytic count at presentation									0.680
Lymphocytosis	1	2.3%	0	0.0%	2	4.0%	4	5.7%	
Lymphopenia	5	11.6%	2	6.7%	8	16.0%	9	12.9%	
• Normal	37	86.0%	28	93.3%	40	80.0%	57	81.4%	
CRP at presentation									0.026 ^a
Positive	2	4.3%	2	6.5%	0	0.0%	13	17.1%	
Negative	10	21.3%	7	22.6%	10	18.9%	15	19.7%	
Not done	35	74.5%	22	71.0%	43	81.1%	48	63.2%	
Nasopharyngeal swab for COVID-19									0.933
Positive	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	1	1.3%	
Negative	4	8.5%	3	9.7%	5	9.4%	6	7.8%	
Not done	43	91.5%	28	90.3%	48	90.6%	70	90.9%	
Received bicarbonate	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	19	24.7%	<0.001ª
Inotropic support	1	2.1%	0	0.0%	Õ	0.0%	5	6.5%	0.104
Cause of DKA									0.445
Not known	5	50.0%	0	0.0%	7	31.8%	3	25.0%	
Missed doses	4	40.0%	6	85.7%	14	63.6%	8	66.7%	
Infection	1	10.0%	1	14.3%	1	4.5%	1	8.3%	
Hypokalemia	5	10.6%	6	19.4%	8	15.1%	35	45.5%	<0.001 ^a
Hypernatremia	0	0.0%	1	3.2%	0	0.0%	5	6.5%	0.087
Admission in isolation	4	8.3%	3	9.7%	7	13.2%	7	9.1%	0.844

^aP-value less than 0.05 is considered statistically significant.

N, number; TLC, total leukocytic count; CRP, C-reactive protein; CT, computed tomography; DKA, diabetic ketoacidosis; GCS, Glasgow Coma Scale; T1D, Type 1 diabetes.

by Ludvigsson et al. who explored the effect of the COVID-19 pandemic on the treatment of T1D in children. He found that this period represented an increased burden on both patients and physicians (9). The pandemic has had a great emotional impact and psychological stress that might have influenced the rates of new-onset disease by changing the risk of developing autoimmunity (14). Multiple factors have also affected patients living with diabetes during both waves of the pandemic, including psychological health issues, decreased physical activity, dietary changes that led to poor nutrition and weight gain, and, finally, sleep disruptions. All of those might have altered diabetes management behaviors (15-17). Moreover, individuals who were worried about COVID-19 and diabetes could have been more vulnerable for diabetes distress, acute and chronic hyperglycemia, and onset or exacerbation of depression and anxiety (2).

During both COVID-19 waves, some of the recruited patients presented with COVID-like manifestations, including fever (29.5%), respiratory manifestations in the form of rhinorrhea, pharyngitis, cough, and respiratory distress (7.2%), and gastrointestinal manifestations in the form of vomiting, abdominal pain, and diarrhea (14.7%). In accordance with our center's policy, these patients had to remain in the emergency department in full isolation until all necessary investigations were completed to exclude a COVID-19 infection. This was considered a challenge for us, as the patients spent a significant amount of time in the emergency department, a process that might have contributed to the delayed DKA resolution. Additionally, patients were then encountering other patients presenting with various conditions, which could have increased the risk of spreading infection and subsequent development of complications during patient management, such as electrolyte disturbance and neurological complications.

Laboratory data at presentation	COVID waves N (319)	Pre-COVID N (60)	P-value
	Mean ± SD	Mean ± SD	
Initial pH	7.1127 ± 0.20522	7.0122 ± 0.68802	0.266
Initial bicarb (mEq/L)	8.9006 ± 7.39415	11.8067 ± 8.13244	0.012 ^a
Na (mEq/L)	134.5397 ± 6.59422	135.7117 ± 6.92245	0.237
K (mEq/L)	4.3555 ± 0.70945	4.5770 ± 0.92326	0.092
Serum creatinine (mg/dl)	0.8809 ± 0.31444	0.8983 ± 1.24839	0.915
Blood glucose (mg/dl)	506.1053 ± 166.17674	498.6167 ± 132.84400	0.749
Presence of ketones in urine	2.409 ± 0.9228	2.867 ± 0.3428	<0.001 ^a

^aP-value less than 0.05 is considered statistically significant.

A confirmation of diagnosis in patients with suspected SARS-CoV-2 infection was done by performing COVID-19 PCR using nasopharyngeal swabs. This procedure was performed in 37 children who fulfilled the local testing criteria (clinical, laboratory, and imaging). Only four of them tested positive (three in the first COVID-19 wave and one in the second COVID-19 wave). This finding was similar to the results of a study performed in the UK where the authors performed nasopharyngeal swabs in 21 children who fulfilled the local testing criteria, of whom only two tested positive (13). Children who tested positive completed their treatment in the isolation unit until DKA was resolved, received COVID-19 treatment according to the Egyptian Ministry of Health protocol, and were then discharged following improvement, while patients who tested negative for COVID-19 were transferred to the DEMPU inpatient unit to complete their therapeutic management planning while attending diabetes education sessions. Physicians and dieticians played a particularly important role in diabetes education by attempting to simplify and explain each item and process, especially to newly diagnosed cases with T1D. Phone calls were used as an alternative way to regularly schedule clinic visits to minimize the risk of exposure to infection.

In the current study, 59 patients (18.3%) developed hypokalemia as a complication during DKA management. Fifty-four (26%) of them were admitted during the second COVID-19 wave (12.5% received oral correction and 13.5% received intravenous correction). Hypokalemia was not associated with any cardiac complications, and its association with gastrointestinal manifestations was not statistically significant. This was different from what was observed in the previously mentioned UK-based study where the authors identified three patients with severe DKA who developed refractory hypokalemia. One child with SARS-CoV-2 PCR suffered from hypokalemia related to cardiac arrest but subsequently recovered following 1 day of ventilation (13).

Different factors associated with the severity of DKA were investigated during the current study. It was noted that only 5% of the severe cases during the first COVID-19 wave and 29.9% of the severe cases during the second COVID-19 wave developed neurological manifestations in the form of low Glasgow Coma Scale score and/or development of seizures (p = 0.041 and <0.001, respectively). This was despite the fact that lower bicarbonate levels induce a greater risk of developing neurological complications. This was similar to the study conducted by Bialo et al. who investigated the rare complications of pediatric diabetic ketoacidosis, including neurological complications (18). Additionally, we found that there

was a statistically significant association between DKA severity and the presence of leukocytosis (p < 0.001 for both waves) and also with a longer duration of ICU stay (p < 0.001 for both waves).

Leukocytosis is a sign of infection, which is by far the commonest precipitating factor for DKA. Several researchers have identified a number of factors that might contribute to the occurrence of leukocytosis during DKA, especially in its most severe presentation. These include insulin deficiency, inflammatory processes, increased levels of stress hormones, such as adrenaline and cortisol, and infection. Furthermore, a significant association was detected between the total leukocytic count and the blood pH at the onset of presentation with DKA. The lower the pH value, the higher the leukocytic count (leukemoid response) (19).

A comparison between the data collected during the COVID-19 period and the pre-COVID-19 period underlines that the number of newly diagnosed cases admitted during the first and the second COVID-19 waves was significantly higher compared to that of the pre-COVID-19 period (65.7 vs. 38.3%, p < 0.001). This comes in agreement with the findings of a multicenter study conducted in the UK that observed an increase of 80% in newly diagnosed cases over a typical year before COVID-19 (13). Furthermore, another study performed in Finland showed a significant increase in the admissions of new-onset T1D cases during the COVID-19 pandemic (20). This might be explained by the high expression of angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) receptors on the B cells of the islets of Langerhans, which has also been proposed to be the binding site for SARS-CoV-2 (13). However, our results showed that only four patients had a positive nasopharyngeal swab for the COVID-19 virus, which makes this link doubtful, and thus further studies are required to verify this point. It was also observed that the severity of DKA was significantly higher during the COVID-19 era, a finding that might be due to the significant delay in seeking medical advice from professionals due to lockdown, overwhelmed medical system, and fear of infection (p = 0.012). This was also stated in the summary of the recommendations of International Society of Pediatric and Adolescent Diabetes (ISPAD) regarding children with diabetes and COVID-19 (21). The frequency of developing hypokalemia was also observed to be higher during the COVID-19 period compared to the pre-COVID period.

Intravenous infusion of insulin remains the treatment of choice for DKA management, and it should be provided in an ICU setting according to the 2018 ISPAD guidelines. However, these guidelines have been updated during the COVID-19 pandemic to help reduce the burden on the ICU services and teams who are overwhelmed by the number of critically ill COVID-19-infected patients. The new recommendations state that, in case of uncomplicated, mild, and moderate DKA, management could be carried out outside the ICU using subcutaneous insulin (22).

It has been thought that the severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2, which is the causative organism of the COVID-19 pandemic, exerts its effects on various systems, such as the respiratory system, the vascular system, and the gastrointestinal tract, including the intestines and pancreas, by binding to ACE2, a surface receptor found on various body organs. This, in turn, results to an increase in the inflammatory processes and vascular permeability of various organs, including the pancreas, which might be a direct cause for developing T1D. The rapidly spreading virus and the emergence of various mutations and strains are considered to be a red flag that warns scientists globally regarding future long- and short-term health consequences. Given the limited information on the mode of action of SARS-CoV-2 and its different effects on organs, it is hypothesized that the increasing incidence of T1D during the COVID-19 pandemic might be triggered by infections, which raise concerns about a future increase in the number of T1D cases (23).

Further studies are required to detect and describe the association between a SARS-CoV-2 infection and the incidence of new-onset diabetes, the severity of presentation, and the development of complications during management, especially hypokalemia. Furthermore, it is essential to evaluate the impact of using telemedicine as an alternative to regularly scheduled clinic visits on the long-term glycemic control of patients and on the development of both short- and long-term complications (2).

CONCLUSION

A significant increase in the frequency of newly diagnosed T1D cases was evident during the first and the second COVID-19 waves compared to the pre-COVID-19 period. The patients also presented with more severe DKA, probably due to a more delayed presentation, and the frequency of hypokalemia was significantly higher. The severity of DKA was associated with a longer ICU admission. Furthermore, few patients who presented with DKA developed neurological complications. The development of hypokalemia was not associated with any cardiac consequences. The severity of DKA was associated with a longer ICU admission. Further studies are required to establish a definitive link between the COVID-19 pandemic and the severity of presentation.

REFERENCES

- Coronaviridae Study Group of the International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses. The Species Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome-Related Coronavirus: Classifying 2019-Ncov and Naming it SARS-CoV-2. Nat Microbiol (2020) 5(4):536–44. doi: 10.1038/s41564-020-0695-z
- D'Annunzio G, Maffeis C, Cherubini V, Rabbone I, Scaramuzza A, Schiaffini R, et al. Caring for Children and Adolescents With Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus: Italian Society for Pediatric Endocrinology and Diabetology (ISPED) Statements During COVID-19 Pandemia. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* (2020) 168:108372. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2020.108372

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the bioethical research committee, Faculty of Medicine, Kasr Alainy University Hospitals, Cairo, Egypt. Written informed consent from the participants' legal guardian/next of kin was not required for them to participate in this study in accordance with the national legislation and institutional requirements.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MA shared in study design, data collection and interpretation, critical revision of the article, drafting the manuscript, and final approval for publishing. MH shared in study design, critical revision of the article, data interpretation, and final approval for publishing. SH shared in study design, analysis and interpretation of data, critical revision of the article, and final approval for publishing. EE shared in statistical analysis and interpretation of data, article revision, and final approval for publishing. RS shared in design of study, critical revision of the article, data interpretation, drafting the manuscript, and final approval for publishing. All authors analyzed the data, discussed the results, commented on the manuscript, and finally approved it for publishing.

FUNDING

This research did not receive any specific grant from funding agencies in the public, commercial, or not-for-profit sectors.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to acknowledge the staff members, medical nursing team, and educational team of the Diabetes, Endocrine, and Metabolism Pediatric Unit at the Abo El Rish Children's Hospital, Faculty of Medicine, Cairo University, for their tremendous efforts and sacrifices during this critical time.

- 3. Thomson GA. Where are We Now With COVID-19? *Int J Clin Pract* (2020) 74(7):e13497. doi: 10.1111/ijcp.13497
- 4. Wang D, Ju XL, Xie F, Lu Y, Li FY, Huang HH, et al. Clinical Analysis of 31 Cases of 2019 Novel Coronavirus Infection in Children From Six Provinces (Autonomous Region) of Northern China. *Zhonghua Er Ke Za Zhi* (2020) 8:269–74. doi: 10.3760/cma.j.cn112140-20200225-00138
- Tang B, Braganza NL, Li Q, Tang S, Xiao Y, Wu J. An Updated Estimation of the Risk of Transmission of the Novel Coronavirus (2019-Ncov). *Infect Dis Model* (2020) 5:248–255. doi: 10.1016/j.idm.2020.02.001
- 6. Mukona DM, Zvinavashe M. Self- Management of Diabetes Mellitus During the Covid-19 Pandemic: Recommendations for a Resource

Limited Setting. *Diabetes MetabSyndr* (2020) 14(6):1575–8. doi: 10.1016/ j.dsx.2020.08.022

- 7. Doupis J, Avramidis K. Managing Diabetes During the COVID-19 Pandemic. *Eur Endocrinol* (2020) 16(2):85–7. doi: 10.17925/EE.2020.16.2.85
- Wicaksana AL, Hertanti NS, Ferdiana A, Pramono RB. Diabetes Management and Specific Considerations for Patients With Diabetes During Coronavirus Diseases Pandemic: A Scoping Review. *Diabetes MetabSyndr* (2020) 14 (5):1109–20. doi: 10.1016/j.dsx.2020.06.070
- 9. Ludvigsson J. Effect of COVID-19 Pandemic on Treatment of Type 1 Diabetes in Children. *Acta Paediatr* (2020) 00:1–2. doi: 10.1111/apa.15627
- Wolfsdorf JI, Glaser N, Agus M, Fritsch M, Hanas R, Rewers A, et al. ISPAD Clinical Practice Consensus Guidelines 2018: Diabetic Ketoacidosis and the Hyperglycemic Hyperosmolar State. *Pediatr Diabetes* (2018) 19(Suppl. 27):155–77. doi: 10.1111/pedi.12701
- Gallo de Moraes A, Surani S. Effects of Diabetic Ketoacidosis in the Respiratory System. World J Diabetes (2019) 10(1):16-22. doi: 10.4239/ wjd.v10.i1.16
- Territo M. Lymphocytopenia (2020). Available at: https://www.msdmanuals. com/professional/hematology-and-oncology/leukopenias/lymphocytopenia (Accessed February 17, 2021).
- Unsworth R, Wallace S, Oliver NS, Yeung S, Kshirsagar A, Naidu H, et al. New-Onset Type 1 Diabetes in Children During COVID-19: Multicenter Regional Findings in the U.K. *Diabetes Care* (2020) 43(11):e170-1. doi: 10.2337/dc20-1551
- DiMeglio LA, Albanese-O'Neill A, Muñoz CE, Maahs DM. COVID-19 and Children With Diabetes-Updates, Unknowns, and Next Steps: First, Do No Extrapolation. *Diabetes Care* (2020) 43(11):2631–4. doi: 10.2337/dci20-0044
- Brazendale K, Beets MW, Weaver RG, Pate RR, Turner-McGrievy GM, Kaczynski AT, et al. Understanding Differences Between Summer vs. School Obesogenic Behaviors of Children: The Structured Days Hypothesis. *Int J BehavNutr Phys Act* (2017) 14(1):100. doi: 10.1186/s12966-017-0555-2
- Loades ME, Chatburn E, Higson-Sweeney N, Reynolds S, Shafran R, Brigden A, et al. Rapid Systematic Review: The Impact of Social Isolation and Loneliness on the Mental Health of Children and Adolescents in the Context of COVID-19. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (2020) 59 (11):1218–39.e3. doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2020.05.009
- Zhou SJ, Wang LL, Yang R, Yang XJ, Zhang LG, Guo ZC, et al. Sleep Problems Among Chinese Adolescents and Young Adults During the Coronavirus-2019 Pandemic. Sleep Med (2020) 74:39–47. doi: 10.1016/j.sleep.2020.06.001

- Bialo SR, Agrawal S, Boney CM, Quintos JB. Rare Complications of Pediatric Diabetic Ketoacidosis. World J Diabetes (2015) 6(1):167–74. doi: 10.4239/ wjd.v6.i1.167
- Hosseini S, Firooz M, Moradi B. Leukocytosis in Diabetic Ketoacidosis; Whether the Time Has Come to Start Antibiotics? A Short Literature Review. J Patient Saf Qual Improvement (2019) 7(1):27-8. doi: 10.22038/ psj.2019.35823.1195
- Salmi H, Heinonen S, Hästbacka J, Lääperi M, Rautiainen P, Miettinen J, et al. New-Onset Type 1 Diabetes in Finnish Children During the COVID-19 Pandemic. Arch Dis Childhood (2022) 107(2):180–5. doi: 10.1136/ archdischild-2020-321220
- 21. International Society of Pediatric and Adolescent Diabetes (ISPAD). Summary of Recommendations Regarding COVID-19 in Children With Diabetes: Keep Calm and Mind Your Diabetes Care and Public Health Advice. *Pediatr Diabetes* (2020) 21:413–4. doi: 10.1111/pedi.13013
- 22. Priyambada L, Wolfsdorf JI, Brink SJ, Fritsch M, Codner E, Donaghue KC, et al. ISPAD Clinical Practice Consensus Guideline: Diabetic Ketoacidosis in the Time of COVID-19 and Resource-Limited Settings-Role of Subcutaneous Insulin. *Pediatr Diabetes* (2020) 21(8):1394–402. doi: 10.1111/pedi.13118
- Caruso P, Longo M, Esposito K, Maiorino MI. Type 1 Diabetes Triggered by Covid-19 Pandemic: A Potential Outbreak? *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* (2020) 164:108219. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2020.108219

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Abdou, Hassan, Hassanein, Elsebaie and Shamma. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Difference of Precocious Puberty Between Before and During the COVID-19 Pandemic: A Cross-Sectional Study Among Shanghai School-Aged Girls

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Li Ming Wen, The University of Sydney, Australia

Reviewed by:

Dimitrios T. Papadimitriou, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Greece Jean-Pierre Chanoine, University of British Columbia, Canada

*Correspondence:

Xiumin Wang wangxiumin@scmc.com.cn Shijian Liu liushijian@scmc.com.cn

⁺These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 20 December 2021 Accepted: 15 February 2022 Published: 21 March 2022

Citation:

Chen Y, Chen J, Tang Y, Zhang Q, Wang Y, Li Q, Li X, Weng Z, Huang J, Wang X and Liu S (2022) Difference of Precocious Puberty Between Before and During the COVID-19 Pandemic: A Cross-Sectional Study Among Shanghai School-Aged Girls. Front. Endocrinol. 13:839895. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.839895 Yao Chen^{1†}, Jianyong Chen^{2†}, Yijun Tang¹, Qianwen Zhang¹, Yirou Wang¹, Qun Li¹, Xin Li¹, Zihan Weng³, Ju Huang⁴, Xiumin Wang^{1*} and Shijian Liu^{5,6*}

¹ Department of Endocrinology, Genetics and Metabolism, Shanghai Children's Medical Center, School of Medicine, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, Shanghai, China, ² Department of Otorhinolaryngology-Head and Neck Surgery, Xinhua Hospital, School of Medicine, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, Shanghai, China, ³ Department of Information Technology, Shanghai Children's Medical Center, School of Medicine, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, Shanghai, China, ⁴ Center for Brain Science, Shanghai Children's Medical Center, School of Medicine, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, Shanghai, China, ⁵ Department of Clinical Epidemiology and Biostatistics, Children Health Advocacy Institute, Shanghai Children's Medical Center, School of Medicine, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, Shanghai, China, ⁶ School of Medicine, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, Shanghai, China, ⁶ School of Public Health, School of Medicine, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, Shanghai, China

Objective: To compared the incidence rates and clinical features of precocious girls before and during the COVID-19 pandemic among Shanghai school-aged girls, and explored the potential mechanisms.

Methods: This cross-sectional study collected medical data about precocious girls between 2016 and 2020 from Shanghai Children's Medical Center. Data of inpatient precocious girls from March to August in 2016-2019 (n=246) and 2020 (n=237) were collected. Subjects with abnormal brain and pituitary gland MRI reports, other endocrine diseases or chronic diseases were excluded. Finally, 209 precocious girls were included in the 2016-2019 group and 191 precocious girls were include in the 2020 group. Monthly incidence rates and clinical features were compared between before and during the COVID-19 pandemic. Linear regression models were used to examine the associations between biomarkers to explore the potential mechanisms.

Results: Monthly incidence rates of precocious puberty in outpatient girls from March to December 2020 (0.44-1.36%) and in inpatient girls from March to August 2020 (27.04-47.83%) were higher than those in 2016-2019 (0.30-0.52% and 10.53-18.42%, respectively). Serum concentrations of GnRH were higher in the 2020 group than in the 2016-2019 group (2.81 vs 1.99 mg/L). Serum concentrations of MKRN3 (1.02 vs 1.93 ng/ml) and ghrelin (0.38 vs 0.88 ng/ml) were lower in the 2020 group than in the 2016-2019 group. Moreover, the serum concentration of ghrelin was positively associated with the serum concentration of MKRN3 [β =0.891 (95% *Cl*, 0.612, 1.171); *p*<0.001].

26

Conclusions: These findings suggest an increased incidence of precocious puberty during the COVID-19 pandemic among Shanghai school-aged girls, which may be associated with decreased serum concentrations of MKRN3 and ghrelin, and indicated ghrelin as a potential regulatory mechanism of puberty.

Keywords: precocious puberty, girl, COVID-19, ghrelin, MKRN3

INTRODUCTION

Since early December 2019, coronavirus 2019 (COVID-19) has spread rapidly and widely worldwide (1, 2). It was suggested that children are less susceptible to COVID-19 than adults (3), and pediatric patients have less severe clinical manifestations than adult patients (2). However, increasing evidence has demonstrated that control policies for COVID-19, such as enforced social distancing, school closures, online courses and lifestyle changes that reduce physical activities, may lead to other serious problems in children (4).

Among these problems, the increased incidence of precocious puberty in girls attracted our attention (3, 5). Li et al. found that the spectrum of disease for children changed dramatically before and after the breakout of COVID-19 in Hangzhou (3). It showed that the greatest increases in visits were for problems related to precocious and accelerated puberty (3). Stagi et al. also suggested that there was an increased incidence of precocious and accelerated puberty in girls during and after the Italian lockdown for the COVID-19 pandemic (5). Compared with previous years, precocious girls during and after lockdown showed a faster rate of pubertal progression (5). Shanghai is an international city with a large domestic and overseas population. The task of epidemic prevention is still grim, and policies for pandemic control remain strict in Shanghai. However, very few studies have investigated the changes in precocious incidence and clinical features before and during COVID-19 in schoolaged girls in Shanghai.

In this study, we analyzed data on outpatients and inpatients in 2016-2020 from Shanghai Children's Medical Center (SCMC) to compare the incidence rates and clinical features of precocious girls before and during the COVID-19 pandemic among Shanghai school-aged girls. Furthermore, serum concentrations of biomarkers were detected for inpatient precocious girls to explore the potential mechanisms.

METHODS

Study Design and Participants

This study was conducted in SCMC, Shanghai Jiao Tong University School of Medicine, Shanghai, China. SCMC is one of the National Children's Medical Centers in China, accounting for 15-20% of the total number of pediatric patients in Shanghai, with more than 1,700,000 visits in the outpatient department and more than 35,000 visits in the inpatient ward per year.

Participants were diagnosed with precocious puberty according to the onset of breast development (Tanner

stages \geq B2) before the chronological age (CA) of 8 years (6). Precocious girls who showed slow progress of puberty were followed in the outpatient department. Other girls who showed accelerated puberty were admitted in the endocrinology ward for further examinations. Data of these precocious girls in 2016-2020 from SCMC were recorded.

Girls younger than 6 years were more susceptible to intracranial pathology (7). We collected data on precocious girls equal or older than 6 years from the endocrinology ward from March to August in 2016-2020. Detailed data of physical and laboratory examinations were recorded for these inpatient precocious girls, including anthropometric measurements, pubertal staging, direct radiography of the left hand and wrist, pelvic ultrasonography, magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) of the brain and pituitary gland and gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) stimulation tests.

Subjects with any one of the following conditions were excluded: 1) abnormal brain and pituitary gland MRI reports, including Rathke's cleft cysts, pineal cysts, arachnoid cysts, hamartoma and germinoma; 2) other endocrine diseases, including hypothyroidism, hyperthyroidism, short stature, diabetes and adrenal disease; and 3) chronic diseases, including chronic nephrosis, asthma, epilepsy and hematological disease. After that, inpatient precocious girls were included in the 2016-2019 group and 2020 group (**Figure 1**), and their clinical features were compared.

Physical examination

The body weight (kg) and height (cm) of all subjects were measured and recorded using the same type of apparatus and following the standard procedures recommended by Cameron (8). Body mass index (BMI) was calculated by the equation of weight in kilograms (kg) divided by height in meters squared (m2). Secondary sexual characteristics of these subjects were evaluated and recorded by endocrinologists from the Department of Endocrinology using Tanner stages (9).

Laboratory examination

Bone age (BA) (10), pelvic ultrasonography (11), magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) of the brain and pituitary gland, gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH)-stimulation test, serum concentrations of sex hormone-binding globulin (SHBG) and hormones [estradiol (E2), luteinizing hormone (LH), follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH), GnRH, kisspeptin, makorin ring finger protein 3 (MKRN3), leptin and ghrelin)] were detected for inpatient precocious girls in the 2016-2019 group and 2020 group (**Figure 1**).



Gonadorelin acetate (Gonadorelin, BBCA, Anhui, China) was used for the GnRH stimulation test, which was conducted between 8 am and 10 am in a fasting state for all of the cases in the 2016-2019 group and 2020 group, by intravenous injection of gonadorelin acetate at a dose of 2.5 μ g/kg body weight (the maximum total dose was 100 μ g) (12). Venous blood samples were collected before the injection of gonadorelin acetate to detect the serum concentrations of SHBG, E2, LH, FSH, GnRH, kisspeptin, MKRN3, leptin and ghrelin at 0, 30, and 60 min after the injection of gonadorelin acetate to detect the serum concentrations of LH and FSH at 30 and 60 min.

Serum was separated from the blood samples less than 1 hour after collection. For the concentrations of SHBG, E2, LH and FSH, serum samples were detected just after being collected. For the concentrations of GnRH, kisspeptin, MKRN3, leptin and ghrelin, serum samples were stored in the biobank at -80°C until the detection. We lost some of our samples because of updates to the biobank electronic system (Figure 1). Serum samples were detected by the clinical laboratory of SCMC. Serum concentrations of SHBG, E2, LH and FSH were detected by chemiluminescence immunoassay (CMIA; Abbott Diagnostics, IL, USA) on an Architect i2000SR (Abbott Diagnostics), with detection limits of 0.02 nmol/L, 10 pg/ml, 0.09 IU/L and 0.05 IU/L, respectively; intra-assay and inter-assay coefficients of variation (CV) were less than 6.4% and 8.4%, respectively. Serum concentrations of GnRH, kisspeptin, MKRN3, leptin and ghrelin were measured using enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) by commercial human ELISA kits (BFS, Beijing, China), with detection limits of 20 ng/L, 5 ng/L, 10 ng/L, 0.05 ng/ml and 5 ng/L, respectively; intra-assay and inter-assay CV were less than 10% and 12%, respectively.

Questionnaire Survey

According to questionnaires used in our previous investigations (13), a structured questionnaire was designed to investigate lifestyles of precocious girls during the COVID-19 pandemic. Face-to-face interviews were conducted for inpatient precocious girls in the 2020 group through the questionnaire, including

detailed information about dietary pattern, rate of weight gain, sleep duration, amount of exercise and screen exposure duration during the COVID-19 pandemic. Totally, 23.56% (45/191) of precocious girls and their parents completed the questionnaire due to the inconvenient return visit during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Statistical Analysis

The monthly incidence of precocious puberty in outpatient girls was calculated by monthly visits of precocious girls divided by monthly visits of all patients in the outpatient department. Monthly incidence of precocious puberty in inpatient girls was calculated by monthly visits of precocious girls divided by monthly visits of all patients in the endocrinology ward. Comparisons among groups were analyzed using chi-square (χ^2) tests for categorical variables and Wilcoxon rank sum tests for continuous variables due to their skewed distributions. The relationships of serum ghrelin with serum GnRH and MKRN3 concentrations in precocious girls were analyzed using linear regression models, adjusting for girls' age, BMI and the menarche age of their mothers (14). Serum concentrations of GnRH, MKRN3 and ghrelin were transformed to log10 scale due to their skewed distributions. Statistical analyses were performed with SPSS 25.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) based on two-tailed tests, and statistical significance was set at p < 0.05.

Ethics

All participating parents provided written informed consent, and all research activities were approved by the institutional review board of SCMC, Shanghai Jiao Tong University School of Medicine (approval number: SCMCIRB-K2021014-1).

RESULTS

When compared with the incidence in 2016-2019 years, both the monthly visits and monthly incidence rates of precocious girls

increased from March to December 2020 in the outpatient department of SCMC (p<.001) [(**Table 1**) and (**Figure 1**)].

When compared with the incidence in 2016-2019 years, the monthly incidence rates of precocious girls in 2020 increased from March to August and in December in the endocrinology ward of SCMC (p<0.05) [(**Table 2**) and (**Figure 2**)].

According to the criteria mentioned above, 209 precocious girls (age 7.92 \pm 0.71 years) were included in the 2016-2019 group and 191 precocious girls (age 7.95 \pm 0.77 years) were included in the 2020 group (**Figure 3**). All subjects were Han Chinese girls. The ratio of peak LH/peak FSH and the mean concentration of GnRH in the 2020 group were higher than those in the 2016-2019 group (1.23 vs 0.83, *p*<0.001 and 2.81 vs 1.99 mg/L, *p*=0.012, respectively) (**Table 3**). The mean age of mother's menarche, the mean concentration of SHBG, basal FSH, peak FSH after the GnRH stimulation test, MKRN3 and ghrelin in the 2020 group were lower than those in 2016-2019 group (12.74 vs 13.19 years, *p*=0.024; 70.30 vs 81.64 nmol/L, *p*=0.001; 2.77 vs 3.60 IU/L, *p*<0.001; 10.66 vs 16.49 IU/L, *p*<0.001; 10.2 vs 1.93 ng/ml, *p*<0.001; 0.38 vs 0.88 ng/ml, *p*<0.001, respectively) (**Table 3**).

With the peak value of LH ≥ 5 IU/L after the GnRH stimulation test, activation of hypothalamus-pituitarygonadal (HPG) axis were presented in 299 precocious girls (153 in the 2016-2019 group and 146 in the 2020 group), diagnosed as central precocious puberty (15). 64.88% (194/299) of these girls showed complete records of serum concentrations of GnRH, MKRN3 and ghrelin. For these girls, no correlation was identified between serum ghrelin and serum GnRH concentrations. While, a positive correlation was found between serum ghrelin and serum MKRN3 concentrations [β =0.891 (95% CI, 0.612, 1.171); p<0.001] (**Table 4**).

46.67% (21/45) of precocious girls consumed much more meat than vegetables (data not shown). The ranges and percentiles of weight gain within 3 and 6 months, BMI gain within 3 and 6 months, sleep duration at night, amount of exercise, amount of outdoor activities and amount of electronic screen exposure per day of these subjects were shown in **Table 5**. The median value of weight gain in 6 months was 2 kg in these girls, the total amount of exercise per day was less than 1 hour, and the amount of electronic screen exposure per day was up to 3 hours.

TABLE 1 | Monthly visits and monthly incidence rates of precocious girls before (2016-2019) and during (2020) the COVID-19 pandemic in the outpatient department.

Month	Average visits of patients	before the COVID-19	pandemic (2016-2019)	Visits of patients du	ring the COVID-1	9 pandemic (2020)	χ2	p
	Precocious girls	All patients	Incidence (%)	Precocious girls	All patients	Incidence (%)		
January	454	136950	0.33	398	127277	0.31	0.73	0.394
February	395	97130	0.41	244	27386	0.89	98.14	<0.001
March	573	127022	0.45	636	46740	1.36	409.16	<0.001
April	496	127545	0.39	863	68025	1.27	497.60	<0.001
May	540	139369	0.39	1021	85561	1.19	499.53	<0.001
June	479	135167	0.35	917	95455	0.96	341.80	<0.001
July	606	143060	0.42	1056	112767	0.94	256.97	<0.001
August	725	141594	0.51	1135	118776	0.96	179.17	<0.001
September	664	127436	0.52	856	118034	0.73	41.51	<0.001
October	582	132369	0.44	786	115948	0.68	64.02	<0.001
November	559	146758	0.38	695	123445	0.56	48.13	<0.001
December	474	157299	0.30	663	149415	0.44	42.07	<0.001

Bold indicates p < 0.05.

TABLE 2 | Monthly incidence rates of precocious girls before (2016-2019) and during (2020) the COVID-19 pandemic in the endocrinology ward.

Month Average visits of patients		ts before (2016-2019	COVID-19 pandemic	Visits of patients d	uring (2020) CO	/ID-19 pandemic	χ2	р
	Precocious girls	All patients	Incidence (%)	Precocious girls	All patients	Incidence (%)		
January	3	40	8.13	8	65	12.31	0.205	0.650
February	4	45	9.44	4	20	20.00	0.722	0.396
March	6	52	10.53	19	61	31.15	6.512	0.011
April	9	48	18.42	49	123	39.84	6.850	0.009
May	8	49	15.38	66	138	47.83	15.004	<0.001
June	9	47	18.18	42	94	44.68	8.847	0.003
July	9	82	11.04	43	159	27.04	8.255	0.004
August	13	99	12.69	61	190	32.11	12.301	<0.001
September	16	68	23.81	29	93	31.18	1.142	0.285
October	16	59	27.00	20	97	20.62	0.873	0.350
November	8	56	13.78	6	50	12.00	0.097	0.755
December	5	53	9.91	25	71	35.21	10.995	0.001

Bold indicates p < 0.05.





FIGURE 3 | Flow diagram of criteria and examination for inpatient precocious girls in the endocrinology ward in the 2016-2019 group and 2020 group (MRI, magnetic resonance imaging; BA, bone age; GnRH, gonadotropin-releasing hormone; SHBG, sex hormone-binding globulin; E2, estradiol; LH, luteinizing hormone; FSH, follicle-stimulating hormone; MKRN3, makorin ring finger protein 3).

TABLE 3	Characteristics	of inpatient	precocious girls in	the endocrinology ward.
---------	-----------------	--------------	---------------------	-------------------------

Characteristics	2016-2019 group (n = 209)	2020 group (n = 191)	Statistics Z/χ^2	р
Age (years)	7.92 ± 0.71 7.98 (6.12-8.99)	7.95 ± 0.57 7.99 (6.13-8.98)	-0.073	0.942
$6 < age \le 8$	105 (50.24%)	98 (51.31%)	0.046	0.831
$8 < age \le 9$	104 (49.76%)	93 (48.69%)		
BMI (kg/m ²)	17.12 ± 2.41	17.48 ± 2.20	-1.960	0.050
Mother's menarche age (years)	13.19 ± 1.49	12.74 ± 1.16	-2.258	0.024
BA-CA	1.28 ± 1.13	1.48 ± 1.13	-1.683	0.092
SHBG (nmol/L)	81.64 ± 33.28	70.30 ± 30.06	-3.254	0.001
Basal E2 (pg/mL)	22.31 ± 16.25	21.35 ± 13.35	-0.345	0.730
Basal LH (IU/L)	0.67 ± 0.77	0.72 ± 0.85	-0.604	0.546
Basal FSH (IU/L)	3.60 ± 1.96	2.77 ± 1.50	-4.455	<0.001
Peak LH (IU/L)	13.23 ± 13.79	13.30 ± 11.75	-0.576	0.564
≥5	153 (73.21%)	146 (76.44%)	0.553	0.457
<5	56 (26.79%)	45 (23.56%)		
Peak FSH (IU/L)	16.49 ± 5.69	10.66 ± 3.79	-10.842	<0.001
Peak LH/FSH ratio	0.83 ± 0.71	1.23 ± 0.86	-5.246	<0.001
GnRH (mg/L)	1.99 ± 2.03	2.81 ± 2.89	-2.514	0.012
Kisspeptin (ng/ml)	1.90 ± 1.38	2.13 ± 1.71	-0.345	0.730
MKRN3 (ng/ml)	1.93 ± 1.09	1.02 ± 0.84	-6.908	<0.001
Leptin (ng/ml)	7.14 ± 5.25	5.75 ± 2.46	-1.454	0.146
Ghrelin (ng/ml)	0.88 ± 0.43	0.38 ± 0.18	-10.719	<0.001

Wilcoxon rank sum tests were used for continuous variables

 χ^2 tests were used for categorical variables.

Bold indicates p < 0.05.

TABLE 4 | Relationships of serum ghrelin with GnRH and MKRN3 concentrations (n=194) determined by linear regression models.

Biomarkers	β^{a}	95% CI	p
Ghrelin	Reference		
GnRH (mg/L)	-0.012	-0.184-0.159	0.888
MKRN3 (ng/ml)	0.891	0.612-1.171	<0.001

^aModels adjusted for the girls' age, BMI and menarche age of their mothers. Bold indicates p < 0.05.

TABLE 5 | Lifestyle features of precocious girls during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Items	n	Range	Percentiles			
			25th	50th	75th	
Weight (kg) or BMI (kg/m2) gain						
Weight gain within 3 months	24	0-4.00	0.50	1.00	2.00	
BMI gain within 3 months	23	-0.68-1.96	-0.07	0.18	0.57	
Weight gain within 6 months	27	0-5.00	1.50	2.00	3.63	
BMI gain within 6 months	24	-1.43-2.08	-0.27	0.30	0.97	
Sleep duration at night per day (h)	45	8.00-11.00	9.00	9.50	10.00	
Amount of exercise per day (h)						
High intensity	44	0-1.14	0	0.07	0.29	
Moderate intensity	45	0-2.14	0.14	0.29	0.43	
Low intensity	42	0-2.50	0.14	0.36	1.00	
Total	41	0.11-3.50	0.49	0.86	1.27	
Amount of outdoor activities per day (h)	45	0-4.50	0.50	1.00	1.75	
Amount of screen exposure per day (h)	45	0.50-8.00	1.59	3.00	4.75	

DISCUSSION

In the present study, we found that the incidence rates of precocious puberty were increased and concentrations of serum MKRN3 and ghrelin were decreased during the COVID-19 pandemic among Shanghai school-aged girls. Furthermore, a positive association between the serum concentration of MKRN3 and indicated ghrelin as a potential regulatory mechanism of puberty.

The COVID-19 pandemic has spread rapidly and widely worldwide since early December (1, 2). Compared with adults, children are less susceptible to COVID-19 (3), and pediatric patients have less severe clinical manifestations (2). Studies have demonstrated that after the outbreak of COVID-19, the spectrum of disease for children changed dramatically, with an increased incidence of pubertal development problems and a decreased incidence of other infectious diseases (3). Li et al. analyzed data from Hangzhou before (from January 1, 2019 to March 31, 2019) and after (from January 1, 2020 to March 31, 2020) the breakout of COVID-19. Compared with 2019, the visit rate for problems related to precocious and accelerated puberty increased more than 3-fold during the period in 2020 (3). Stagi et al. compared medical records of precocious girls in Italy from March to July 2020 with the same period of the previous 5 years (March to July 2015-2019). An increased incidence of newly diagnosed precocious puberty in girls in 2020 and an accelerated rate of pubertal progression in precocious girls in 2020 were reported (5). In the present study, we evaluated historical data from the outpatient department and inpatient endocrinology ward in SCMC, which is one of the largest comprehensive pediatric medical centers in China, and obtained similar results. Compared with historical data in 2016-2019, the monthly incidence rates of precocious puberty in outpatient girls from February to December in 2020 (p<.001) and in inpatient girls from March to August in 2020 (p<.05) increased continually. The monthly incidence rates of precocious puberty in inpatient girls from September to November 2020 was not different from that in 2016-2019 (p>.05), but it increased again in December 2020 (p=.001), followed by a partial and transient relief of COVID-19 cases in late November in Shanghai. The decreased physical activities, increased food consumption and rapid weight gain may be associated with the increased visits of pubertal development problems during the pandemic.

SHBG is a circulating glycoprotein that transports steroid hormones in the blood (16). Most steroid hormones in the plasma are bound to proteins in the inactive bound state (17). Serum concentrations of SHBG rise significantly from birth to early childhood (18), are stable during childhood, and then decline during puberty (19). It has been hypothesized that during childhood, SHBG may restrict the actions of sex steroids in the inactive bound state and then decrease during puberty, resulting in increased levels of free sex steroids in the active unbound state (20). Increasing evidence has shown that lower concentrations of serum SHBG are associated with early puberty (19, 21). In the present study, we found that the serum concentrations of SHBG in the 2020 group were lower than those in 2016-2019 group (70.30 vs 81.64 nmol/L) (p<.001). The mechanism by which concentrations of serum SHBG are reduced during puberty is still unknown.

Functioning as a bridge between the hypothalamus and the gonads, FSH and LH, which are synthesized and secreted in the pituitary, play important roles in the normal function of the HPG axis (22). The secretion of FSH is regulated by a complex interplay of different factors, including negative steroid

hormone feedback from the gonads, endocrine disruptor factors and stress (15). Pescovitz et al. reported that compared with girls with isolated thelarche, girls with complete sexual development showed lower serum concentrations of peak FSH after the GnRH stimulation test (23). In the present study, we found that the serum concentrations of basal FSH (2.77 vs 3.60 IU/L, p<.001) and peak FSH after the GnRH stimulation test (10.66 vs 16.49 IU/L, p<.001) were lower in the 2020 group than those in the 2016-2019 group. Although there was no difference in serum concentrations of peak LH between the two groups, the peak LH/FSH ratio, which could represent progressive puberty (23), was higher in the 2020 group than in the 2016-2019 group (1.23 VS 0.83, p<.001). As a cross-sectional study, we were unable to collect information about the progression of the precocious girls in our study. Data from Italy have shown an accelerated rate of pubertal progression in precocious girls in 2020 (5). This highlights the need to monitor pubertal progression for precocious girls in the 2020 group in the follow-up.

Early activation of the HPG axis inducing pulsatile secretion of GnRH could give rise to early onset of puberty (24). Pulsatile secretion of GnRH is positively regulated by kisspeptin and negatively regulated by MKRN3 (**Figure 4**) (6). Compared with normal healthy girls, precocious girls showed higher concentrations of serum kisspeptin (12) and lower concentrations of serum MKRN3 (25, 26). In the present study, we found that the





serum concentrations of GnRH in 2020 group were higher than those in the 2016-2019 group (2.81 vs 1.99 mg/L, p=.012) and the serum concentrations of MKRN3 in 2020 group were lower than those in 2016-2019 group (1.02 vs 1.93 ng/ml, p<.000). However, the serum concentrations of kisspeptin between the two groups were not different (2.13 vs 1.90 ng/ml, p=.730).

Under the policies of city lockdown, enforced social distancing, and school closures, the lifestyles of children changed, with less physical activities, more electronic screen exposure and increased food consumption, may lead to rapid weight gain during the pandemic (27, 28). According to questionnaires completed by 45 precocious girls and their parents in the 2020 group, the median value of weight gain in 6 months was 2 kg, and the maximum value was as high as 5 kg, which demonstrates the rapid weight gain for precocious girls in 2020 during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Rapid weight gain leads to increased concentrations of leptin and decreased concentrations of ghrelin (29). Increasing evidence has demonstrated that leptin promotes pulsatile GnRH secretion and that ghrelin suppresses pulsatile GnRH secretion, therefore they can play important roles in pubertal onset (Figure 4) (6, 30, 31). Kang et al. reported that serum leptin concentrations were higher in precocious girls than in normal healthy girls (30). Eshmawy et al. reported that compared with normal healthy controls, boys with constitutional delay of growth and puberty had lower serum leptin concentrations and higher serum ghrelin concentrations (31). However, few data exist on the relationship between serum ghrelin concentrations and pubertal onset in girls. We found that the serum concentrations of leptin between the two groups were not different (5.75 vs 7.14 ng/ml, p=.146). While, the serum concentrations of ghrelin in the 2020 group were significantly lower than those in the 2016-2020 group (0.38 vs 0.88 ng/ ml, *p*<.001).

How does ghrelin contribute to the regulation of pulsatile secretion of GnRH, directly or indirectly? As far as we know, reports about that were limited. In the present study, no correlation was found between serum ghrelin and serum GnRH concentrations [β =-0.012 (95% *CI*, -0.184, 0.159); *p*=0.888]. While, a positive correlation was found between serum ghrelin and serum MKRN3 concentrations [β =0.891 (95% *CI*, 0.612, 1.171); *p*<0.001]. According to the results, we assume that the lower concentrations of ghrelin may downregulated the concentrations of MKRN3, and then upregulated the pulsatile secretion of GnRH to promote the onset of puberty (**Figure 4**). To the best of our knowledge, this is the first report of a positive correlation between serum ghrelin and serum MKRN3 concentrations in precocious girls.

LIMITATIONS

It should be kept in mind that prolonged frozen storage of samples for the detection of GnRH, kisspeptin, MKRN3, leptin and ghrelin may lead to some extent of degradation of hormones. Although we found that precocious girls during the COVID-19 pandemic had insufficient exercise time, excessive weight gain and excessive amount of electronic screen exposure, the small number of questionnaires (23.56%) and the lack of questionnaires from precocious girls in the 2016-2019 group prevented us from analyzing the relationship between lifestyle changes and precocious puberty in girls. Moreover, as a cross-sectional study, we could not assess whether there was a causal relationship between serum ghrelin and MKRN3 concentrations. We suggest that longitudinal studies on this topic should be carried out urgently.

CONCLUSIONS

In summary, compared with data from 2016-2019 years, the monthly incidence of precocious puberty among Shanghai school-aged girls was increased in 2020. Furthermore, a positive correlation between serum concentrations of ghrelin and MKRN3 was found, which indicated ghrelin as a potential regulatory mechanism of puberty. Longitudinal studies are needed to determine the causal relationship between ghrelin and MKRN3.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the institutional review board of Shanghai Children's Medical Center, Shanghai Jiao Tong University School of Medicine. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin. Written informed consent was obtained from the minor(s)' legal guardian/next of kin for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

YC, JC, SL and XW contributed to conception and design of the study. YT, QZ, YW, QL, XL and ZW organized the database. YC and SL performed the statistical analysis. YC and JC wrote the first draft of the manuscript. All authors contributed to manuscript revision, read, and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This study was supported by grant 81872637, grant 81903341 and grant 82173534 from the National Natural Science

Foundation of China, and grant YG2019QNA05 from the Medical and Industrial Cross Research Foundation from Shanghai Jiao Tong University.

REFERENCES

- Huang CL, Wang YM, Li XW, Ren LL, Zhao JP, Hu Y, et al. Clinical Features of Patients Infected With 2019 Novel Coronavirus in Wuhan, China. *Lancet* (2020) 395(10223):497–506. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30183-5
- Dong YY, Mo X, Hu YB, Qi X, Jiang F, Jiang ZY, et al. Epidemiological Characteristics of 2143 Pediatric Patients With 2019 Coronavirus Disease in China. *Pediatrics* (2020) 145(6):e20200702. doi: 10.1542/peds.2020-0702
- Li HM, Yu G, Duan HL, Fu JF, Qiang S. Changes in Children's Healthcare Visits During COVID-19 Pandemic in Hangzhou, China. J Pediatr (2020) 224:146–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2020.05.013
- Wang GH, Zhang YT, Zhao J, Zhang J, Jiang F. Mitigate the Effects of Home Confinement on Children During the COVID-19 Outbreak. *Lancet* (2020) 395(10228):945–7. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30547-X
- Stagi S, De Masi S, Bencini E, Losi S, Paci S, Parpagnoli M, et al. Increased Incidence of Precocious and Accelerated Puberty in Females During and After the Italian Lockdown for the Coronavirus 2019 (COVID-19) Pandemic. *Ital J Pediatr* (2020) 46(1):165. doi: 10.1186/s13052-020-00931-3
- Abreu AP, Kaiser UB. Pubertal Development and Regulation. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol (2016) 4(3):254–64. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(15)00418-0
- Sena CO, Jane LG, Holley FA. Prevalence of Cranial MRI Findings in Girls With Central Precocious Puberty: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab (2018) 31(7):701–10. doi: 10.1515/jpem-2018-0052
- 8. Cameron N. The Methods of Axiological Anthropometry. In: Fanlkner F, Tanner JM, editors. *Human Growth, 2nd Edition*. London: Plenum Press (1978).
- 9. Marshall WA, Tanner JM. Variations in Pattern of Pubertal Changes in Girls. *Arch Dis Child* (1969) 44(235):291–303. doi: 10.1136/adc.44.235.291
- Greulich WW, Pyle SI. Radiographic Atlas of Skeletal Development of the Hand and Wrist. 2nd Ed Vol. 85. Stanford: Stanford University Press (1959) p. 518–20.
- Lee SH, Joo EY, Lee JE, Jun YH, Kim MY. The Diagnostic Value of Pelvic Ultrasound in Girls With Central Precocious Puberty. *Chonnam Med J* (2016) 52(1):70–4. doi: 10.4068/cmj.2016.52.1.70
- Özgen İT, Torun E, Bilge BT, Erdem D, Elif K, Yaşar C. The Relation of Urinary Bisphenol a With Kisspeptin in Girls Diagnosed With Central Precocious Puberty and Premature Thelarche. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab (2016) 29(3):337-41. doi: 10.1515/jpem-2015-0235
- Zhang J, Zhang YT, Jiang YR, Sun WQ, Zhu Q, Ip P, et al. Effect of Sleep Duration, Diet, and Physical Activity on Obesity and Overweight Elementary School Students in Shanghai. J Sch Health (2018) 88:112–21. doi: 10.1111/josh.12583
- Chen Y, Wang YC, Ding GD, Tian Y, Zhou ZJ, Wang XM, et al. Association Between Bisphenol a Exposure and Idiopathic Central Precocious Puberty (ICPP) Among School-Aged Girls in Shanghai, China. *Environ Int* (2018) 115:410–6. doi: 10.1016/j.envint.2018.02.041
- Peper JS, Brouwer RM, van Leeuwen M, Schnack HG, Boomsma DI, Kahn RS, et al. HPG-Axis Hormones During Puberty: A Study of the Association With Hypothalamic and Pituitary Volumes. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* (2010) 35 (1):133–40. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2009.05.025
- Aydın B, Winters SJ. Sex Hormone-Binding Globulin in Children and Adolescents. J Clin Res Pediatr Endocrinol (2016) 8(1):1–12. doi: 10.4274/ jcrpe.2764
- Anderson DC. Sex-Hormone-Binding Globulin. Clin Endocrinol (1974) 3 (1):69–96. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.1974.tb03298.x
- Elmlinger MW, Kühnel W, Wormstall H, Döller PC. Reference Intervals for Testosterone, Androstenedione and SHBG Levels in Healthy Girls and Males From Birth Until Old Age. *Clin Lab* (2005) 51(11-12):625–32.
- Pinkney J, Streeter A, Hosking J, Mostazir M, Jeffery A, Wilkin T. Adiposity, Chronic Inflammation, and the Prepubertal Decline of Sex Hormone Binding Globulin in Children: Evidence for Associations With the Timing of Puberty (Earlybird 58). J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2014) 99(9):3224–32. doi: 10.1210/ jc.2013-3902

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank the participants and the parents of participants.

- Garcés C, Id O, Lasunción MA, López-Simón L, Cano B, de Oya M. Sex Hormone-Binding Globulin and Lipid Profile in Pubertal Children. *Metabolism* (2010) 59(2):166–71. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2009.06.033
- Sørensen K, Andersson AM, Skakkebaek NE, Juul A. Serum Sex Hormone-Binding Globulin Levels in Healthy Children and Girls With Precocious Puberty Before and During Gonadotropin-Releasing Hormone Agonist Treatment. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2007) 92(8):3189–96. doi: 10.1210/ jc.2007-0231
- Rabinovici J. The Differential Effects of FSH and LH on the Human Ovary. Baillieres Clin Obstet Gynaecol (1993) 7(2):263–81. doi: 10.1016/s0950-3552 (05)80130-0
- 23. Pescovitz OH, Hench KD, Barnes KM, Loriaux DL, Cutler GB Jr. Premature Thelarche and Central Precocious Puberty: The Relationship Between Clinical Presentation and the Gonadotropin Response to Luteinizing Hormone-Releasing Hormone. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (1988) 67(3):474–9. doi: 10.1210/jcem-67-3-474
- Latronico AC, Brito VN, Carel JC. Causes, Diagnosis, and Treatment of Central Precocious Puberty. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol* (2016) 4(3):265–74. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(15)00380-0
- Grandone A, Cirillo G, Sasso M, Capristo C, Tornese G, Marzuillo P, et al. MKRN3 Levels in Girls With Central Precocious Puberty and Correlation With Sexual Hormone Levels: A Pilot Study. *Endocrine* (2018) 59(1):203–8. doi: 10.1007/s12020-017-1281-x
- Grandone A, Cirillo G, Sasso M, Tornese G, Luongo C, Festa A, et al. MKRN3 Levels in Girls With Central Precocious Puberty During Gnrha Treatment: A Longitudinal Study. *Horm Res Paediatr* (2018) 90(3):190–5. doi: 10.1159/ 000493134
- Ab Khan M, Smith JEM. "Covibesity," A New Pandemic. Obes Med (2020) 19:100282. doi: 10.1016/j.obmed.2020.100282
- Krukowski RA, Ross KM. Measuring Weight With Electronic Scales in Clinical and Research Settings During the Coronavirus Disease 2019 Pandemic. Obes (Silver Spring) (2020) 28(7):1182–3. doi: 10.1002/oby.22851
- Wagner IV, Sabin MA, Pfäffle RW, Hiemisch A, Sergeyev E, Körner A, et al. Effects of Obesity on Human Sexual Development. *Nat Rev Endocrinol* (2012) 8(4):246–54. doi: 10.1038/nrendo.2011.241
- 30. Kang MJ, Oh YJ, Shim YS, Baek JW, Yang S, Hwang I. The Usefulness of Circulating Levels of Leptin, Kisspeptin, and Neurokinin B in Obese Girls With Precocious Puberty. Gynecol. *Endocrinol* (2018) 34(7):627–30. doi: 10.1080/09513590.2017.1423467
- Eshmawy MME, Aal IAA, Hawary AKE. Association of Ghrelin and Leptin With Reproductive Hormones in Constitutional Delay of Growth and Puberty. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol* (2010) 8:153. doi: 10.1186/1477-7827-8-153

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Chen, Chen, Tang, Zhang, Wang, Li, Li, Weng, Huang, Wang and Liu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Impact of Covid-19 Pandemic on the Effectiveness of Outpatient Counseling in Childhood Obesity Management

Domenico Corica¹, Alessandra Li Pomi¹, Selenia Curatola¹, Giorgia Pepe¹, Annalisa Giandalia², Angelo Tropeano¹, Angela Alibrandi³, Tommaso Aversa¹ and Malgorzata Wasniewska^{1*}

¹ Department of Human Pathology of Adulthood and Childhood "G. Barresi", University of Messina, Messina, Italy, ² Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, University of Messina, Messina, Italy, ³ Department of Economics, University of Messina, Messina, Italy

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Guilherme Guaragna-Filho, Federal University of Rio Grande do Sul. Brazil

Reviewed by:

Tiago Jeronimo Dos Santos, Instituto Hispalense de Pediatría, Spain Mona Mamdouh Hassan, Cairo University, Egypt

*Correspondence:

Malgorzata Wasniewska mwasniewska@unime.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 19 February 2022 Accepted: 02 June 2022 Published: 04 July 2022

Citation:

Corica D, Li Pomi A, Curatola S, Pepe G, Giandalia A, Tropeano A, Alibrandi A, Aversa T and Wasniewska M (2022) Impact of Covid-19 Pandemic on the Effectiveness of Outpatient Counseling in Childhood Obesity Management. Front. Endocrinol. 13:879440. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.879440 The Covid-19 pandemic drastically modified social life and lifestyle, in particular, among children and adolescents, promoting sedentary behaviors and unhealthy eating habits. The aims of this study were to assess the rate and the factors associated with outpatient drop-out in childhood obesity management, and to evaluate how the Covid-19 pandemic influenced weight status and lifestyle of children and adolescents with obesity. One hundred and forty-five children and adolescents with obesity were identified, including 80 subjects evaluated before the Covid-19 pandemic (group A) and 65 subjects in the period straddling the Covid-19 pandemic (group B). Anamnestic (family history of obesity, dietary habits, physical activity, screen time), socio-cultural (economic status, employment and schooling of parents, household composition, place of living) and clinical (weight, height, BMI, waist circumference) data were retrospectively analyzed for each subject in both groups at baseline (V0) and 12-months (V1) at in-person assessment. Glycemic and lipid profiles were assessed at V0. Drop-out rate did not differ significantly between the two groups. BMI SDS at V0 (OR=2.52; p=0.004), female sex (OR=0.41; p=0.035), and the presence of a single parent in the household (OR=5.74; p=0.033) significantly influenced drop-out in both groups. Weight loss between V0 and V1 was significantly greater among group A patients compared to group B (p=0.031). In group B, hours spent in physical activity significantly decreased from V0 to V1, being significantly lower than group A at V1; on the contrary, screen time significantly increased in the same period. The consumption of sugary drinks and snacks was significantly greater in group B than group A at V1. Our study documented that the Covid-19 pandemic, although not affecting the drop-out rate of obese children in a follow-up program, negatively influenced lifestyle and reduced the effectiveness of outpatient counseling in childhood obesity treatment.

Keywords: childhood obesity, Covid-19, physical activity, lifestyle, nutrition
INTRODUCTION

The coronavirus disease (Covid-19), caused by Sars-CoV-2, firstly reported in late December 2019 in Wuhan, China, quickly became an emerging, rapidly evolving situation, spreading inevitably outside China and the Asian continent, and was declared a pandemic in March 2020. Governments of several countries worldwide enforced emergency measures and a lockdown policy, including closure of schools and many other activities, to slow infection spread down. In Italy, the Government imposed a lockdown from March 9, 2020 to May 4, 2020, which was followed by a gradual restart of activities, although school activities continued with distance learning through to the end of the school year, and most extracurricular activities previously attended by children did not restart after closing. These safety measures radically modified social life and drastically changed people's lifestyle, in particular for children and adolescents (1). Youth lifestyle behaviors were significantly affected due to extended school closures and home confinement, leading to a reduction in physical activity in favor of a sedentary lifestyle, particularly impacting children and adolescents with obesity. A sedentary lifestyle, characterized by increased time spent watching TV or playing video games, promotes unhealthy behaviors which favor the onset or worsening of obesity, such as high consumption of fast food and sugar-sweetened beverages, as well as sleep disorders (2, 3). These issues can be further exacerbated by stress due to isolation, which can result in increased food intake, with a particular focus on highly palatable foods (sugary, salty and high-calorie foods), an increase in emotional instability and in overall worsening of the quality of life (2). On the other hand, it has been suggested that lockdown and social distancing policies may have resulted in a reduction in the risk of developing or worsening obesity as a result of reduced out-of-home meal occasions (restaurants and fast food) (4, 5). Therefore, the effects of the Covid-19 pandemic on pediatric weight status are not completely clear. Moreover, many studies have based their results on questionnaires or telephone interviews rather than in-person assessments. In this scenario, the effectiveness of the outpatient approach for pediatric obesity, already burdened by a high drop-out rate, may decrease due to restrictions imposed by the Covid-19 pandemic.

The aims of this study were to assess the rate and the factors associated with outpatient drop-out by comparing two groups of children and adolescents with obesity evaluated before and during the Covid-19 pandemic, and to evaluate how the Covid-19 pandemic influenced the weight status and lifestyle of these subjects.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Population

This is a single-center, observational, retrospective study. Patient inclusion criteria were age ranged between 5 and 16 years, and BMI \geq +2 standard deviation score (SDS) at baseline, in

accordance with the definition of obesity by the World Health Organization (WHO) for children from the age of 5 years. Exclusion criteria were genetic and/or endocrine causes of obesity, chronic diseases, and chronic pharmacological therapies.

Children and adolescents, referred to our pediatric endocrinology outpatient clinic for obesity, who completed annual follow-ups, were divided into two groups: group A included subjects evaluated before the Covid-19 pandemic and group B included subjects followed in the period straddling the Covid-19 pandemic. Specifically, each subject belonging to the two groups was evaluated retrospectively at a first in-person evaluation (V0) and at a 12-month follow-up in-person visit (V1). Group A patients underwent V0 assessment between October and November 2018 and V1 evaluation between October and November 2019, while patients of group B underwent V0 between January and February 2020 and V1 evaluation between January and February 2021.

Anamnestic Assessment

Anamnestic information was obtained by evaluating both faceto-face interview with parents, conducted during appointments, and medical records. In particular, information regarding the following was collected: family history for obesity in parents, socio-cultural aspects including household composition (complete or incomplete with separated parents), employment of both parents (yes or no), family economic status (low/ moderate or high status) estimated indirectly in relation to the employment of one or both parents, level of education of both parents (years of school attendance including university), place of living (town or village). In addition, for each patient assessed, at both V0 and V1, information regarding the following was collected: hours spent daily on video games, TV, tablets, smartphone (screen time), the practice of physical activity (yes or no) and the number of hours per week spent on physical activity, hours of sleep during the school period and during the weekend, number of daily meals, sugar-sweetened beverage intake frequency (every day, once a week, many times a week, very rarely, never), snack intake frequency (every day, once a week, many times a week, very rarely, never), improvement in eating habits (yes or no) between V0 and V1 defined in relation to change in consumption of snacks and sugary drinks reported by parents during the face-to-face interview at V1.

Clinical and Biochemical Evaluation

Clinical information was obtained from medical records. At V0 and V1, a physical evaluation was performed according to standardized procedures, including assessment of height, weight, BMI, BMI SDS, waist circumference (WC), WC-to-height ratio (WHtR), systolic and diastolic blood pressure (6). Weight loss was defined as a reduction in BMI SDS > 0.25 (7).

At V0, children of both groups underwent fasting biochemical assessments (oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT), lipid profile, thyroid, kidney and liver function tests, c-reactive protein), according to methodology previously described (8). Homeostasis model assessment of insulin resistance (HOMA-IR) was calculated as fasting insulin (mIU/L) × fasting glucose (mg/ dL)/405 (9).

Statistical Analysis

Numerical data were expressed as mean and standard deviations score (SDS) and the categorical variables as absolute frequencies and percentages. The parametric approach was used since most numerical variables were not normally distributed, as verified by the Kolmogorov Smirnov test.

To compare group A and group B features, the Mann Whitney test was applied with reference to numerical parameters, and the Chi Square test with reference to categorical variables both at V0 and V1.

To perform intra-group comparison analysis between two timepoints (V0 and V1), both in group A and group B separately, we applied the Wilcoxon test for numerical parameters and Mc Nemar's test for dichotomous variables. Multivariate logistic stepwise regression models were estimated to identify significant predictors of drop-out (model covariates: belonging to group A or B, obesity of mother and father, economic status, education level of parents, family structure, parents' employment, place of living, sex, and age, pubertal stage, BMI SDS at V0) and predictors of weight loss (model covariates: belonging to group A or B, obesity of mother and father, economic status, education level of parents, family structure, parents' employment, place of living, sex, age and pubertal stage at V0, and hours of sleep, sugar-sweetened beverage and snack intake frequency, screen time and practice and weekly hours of physical activity at V1). The results were expressed as Odds Ratio (OR), 95% confidence interval and p-value.

Statistical analysis was performed using IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 22 (Armonk, NY, IBM Corp.). A *p*-value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

One hundred and forty-five children and adolescents with obesity were evaluated, including 80 subjects in group A and 65 subjects in group B. Subjects of the two groups were matched for age, sex, pubertal stage, BMI and BMI SDS (**Table 1**). Thyroid, liver and kidney function tests were normal in the entire population. At V0, there were no significant differences between the two groups with regard to clinical and biochemical parameters (**Table 1**). Socio-cultural and lifestyle characteristics of the two groups at V0 and V1 are shown in **Table 2**. Subjects who continued outpatient follow-up, reevaluated at V1, were 43.8% for group A and 35.4% for group B. The drop-out rate did not differ significantly between the two groups (56.2% vs 64.6%; p=0.410). BMI SDS at V0, female sex, and the presence of a single parent in the household (incomplete) significantly influenced drop-out in both groups (**Table 3**).

Intra-group comparison analysis between the V0 and V1 evaluations documented a significant decrease in BMI SDS in group A (3.0 ± 0.57 vs 2.59 ± 0.7 ; p=0.008), while among group B patients BMI SDS did not change significantly (3.12 ± 1.07 vs

TABLE 1 | Comparison analysis between group A and group B on baseline clinical and biochemical parameters.

	Group A (n=80)	Group B (n=65)	р
Age (year)	11.6 ± 2.3	11.8 ± 2.7	0.738
Sex (male/female)	36/44	29/36	0.963
Pubertal/pre-pubertal	55/25	43/22	0.740
Height SDS	0.36 +/- 1.066	0.38 +/- 1.14	0.913
BMI (kg/m²)	29.75 +/- 4.37	29.79 +/- 4.76	0.962
BMI SDS	3.00 +/- 0.57	3.12 +/- 1.07	0.455
WC (cm)	87.56 +/- 9.41	89.78 +/- 12.01	0.271
WHtR	0.89 +/- 0.07	0.89 +/- 0.08	0.924
SBP (mmHg)	114.80 +/- 11.84	116.26 +/- 12.43	0.510
DBP (mmHg)	71.31 +/- 10.66	71.16 +/- 10.94	0.940
Fasting glucose (mg/dl)	94.29 +/- 7.31	94.69 +/- 10.87	0.798
Fasting insulin (mIU/L)	23.49 +/- 16.78	20.85 +/- 10.60	0.250
HbA1c	5.44 +/- 0.38	5.41 +/- 0.41	0.061
2h-glucose (mg/dl)	123.76 +/- 20.64	122.32 +/- 29.46	0.742
2h-insulin (mIU/L)	127.07 +/- 100.22	104.68 +/- 60.95	0.100
HOMA-IR	5.52 +/- 4.02	4.91 +/- 2.63	0.407
Total cholesterol (mg/dl)	168.11 +/- 26.54	174.51 +/- 29.52	0.177
HDL cholesterol (mg/dl)	47.77 +/- 10.17	51.14 +/- 12.49	0.083
LDL cholesterol (mg/dl)	96.36 +/- 22.71	100.12 +/- 29.77	0.347
Triglycerides (mg/dl)	97.09 +/- 48.81	90.52 +/- 37.73	0.363
TSH (µUI/ml)	3.08 +/- 1.35	2.68 +/- 1.42	0.087
FT4 (ng/dl)	1.26 +/- 0.15	1.22 +/- 0.14	0.144
ALT (U/L)	24.59 +/- 28.58	23.34 +/- 15.70	0.739
AST (U/L)	26.56 +/- 31.15	21.00 +/- 6.89	0.124
GGT (U/L)	15.16 +/- 7.02	14.75 +/- 8.23	0.795
Uric acid (mg/dl)	4.92 +/- 1.25	5.05 +/- 1.16	0.516
CRP (mg/dl)	3.25 +/- 7.54	2.89 +/- 3.16	0.701

Subjects evaluated before the Covid-19 pandemic (Group A); subjects evaluated in the period straddling the Covid-19 pandemic (Group B), Body mass index (BMI), standard deviation score (SDS), waist circumference (WC), WC-to-height ratio (WHtR), systolic blood pressure (SBP), diastolic blood pressure (DBP), alanine aminotransferase (ALT), aspartate aminotransferase (AST), Gamma-Glutamyl Transferase (GGT), glycated haemoglobin (HbA1c), 120-minutes OGTT glucose levels (2h-glucose), 120-minutes OGTT insulin levels (2h-insulin), model assessment of insulin resistance (HOMA-IR), free thyroxine (FT4), thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH), c-reactive protein (CRP).

TABLE 2 | Comparison analysis between groups on baseline (2A) and 12-month (2B) anamnestic assessment.

0	
~	А

	Group A (n=80)	Group B (n=65)	p-value
Physical activity (yes/no)	50/30	40/25	0.608
Physical activity (hours)	2.22 +/- 2.35	1.69 +/- 1.36	0.091
Screen time (hours)	3.81 +/- 2.23	3.25 +/- 1.58	0.098
Number of meals	5.05 +/- 0.70	4.68 +/- 0.86	0.007
Sleep school (hours)	8.33 +/- 1.41	7.74 +/- 0.94	0.005
Sleep weekend (hours)	9.35 +/- 1.42	8.60 +/- 1.09	0.001
Age of obesity onset (years)	5.67 +/- 2.65	6.27 +/- 2.88	0.214
Obesity of mother (yes/no)	42/38	35/30	0.774
Obesity of father (yes/no)	39/41	27/38	0.096
Family economic status (Low/moderate-high)	32/48	26/39	0.738
Household composition (complete/incomplete)	63/17	62/3	0.004
Employment of mother (yes/no)	35/45	25/40	0.410
Employment of father (yes/no)	63/17	50/15	0.291
Place of living (town/village)	39/41	29/36	0.620
Mother's education	11.22 +/- 3.37	9.90 +/-2.96	0.019
(school years)			
Father's education	11.22 +/- 3.64	10.21+/- 3.10	0.091
(school years)			

	Group A (n=35)	Group B (n=24)	p-value
Physical activity (yes/no)	20/15	2/22	0.001
Physical activity (hours)	1.82 +/- 1.54	0.46 +/- 1.06	0.011
Screen time (hours)	2.76 +/- 1.53	5.45 +/- 2.11	0.000
Number of meals	4.97 +/- 0.17	4.81 +/- 1.12	0.519
Sleep school (hours)	8.45 +/- 0.95	7.50 +/- 1.05	0.002
Sleep weekend (hours)	9.40 +/- 1.31	8.35 +/- 1.18	0.004

Subjects evaluated before the Covid-19 pandemic (Group A); subjects followed in the period straddling the Covid-19 pandemic (Group B).

2.97 \pm 1.19; p=0.454) and BMI in absolute value increased significantly (29.79 \pm 4.76 vs 30.98 \pm 4.82; p=0.003). Moreover, comparison analysis between the groups documented a significantly higher BMI SDS among group B patients compared with those belonging to group A at V1 (30.98 \pm 4.82 vs 28.51 \pm 4.13; p=0.041). Consistently, weight loss was significantly greater among group A patients compared to group B at V1 (67.6% vs 32.4%; p=0.031).

Hours spent in physical activity decreased significantly in group B from V0 to V1 (1.69 ± 1.36 vs 0.46 ± 1.06 ; p= 0.001), whereas it did not change significantly between the two assessments in group A (2.22 ± 2.35 vs 1.82 ± 1.54 ; p= 0.068). Moreover, hours spent in physical activity, which were not significantly different between the two groups at V0 (**Table 2A**), were significantly greater among group A subjects compared to subjects of group B at V1 (**Table 2B**).

In addition, the number of subjects who had engaged in regular physical activity between V0 and V1 was significantly higher in group A than group B (**Table 2B**).

Screen time decreased significantly in group A from V0 to V1 $(3.81 \pm 2.23 \text{ hours vs } 2.76 \pm 1.53; \text{ p}=0.000)$, whereas it increased significantly in group B between the two assessments $(3.25 \pm 1.58 \text{ vs } 5.45 \pm 2.11 \text{ hours; p}=0.002)$. Moreover, screen time, which was not significantly different between the two groups at V0 (**Table 2A**), was significantly greater among patients in group B at V1 evaluation (**Table 2B**).

Improvement in eating habits between V0 and V1 was greater in group A than in group B (86% vs 35%, p=0.000). Consistently, the intragroup comparison analysis showed a significant reduction in snack and sugary drink intake between V0 and V1 in group A, whereas no significant difference was documented in group B

TABLE 3 | Stepwise logistic regression analysis for drop-out and weight loss outcomes.

Predictors	OR	95%Cl	0
Fredictors	on	337001	p
	DROP-OUT		
Sex (Female)	0.41	0.18 - 0.94	0.035
Household composition (incomplete)	5.74	1.15 - 28.58	0.033
BMI SDS (V0)	2.52	1.35 - 4.70	0.004
	WEIGHT LOSS		
Group (A)	0.16	0.32 - 0.82	0.028
Weekly hours of physical activity (V1)	2.27	1.05 – 4.96	0.038

Odds ratio (OR), 95% confidence interval (95%CI), baseline assessment (V0), 12-month assessment (V1) subjects evaluated before the Covid-19 pandemic (Group A).

TABLE 4 | Intragroup comparison analysis concerning snack (4A) and sugar-sweetened beverage intake (4B) between baseline (V0) and 12-month evaluation (V1).

		Group A			Group B	
INTAKE FREQUENCY	V0 (N=80)	V1 (N=35)	р	V0 (N=65)	V1 (N=23)	р
Never	3.8%	25.7%	0.000	9.3%	21.7%	0.125
Every day	27.5%	8.6%	0.024	44.6%	26.1%	0.121
Once a week	28.8%	2.9%	0.002	13.8%	17.4%	0.677
Many times a week	21.2%	11.4%	0.212	18.5%	30.4%	0.236
Very rarely	18.8%	51.4%	0.000	13.8%	4.4%	0.224
4B						
		Group A			Group B	

	Group A			Group B		
INTAKE FREQUENCY	V0 (N=80)	V1 (N=35)	р	V0 (N=65)	V1 (N=23)	р
Never	7.5%	34.3%	0.000	15.4%	17.4%	0.822
Every day	25%	5.7%	0.016	27.7%	26.8%	0.934
Once a week	22.5%	2.9%	0.009	18.4%	4.3%	0.102
Many times a week	11.2%	8.6%	0.675	18.4%	34.3%	0.119
Very rarely	33.8%	48.6%	0.135	20%	17.4%	0.787

Chi-square test was applied.

Subjects evaluated before the Covid-19 pandemic (Group A); subjects followed in the period straddling the Covid-19 pandemic (Group B).

(**Table 4**). Moreover, comparison analysis between the groups documented a significantly more frequent consumption of sugary drinks and snacks in group B compared to group A at V1 (**Table 5**).

Hours spent in physical activity (OR=2.27, p=0.038) and belonging to group A (OR=0.16, p=0.028) were the only factors influencing weight loss (**Table 3**).

DISCUSSION

The Covid-19 pandemic is causing significant health, social, and economic implications that have drastically modified social life.

These include the interruption of regular school attendance and extracurricular activities for children and adolescents, which has led to an increase in sedentary behaviors and unhealthy eating habits, especially during the lockdown period. The pandemic has promoted a sedentary lifestyle and high consumption of fast food and sugar-sweetened beverages (10). Moreover, Xiang et al. documented a drastic decrease in median time spent in physical activity, showing a 435 min/week reduction on average, and a significant increase in screen time during the Covid-19 pandemic (11). Unhealthy diet, excessive screen time, insufficient time spent on physical activity and nightly rest are known behavioral risk factors for the onset or worsening of obesity (12).

TABLE 5 | Between-group comparison analysis regarding sugar-sweetened beverage (5A) and snack (5B) intake between baseline (V0) and 12-month evaluation (V1).

		VO			V1	
INTAKE FREQUENCY	Group A (N=80)	Group B (N=65)	р	Group A (N=35)	Group B (n=23)	р
Never	7.5%	15.4%	0.132	34.3%	17.3%	0.160
Every day	25%	27.7%	0.714	5.7%	26.8%	0.025
Once a week	22.5%	18.4%	0.545	2.9%	4.3%	0.771
Many times a week	11.2%	18.4%	0.221	8.6%	34.3%	0.015
Very rarely	33.8%	20.0%	0.065	48.6%	17.4%	0.017

5B

_ -

	V0			V1			
INTAKE FREQUENCY	Group A (N=80)	Group B (N=65)	р	Group A (N=35)	Group B (n=23)	р	
Never	3.8%	9.3%	0.176	25.7%	21.7%	0.729	
Every day	27.5%	44.6%	0.033	8.6%	26.1%	0.074	
Once a week	28.8%	13.8%	0.031	2.9%	17.4%	0.057	
Many times a week	21.2%	18.5%	0.687	11.4%	30.4%	0.073	
Very rarely	18.8%	13.8%	0.422	51.4%	4.3%	0.000	

Chi-square test was applied.

Subjects evaluated before the Covid-19 pandemic (Group A); subjects followed in the period straddling the Covid-19 pandemic (Group B).

Our study documented that the Covid-19 pandemic negatively influenced the lifestyle of children and adolescents with obesity in outpatient follow-up, promoting a worsening severity of overweight. In our study, although there was no increased drop-out rate during the pandemic period, a significant reduction in time spent on physical activity and a significant increase in screen time and junk food consumption was documented after one year of follow-up among patients followed during the pandemic period compared to those in follow-up before the Covid-19 pandemic.

With a telephone interview conducted three weeks after the beginning of lockdown in Italy, Pietrobelli et al. assessed the implications of "staying home" on food intake and daily habits in children followed at their clinics, to document whether indeed young people with obesity show unfavorable trends in lifestyle behaviors when away from structured school activities and confined to their homes. Specifically, the authors documented a significant increase in the number of meals consumed per day and an increased intake of crisps, red meat, and sugary drinks as reported by parents during the telephone interview. In addition, sleep and screen time had increased significantly, while sports time had decreased significantly (1).

Similarly, in another study based on data from a questionnaire completed online by parents, Pujia et al. reported a significant increase in consumption of "comfort food", including packaged sweet snacks, chocolate, ice cream, dessert, but also processed meat, bread, pizza, and bakery products, in 439 Italian children and adolescents. Among these subjects, approximately 60% reported an increase in body weight, which was significantly greater in adolescents than in children (13). Consistently, Appelhans et al. demonstrated a significant weight gain among low-income, racial minority, obese children followed during the Covid-19 period compared to those followed in the pre-pandemic period at 12-month assessment (14).

These findings support the thesis that the Covid-19 pandemic exacerbated the risk factors for the so-called "summer breakassociated weight gain" due to school closures, which, in this case, was imposed during the lockdown (15). Previous studies highlighted that weight control programs are less effective among youth while they are at home than when they are engaged at school. A study by von Hippel et al. analyzed the effects of school versus non-school environments on overweight in childhood, demonstrating that BMI gain was faster during summer vacations compared to the in-session school year (16). This finding may be due to the opportunity provided by school environments for structure and routines for mealtimes, physical activity, and sleep schedule, the three predominant factors that, if altered, may increase the risk of obesity (17).

Worldwide, a significant reduction in daily physical activity has been demonstrated since the pandemic onset (18). Moreover, besides contributing to weight gain, the drastic reduction in physical activity during the pandemic and the concomitant overuse of electronic devices contributed to a significant increase in diagnoses of sleep disorders and psychiatric disorders, such as anxiety and depression, among children and adolescents (19, 20).

We documented that physical activity was the main factor influencing weight status and that the Covid-19 pandemic resulted in a significant reduction in time spent on physical activity among children with obesity. Performing physical activity, even at home, plays a crucial role in containing the increase of childhood obesity. Children and adolescents should perform 1 hour of daily physical activity of moderate to vigorous intensity to promote and maintain good health and weight in the normal range; in addition, activities to strengthen the musculoskeletal system should be included at least 3 times per week. In our study, patients followed at the outpatient clinic in the pandemic period had performed significantly fewer hours of physical activity than patients followed in the prepandemic period at the annual follow-up. In this pandemic period, physical activity at home has to be promoted, using the same electronic devices that are often the cause of sedentariness, with online physical activity classes, exercise apps on mobile devices, or video games that have a physical activity component.

With regard to the effects of the Covid-19 pandemic on the social life of children and adolescents, it should be considered that, besides the period of strict lockdown, the resumption of school and extracurricular activities has been gradual, and to date in many cases have not returned to pre-pandemic levels. Due to the persistence of the Covid-19 pandemic and related restrictions, school closures and even restrictions on social activities for children and adolescents have frequently reoccurred over the last two years, promoting an unhealthy lifestyle. Moreover, a regular outpatient follow-up of children and adolescents with obesity, which often requires closely-timed visits to be effective, has been made difficult by the abovementioned restrictions. Elbarbary et al., in an International Cross-Sectional Electronic Survey distributed to the global network of endocrine societies, estimated a 41.5% delay in obesity diagnosis and a perceived worsening in obesity management in 83% of cases due to the COVID-19 pandemic (21). Our study showed that, although outpatient follow-up would not appear to have been compromised, its efficacy was lower in obese patients followed during the pandemic period compared with those followed in the pre-pandemic period, due to the increase of an unhealthy lifestyle characterized by a significant reduction in physical activity and increased time spent watching TV, playing video games and using electronic devices, and by an increased consumption of junk food. Continuity of care is a key aspect in the treatment of obesity, so discontinuation or limitation of outpatient follow-up and of activities that promote movement due to pandemic restrictions has negatively affected care in childhood obesity. In this context, telemedicine, if properly regulated, could be an effective solution to continue the follow-up of obese patients, relying on a chronic model of care. This option will need to be considered if restrictions are to continue, having the potential to play a key role in long-term multidisciplinary management of childhood obesity (22, 23). The results of our study may not fully reflect the weight status of individuals who are not similarly followed by professional medical care providers, since only patients who

attended our pediatric endocrinology clinic before and during the pandemic were included in the study. Therefore, the study results should be considered in light of this possible limitation. The major strengths of this study consist in the study design, carried out by comparing two homogeneous groups assessed before and during the pandemic, and in the sourcing of data from in-person evaluation.

CONCLUSIONS

Our study documented that the Covid-19 pandemic, although not affecting the drop-out rate of obese children, negatively influenced lifestyle, causing a decrease of time spent in physical activity and a significant worsening of eating habits, ultimately reducing the effectiveness of outpatient counseling. The persistent restriction of school and extracurricular activities due to the Covid-19 pandemic is likely to worsen obesity and to further reduce the effectiveness of the outpatient approach to treating childhood obesity. Continuity of care is crucial for successful treatment of childhood obesity. Strategies to manage unhealthy weight gain are urgently needed in the context of Covid-19. With this in mind, institutions and parents should recognize this growing problem by promoting physical activity and healthy eating at school and in extracurricular settings, by supporting telemedicine when necessary, and by encouraging anti-Sars-Cov-2 vaccination in children and adolescents.

REFERENCES

- Pietrobelli A, Pecoraro L, Ferruzzi A, Heo M, Faith M, Zoller T, et al. Effects of COVID-19 Lockdown on Lifestyle Behaviors in Children With Obesity Living in Verona, Italy: A Longitudinal Study. *Obes (Silver Spring)* (2020) 28 (8):1382–5. doi: 10.1002/oby.22861
- Nogueira-de-Almeida CA, Del Ciampo LA, Ferraz IS, Del Ciampo IRL, Contini AA, Ued FDV. COVID-19 and Obesity in Childhood and Adolescence: A Clinical Review. J Pediatr (Rio J) (2020) 96(5):546–58. doi: 10.1016/j.jped.2020.07.001
- Valenzise M, D'Amico F, Cucinotta U, Lugara C, Zirilli G, Zema A, et al. The Lockdown Effects on a Pediatric Obese Population in the COVID-19 Era. *Ital J Pediatr* (2021) 47(1):209. doi: 10.1186/s13052-021-01142-0
- Workman J. How Much May COVID-19 School Closures Increase Childhood Obesity? Obes (Silver Spring) (2020) 28(10):1787. doi: 10.1002/oby.22960
- Wang X, Lei SM, Le S, Yang Y, Zhang B, Yao W, et al. Bidirectional Influence of the COVID-19 Pandemic Lockdowns on Health Behaviors and Quality of Life Among Chinese Adults. *Int J Environ Res Public Health* (2020) 17 (15):5575. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17155575
- Corica D, Aversa T, Valenzise M, Messina MF, Alibrandi A, De Luca F, et al. Does Family History of Obesity, Cardiovascular, and Metabolic Diseases Influence Onset and Severity of Childhood Obesity? *Front Endocrinol* (*Lausanne*) (2018) 9:187. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2018.00187
- Valerio G, Maffeis C, Saggese G, Ambruzzi MA, Balsamo A, Bellone S, et al. Diagnosis, Treatment and Prevention of Pediatric Obesity: Consensus Position Statement of the Italian Society for Pediatric Endocrinology and Diabetology and the Italian Society of Pediatrics. *Ital J Pediatr* (2018) 44 (1):88. doi: 10.1186/s13052-018-0525-6
- Corica D, Oreto L, Pepe G, Calabro MP, Longobardo L, Morabito L, et al. Precocious Preclinical Cardiovascular Sonographic Markers in Metabolically Healthy and Unhealthy Childhood Obesity. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)* (2020) 11:56. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.00056

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

Ethical review and approval was not required for the study with human participants in accordance with local legislation and institutional requirements for retrospective studies, but notification was sent to the Local Ethics Committee regarding the retrospective evaluation of the data. Written informed consent from the participants' legal guardian was not required for retrospective study in accordance with national legislation and institutional requirements. The study was conducted according to the guidelines of the Declaration of Helsinki.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

DC and MW contributed to conception and design of the study. AL, AT, AG, SC performed literature research. DC, TA, GP, SC, AL organized the database and prepared the tables. AA performed statistical analysis. DC, AL and MW wrote the first draft of the manuscript. DC and MW wrote the final version of the manuscript. All authors contributed to manuscript revision, read, and approved the submitted version.

- Corica D, Zusi C, Olivieri F, Marigliano M, Piona C, Fornari E, et al. Vitamin D Affects Insulin Sensitivity and Beta-Cell Function in Obese non-Diabetic Youths. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2019) 181(4):439–50. doi: 10.1530/EJE-19-0369
- An R. Projecting the Impact of the Coronavirus Disease-2019 Pandemic on Childhood Obesity in the United States: A Microsimulation Model. J Sport Health Sci (2020) 9(4):302–12. doi: 10.1016/j.jshs.2020.05.006
- Xiang M, Zhang Z, Kuwahara K. Impact of COVID-19 Pandemic on Children and Adolescents' Lifestyle Behavior Larger Than Expected. *Prog Cardiovasc Dis* (2020) 63(4):531–2. doi: 10.1016/j.pcad.2020.04.013
- Woo Baidal JA, Chang J, Hulse E, Turetsky R, Parkinson K, Rausch JC. Zooming Toward a Telehealth Solution for Vulnerable Children With Obesity During Coronavirus Disease 2019. *Obes (Silver Spring)* (2020) 28(7):1184–6. doi: 10.1002/oby.22860
- Pujia R, Ferro Y, Maurotti S, Khoory J, Gazzaruso C, Pujia A, et al. The Effects of COVID-19 on the Eating Habits of Children and Adolescents in Italy: A Pilot Survey Study. *Nutrients* (2021) 13(8):2641. doi: 10.3390/ nu13082641
- Appelhans BM, French SA, Martin MA, Lui K, Janssen I. Attenuated Efficacy of Pediatric Obesity Treatment During the COVID-19 Pandemic. *Obes (Silver Spring)* (2022) 30(1):45–9. doi: 10.1002/oby.23313
- Rundle AG, Park Y, Herbstman JB, Kinsey EW, Wang YC. COVID-19-Related School Closings and Risk of Weight Gain Among Children. Obes (Silver Spring) (2020) 28(6):1008–9. doi: 10.1002/oby.22813
- von Hippel PT, Powell B, Downey DB, Rowland NJ. The Effect of School on Overweight in Childhood: Gain in Body Mass Index During the School Year and During Summer Vacation. *Am J Public Health* (2007) 97(4):696–702. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2005.080754
- von Hippel PT, Workman J. From Kindergarten Through Second Grade, U.S. Children's Obesity Prevalence Grows Only During Summer Vacations. *Obes* (Silver Spring) (2016) 24(11):2296–300. doi: 10.1002/oby.21613

- Tison GH, Avram R, Kuhar P, Abreau S, Marcus GM, Pletcher MJ, et al. Worldwide Effect of COVID-19 on Physical Activity: A Descriptive Study. *Ann Intern Med* (2020) 173(9):767–70. doi: 10.7326/M20-2665
- Tandon PS, Zhou C, Johnson AM, Gonzalez ES, Kroshus E. Association of Children's Physical Activity and Screen Time With Mental Health During the COVID-19 Pandemic. JAMA Netw Open (2021) 4(10):e2127892. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.27892
- Zhang Y, Wu X, Tao S, Li S, Ma L, Yu Y, et al. Associations Between Screen Time, Physical Activity, and Depressive Symptoms During the 2019 Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) Outbreak Among Chinese College Students. *Environ Health Prev Med* (2021) 26(1):107. doi: 10.1186/s12199-021-01025-0
- 21. Elbarbary NS, Dos Santos TJ, de Beaufort C, Wiltshire E, Pulungan A, Scaramuzza AE. The Challenges of Managing Pediatric Diabetes and Other Endocrine Disorders During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Results From an International Cross-Sectional Electronic Survey. *Front Endocrinol* (*Lausanne*) (2021) 12:735554. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.735554
- O'Hara VM, Johnston SV, Browne NT. The Paediatric Weight Management Office Visit via Telemedicine: Pre- to Post-COVID-19 Pandemic. Pediatr Obes (2020) 15(8):e12694. doi: 10.1111/ijpo.12694
- 23. Pecoraro P, Galle F, Muscariello E, Di Mauro V, Daniele O, Forte S, et al. A Telehealth Intervention for Ensuring Continuity of Care of Pediatric Obesity

During the CoVid-19 Lockdown in Italy. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis (2021) 31(12):3502–7. doi: 10.1016/j.numecd.2021.09.026

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Corica, Li Pomi, Curatola, Pepe, Giandalia, Tropeano, Alibrandi, Aversa and Wasniewska. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Tommaso Aversa, University of Messina, Italy

REVIEWED BY Giorgio Radetti, Ospedale di Bolzano, Italy Artur Bossowski, Medical University of Bialystok, Poland

*CORRESPONDENCE Maria E. Street mariaelisabeth.street@unipr.it

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Pediatric Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

RECEIVED 05 April 2022 ACCEPTED 18 July 2022 PUBLISHED 05 August 2022

CITATION

Gnocchi M, D'Alvano T, Lattanzi C, Messina G, Petraroli M, Patianna VD, Esposito S and Street ME (2022) Current evidence on the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on paediatric endocrine conditions. *Front. Endocrinol.* 13:913334. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.913334

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Gnocchi, D'Alvano, Lattanzi, Messina, Petraroli, Patianna, Esposito and Street. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author (s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Current evidence on the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on paediatric endocrine conditions

Margherita Gnocchi, Tiziana D'Alvano, Claudia Lattanzi, Giulia Messina, Maddalena Petraroli, Viviana D. Patianna, Susanna Esposito and Maria E. Street*

Unit of Paediatrics, Department of Medicine and Surgery, University of Parma, and University Hospital of Parma, Parma, Italy

Severe acute respiratory coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) interacts with the host cells through its spike protein by binding to the membrane enzyme angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) and it can have a direct effect on endocrine function as ACE2 is expressed in many glands and organs with endocrine function. Furthermore, several endocrine conditions have features that might increase the risk of SARS-CoV-2 infection and the severity and course of the infection, as obesity for the underlying chronic increased inflammatory status and metabolic derangement, and for the possible changes in thyroid function. Vitamin D has immunomodulatory effects, and its deficiency has negative effects. Adrenal insufficiency and excess glucocorticoids affect immune conditions also besides metabolism. This review aims to analyze the rationale for the fear of direct effects of SARS-Cov-2 on endocrinological disorders, to study the influence of pre-existing endocrine disorders on the course of the infection, and the actual data in childhood. Currently, data concerning endocrine function during the pandemic are scarce in childhood and for many aspects definite conclusions cannot be drawn, however, data on properly managed patients with adrenal insufficiency at present are re-assuring. Too little attention has been paid to thyroid function and further studies may be helpful. The available data support a need for adequate vitamin D supplementation, caution in obese patients, monitoring of thyroid function in hospitalized patients, and confirm the need for an awareness campaign for the increased frequency of precocious puberty, rapidly progressive puberty and precocious menarche. The changes in lifestyle, the increased incidence of overweight and the change in the timing of puberty lead also to hypothesize that there might be an increase in ovarian dysfunction, as for example polycystic ovarian disease, and metabolic derangements in the next years, and in the future we might be facing fertility problems. This prompts to be cautious and maintain further surveillance.

KEYWORDS

lockdown, thyroid, vitamin D, obesity, precocious puberty, hyponatraemia, COVID-19, endocrinology

Introduction

Since December 2019 the world has been facing one of the most challenging health issues of the last centuries. Starting from Wuhan, in the Hubei province in China, a new unknown pathogen later identified as the severe acute respiratory coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) began to spread, causing an outbreak of severe atypical pneumonia (1).

In early January 2020 the causative virus of this new emerging illness was isolated and identified by the Chinese Center for Disease Control: the 2019 novel coronavirus was a positive-sense, single-stranded, enveloped RNA virus that belongs to β -coronavirus group, subfamily *Orthocoronavirinae* (family Coronaviridae) (2). Two other human β -coronaviruses have been responsible in recent years for severe lung infections: the severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS-CoV) and the Middle East respiratory syndrome (MERS-CoV) coronavirus. Nevertheless, most coronaviruses known to date, such as Human coronaviruses 229E, NL63, OC43, and HKU1 are common agents of mild upper respiratory tract infections that mainly affect young children (3).

Despite COVID-19 infection tends to have a milder clinical course in the pediatric population with much less pulmonary disease and fewer deaths compared to adults, in some cases systemic involvement due to an abnormal hyperinflammatory response can be observed (4).

According to the WHO by October 2021 the incidence of COVID-19 infection in children under five years of age accounted for 2% of reported global cases, 7% between 5 to 14 years and 15% in adolescents and young adults (15 to 24 years) with a much lower mortality rate than in adults being the percentage of total deaths less than 0,5% of reported global deaths for subjects below the age of 25 years (5).

These data, however, have changed in recent months. In Italy, a significant increase of COVID-19 infection rate in the population 5-11 years with respect to other school-age children has been reported since October 2021, then followed by an overall increased incidence of the disease in older children and adolescents reported in the last weeks. Moreover, it is worth noting that the hospitalization rate in children under five years of age has strongly risen (> 10 hospitalizations per 1,000,000 inhabitants) with a less significant increase in the 16-19 age group in the last period (6). This must be kept in mind when considering the actual evidence in childhood as one must be aware that we still lack a complete figure of the effects of COVID-19 in the pediatric population, despite the recent increase of infection rates in this group. Moreover, given the higher mortality rate and overall worst outcome in adults suffering from chronic diseases, the question regarding a possible greater vulnerability in high-risk pediatric groups, such as children with underlying medical conditions, has arisen over time.

However, currently, strong evidence between specific chronic conditions and severe COVID-19 illness in children is limited, although it is well known that several medical conditions are known to be able to increase SARS-CoV-2 infection severity, such as inherited or acquired immunodeficiencies, immunosuppression, cancer, neurologic, endocrine and metabolic conditions. More generally, patients with multimorbidity affected by genetic diseases (i.e. Down syndrome), cardio-vascular diseases or other chronic conditions (i.e. asthma or chronic pulmonary disease) show an increased vulnerability to COVID-19 infection (7).

SARS-CoV-2 interacts with the host cells through its spike protein by binding to the membrane enzyme angiotensinconverting enzyme 2 (ACE2), an homolog of ACE, which represents the main viral receptor. The entry of SARS-CoV-2 in the host cell through ACE2 activates the STAT3/NF-kB pathway leading to the production of proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines that can cause a severe systemic hyperinflammation known as "cytokine storm", responsible for acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) and multi-organ failure (8).

Although SARS-CoV-2 mainly affects the upper and lower respiratory tract with symptoms ranging from flu-like symptoms to atypical pneumonia, ACE2 expression is not exclusive to the lungs and it may also involve the gastrointestinal tract, the kidneys, the cardio-vascular system and the brain, thus justifying the multi-organ involvement that is commonly observed in COVID-19 disease (9).

Several endocrine tissues also exhibit ACE2, such as thyroid, the ovaries and the testis (the latter in particular with high levels of expression), for which the function of several glands may be affected by SARS-CoV-2 infection (Figure 1) (10, 11).

In addition, the treatment of endocrine diseases could be indirectly affected by difficulties arisen because of the pandemic. The scientific societies across the globe having endocrinology as a focus have provided recommendations since the beginning of the pandemic. The European Society for Pediatric Endocrinology (ESPE) highlighted that there was no evidence at that time that children affected by hypopituitarism (GHD, central hypothyroidism, diabetes insipidus, hypogonadotrophic hypogonadism or any combination of the aforementioned diseases) presented a higher risk of contracting the infection or experiencing a severe disease course (12). However, patients affected by hypopituitarism and secondary adrenal insufficiency potentially had a higher risk of undergoing an adrenal crisis during the SARS-COV2 infection as for any other infection (13).

Recommendations to continue current replacement therapy and to modify hydrocortisone replacement doses as indicated for all cases of intercurrent illness, doubling or tripling the dosage according to the severity of the clinical picture and conditions, also considering admission and parental hydrocortisone administration when necessary have been published by many



scientific societies (14–16). Moreover, it was underlined to keep closely in touch with the reference centers (17).

This review aims to analyze the rationale for the fear of direct effects of SARS-Cov-2 on endocrinological disorders, to study the influence of pre-existing endocrine disorders on the course of the infection, and the actual data in childhood.

Dysnatraemia, diabetes insipidus and pituitary function

SARS-COV 2 virus can access the central nervous system rapidly through the olfactory nerve (18), causing potential damage to hypothalamus and pituitary regions.

Previous studies that examined prevalence and outcomes of dysnatraemia in patients hospitalized with COVID-19 described a higher prevalence of hyponatremia than hypernatremia, but both these conditions were associated with an increased hospital length of stay, while the risk of in-hospital mortality was increased in patients with moderate or severe hypernatremia (19, 20).

Adequate treatment of hyponatremia requires immediate recognition of its etiology: blood tests are required to evaluate serum and urinary osmolality, serum concentrations of sodium, glucose, urea, creatinine, urate, cortisol, thyroxine and TSH (20).

One of the causes of hyponatremia highlighted by observational studies on adults with SARS-COV2 infection was posterior pituitary dysfunction, presenting mainly as the syndrome of inappropriate antidiuretic hormone secretion (SIADH) (21). In two adult patients described in the Literature, having severe COVID-19 and SIADH, the MRI scans showed T2/FLAIR hyperintensity of mammillary bodies, hypothalamus- pituitary swelling and upper globular hypophysis pedunculus (22). To the best of our knowledge, to date there still are no reports in children, however, considering the high incidence of gastroenterologic symptoms during SARS-COV2 infection in children (23) a concern for an increased risk of hypernatremia in patients affected by diabetes insipidus yet remains.

Diabetes insipidus (DI) is a rare disease characterized by polyuria (urine volume greater than 100–110 mL/kg/24 h until the age of 2 and 2000 mL/mq/24 h after the age of 2) caused by vasopressin secretion deficiency (central DI) or AVP resistance (nephrogenic DI) (24). Hyponatraemia (plasma sodium < 135 mmoL/L) is the major complication of chronic therapy with desmopressin; to prevent this condition electrolyte checks are recommended, but during the pandemic, considering the possibility of limited access to blood testing, expert recommendation was to avoid excessive water intake and delaying a dose of desmopressin until aquaresis occurs. While in patients known to have recurrent hyponatremia, one dose each week can be avoided, although greater polyuria may occur (25).

Patients with DI who develop respiratory complications of COVID-19 are at significantly increased risk of hypernatremic dehydration. However, experts agree to accept mild hypernatremia (<155 mmoL/L) rather than increase the risk of pulmonary oedema if it is corrected (25).. Hypernatremia and the related hyperosmolar state can cause physiologic alterations that are responsible for increased mortality. DI is associated also with a hypercoagulable state and low molecular weight heparin therapy is recommended in these cases, until eunatraemia is restored, as well as in patients with a hypercoagulable state during COVID 19 (26).

At present data in childhood in relationship with the pandemic are lacking but the same recommendations described in the guidelines published by the Society of Endocrinology in 2018 are valid for patients with DI with COVID-19 (27).

Tumors of the hypothalamus and pituitary region

There are no data in the literature indicating that patients with pituitary and hypothalamic tumors

are more susceptible to infection with SARS-COV2. The only exception seems to concern corticotropic adenomas in patients with uncontrolled Cushing's disease. These patients indeed show an increased risk of developing infections with subsequent increased risk of mortality (28, 29).

There are no reports of an increased severity of COVID-19 in patients with pituitary secreting adenomas or nonfunctioning adenomas that do not require steroid replacement therapy. However, it should be noted that risk factors may coexist in patients with pituitary tumors, which could adversely affect the course and the management of SARS-COV2 infections (30).

Another important factor to take into account is the possible diagnostic delay of tumors that may occur in the pandemic era because of the difficulty accessing primary care, necessary instrumentation and laboratory tests (31). This may stem both from the internal arrangements of hospitals which are committed to fighting the pandemic and providing attention and resources to critically infected patients, and from the patients own fear of exposing themselves to the risk of infection, with potentially serious consequences (32).

Fleseriu et al. summarized some diagnostic and management issues encountered during the pandemic, inherent to the diagnostic and therapeutic process of patients with pituitary tumors (33). These authors provided practical guidance to make the management of these patients as effective as possible in the era of COVID-19. In the case of patients in follow-up, routine care has generally been routinely provided worldwide through telemedicine avoiding face-to-face contact. Telemedicine has in fact greatly developed during the pandemic, it has enabled doctors to provide care to their patients, improving the management of chronic diseases (34). Outpatient visits could be postponed in most cases by 3-6 months, providing patients and caregivers with essential information to detect warning signs deserving immediate medical attention and clinical evaluation. It was suggested that laboratory investigations, if deemed relevant to clinical decisions, should be performed in laboratories close to home (or exceptionally performed at home in case of high-risk patients) and transferred to the specialist center (33). In Italy, to our knowledge this has happened in most parts of the country.

It was highlighted that patients with Cushing disease deriving from an adenoma or having comorbidities such as diabetes, hypertension and obesity should be reminded of their increased risk of severe infection (35–37).

In the case of newly diagnosed patients, it is necessary to collect a detailed history and perform an evaluation through a virtual or in-person visit, to identify any comorbidities and assess the timing within which to submit the patient to laboratory tests. In the case of pituitary tumors causing severe visual impairment, surgery should be the first therapeutic choice (38). As happened, testing the patients for SARS-Cov-2 infection before surgery is essential, especially in case of trans-sphenoidal surgery (considered a procedure with high risk of infection for which surgical antimicrobial prophylaxis is recommended) (39). If the test is positive, it would be recommended to postpone the surgery until the infectious picture is resolved. If this is not possible the operating team must carefully wear safety equipment (40).

These recommendations, including the use of telemedicine, have currently become routine practice.

Thyroid gland

The possible involvement of the thyroid gland in patients with COVID-19 infection has been widely investigated since the beginning of the pandemic, given the demonstrated ability of SARS-CoV-2 to attack thyroid follicular cells *via* ACE2 that is highly expressed in this tissue (10). Along with the direct mechanism of invasion of the thyroid tissue, indirect mechanisms represent another hypothesis of damage. In fact, acute hypothalamus/pituitary/thyroid axis dysfunction and abnormal activation of inflammatory factors and cytokines due to severe ongoing COVID-19 infection may be responsible for both acute dysthyroidism and the immune-mediated damage (Figure 2) (41).

A recent systematic review analyzed 27 documented and reported cases of subacute thyroiditis (17 case reports and 2 case series) likely related to SARS-CoV-2 infection. All reported patients were adults, the majority being women, with a median time of onset of the thyroid dysfunction 30 days after SARS-CoV-2 detection on swabs. Clinically, they showed typical symptoms of subacute thyroiditis (i.e. fever, fatigue, neck pain, palpitations) in association with thyrotoxicosis and elevated inflammatory markers in serum and ultrasonographic signs of thyroiditis. Interestingly, most patients were affected by mild to moderate COVID-19 disease with only three patients requiring hospitalization during the course of the infection. According to international guidelines for the treatment of subacute thyroiditis most patients were given corticosteroids with a progressive normalization of thyroid function and subsequent return to a euthyroid state. However, considering the large spread of the virus worldwide and the relatively lack of published data, at the



moment it is only possible to consider that subacute thyroiditis represents a rare complication of SARS-CoV-2 infection with a clinical course that is similar to the one that is commonly observed when subacute thyroiditis is supposed to be triggered by other infections (42).

Conversely, other forms of thyroid dysfunction have been frequently reported in patients with severe COVID-19 disease, such as euthyroid sick syndrome or non-thyroidal illness syndrome (decreased fT3 but normal TSH levels) but also hypo- and hyperthyroidism as exacerbations of pre-existing disorders or *de-novo* diagnosis (43). Laboratory findings of low fT3 levels have been frequently observed in critical patients as a consequence of the abnormal hyperinflammatory state, representing an independent risk factor for COVID-19 severity. Therefore, considering the possible involvement of the thyroid during the course of COVID-19 infection and the heterogeneity of manifestations, routine assessment of thyroid function in those patients may be useful to detect thyroid abnormalities and start adequate treatment, thus improving the overall outcome (44, 45). It is important to point out, however, that all studies mentioned above concern adult patients and to date no reports regarding the association between COVID-19 and thyroid abnormalities in children are available.

On the other hand, well-managed thyroid disease does not appear to increase the risk of getting infected or develop severe COVID-19 illness both in children and adults, whereby international societies do not suggest a different management of children with pre-existing thyroid disease compared to healthy peers (46). Neither a pre-existing severe thyroid hormone deficiency (congenital hypothyroidism) if properly treated nor autoimmune diseases (Hashimoto's thyroiditis or Graves' disease) are associated with a weakened immune response or greater susceptibility to bacterial or viral infections. Anyhow, at the moment there is no evidence of an increased risk even in the case of poorly controlled thyroid dysfunction and no extra investigations are required, except for patients with thyrotoxicosis that may be at greater risk of complications because of the possible worsening of the thyroid storm in case of infection (47).

Parents of children who are being treated with antithyroid drugs such as methimazole should be advised about the possible bone marrow toxicity of these molecules: the onset of nonspecific symptoms such as fever, sore throat and cough may be the indicator of severe infection due to agranulocytosis that may present with a strong clinical overlap with COVID-19 infection, thus the necessity of prompt medical evaluation. Neither antithyroid drugs nor L-thyroxine are immunosuppressive agents and children who are administered with these medications do not present an increased risk of getting infected with SARS-CoV-2 (46).

However, the relative lower spread of SARS-CoV-2 infection among children may partially explain the current lack of significant correlation between COVID-19 disease and thyroid dysfunction in the pediatric population, with the need of further studies that may confirm the available recommendations.

Adrenal insufficiency and hypercortisolism

Patients having primary adrenal insufficiency (i.e. CAH and Addison's disease) are known to have a greater risk of lifethreatening complications in case of infection because of the acute increased demand of glucocorticoids that may lead to adrenal crisis (48). Moreover, it has been demonstrated that adrenal failure makes these patients even more susceptible to common infections in general due to an impaired neutrophil and natural killer cell immune activity: this phenomenon could be explained by the altered circadian gene pattern expression of peripheral immune cells due the non-physiological delivery of glucocorticoids with the conventional replacement therapy (49). Different studies have indeed demonstrated that the use of daily modified-release preparations that mimic the physiological secretion of glucocorticoids helps restore an effective immune cell activity, thus improving hypoadrenal patients' response to infections (50, 51). On the other hand, the replacement therapy itself, in consideration of the possible supraphysiologic doses of glucocorticoids chronically administered, may contribute to explain the increased risk of infections in patients affected by adrenal insufficiency.

Therefore, although at the moment there is no clear evidence of increased risks for COVID-19 infection in patients with primary adrenal insufficiency, all the reported data suggest the need for a careful management with close monitoring of these patients in case they get infected with SARS-CoV-2 because of their intrinsic condition of greater vulnerability to infections (52).

Therefore, as specified above, it has been repeatedly reminded that children presenting primary or secondary adrenal insufficiency should be treated following the general "sick day rule": in case of mild to moderate infection (fever >38° C, bad cold or flu symptoms, diarrhea) their usual daily hydrocortisone dose should be immediately doubled or tripled if the fever is >39°C along with substantial oral hydration. In the case of a severe course of the infection or vomiting and subsequent inability of taking medications by mouth, urgent medical evaluation is mandatory in order to initiate parenteral administration of glucocorticoids and avoid a potentially lifethreatening adrenal crisis. Conversely, asymptomatic patients should continue their daily replacement therapy without increasing the dosage (53). Moreover, the children who are being treated chronically with corticosteroids may develop tertiary adrenal insufficiency with a higher risk of getting infected by SARS-CoV-2 because of the subsequent iatrogenic immune impairment. Even though the level of suppression of the hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenal axis depends on the patient's innate sensitivity and cannot be predicted, these patients must be considered to be at increased risk of a severe course of COVID-19 disease (16).

In line with these considerations, hypercortisolism due to an endogenous abnormal secretion (Cushing syndrome) may also increase the subject's susceptibility to SARS-CoV-2 infection as a consequence of the immunosuppressive effect (54).

A few studies have analyzed both in Cushing syndrome and in different conditions characterized by adrenal insufficiency, the rate of infection and the course of COVID-19. In adults, during the first months in 2020 in Lombardy region in Italy, it has been shown that patients with active hypercortisolism were more prone to develop COVID-19 disease with a more severe clinical course with respect to the general population, thus identifying those affected by Cushing disease as a fragile population (55). In fact, it is worth considering that chronic cortisol excess leads to multiple comorbidities such as hypertension, hyperglycemia and obesity with an increase in visceral fat that have been widely associated with a greater risk of developing severe COVID-19.

Conversely, another observational case-control study also conducted during the early stages of the pandemic in Lombardy involving adult patients affected by adrenal insufficiency showed no significant differences in the incidence of SARS-CoV-2 infection, mortality rate, disease course and severity between patients having adrenal insufficiency and controls. However, all patients were on active follow-up and had been previously instructed on the possible risks and correct management of the infection (56).

At present few evidence is available because of the rarity of glucocorticoid-related diseases and pediatric scientific societies are currently collecting data, and at variance with the initial hypothesis with what had been initially hypothesized in relationship with adrenal insufficiency, possibly due to proper management, there does not seem to be an increased incidence of COVID-19 in these patients nor severe courses have been reported (14, 57).

One must also keep in mind that the initial phases of the pandemic have concerned few children and adolescents and currently the rate of vaccination is also increasing.

Vitamin D deficiency, disorders of calcium homeostasis and parathyroid glands

Vitamin D has an undoubted role in the regulation of the immune system and deficient states have already been associated with an increased risk of developing upper respiratory tract infections and higher mortality rates in critically ill children (58, 59).

Indeed, most cells of the innate and adaptive immune system exhibit vitamin D receptors with the subsequent on-site production of $1,25(OH)_2$ vitamin D (the most active metabolite) that acts in an autocrine and paracrine way having immunomodulatory effects. Moreover, vitamin D receptors are also involved in the regulation of inflammatory cellular pathways, and their stimulation inhibits pro-inflammatory and pro-fibrotic response to tissue injury (60).

Based on this evidence, the potential role of vitamin D deficiency in COVID-19 patients' outcome has been investigated since the beginning of the pandemic. Several randomized controlled trials in adults have actually confirmed the positive association between adequate vitamin D serum concentrations and a lower risk of getting infected by SARS-CoV-2 and developing severe complications (61). Moreover,

important research studies that have collected and analyzed data coming from several countries have actually confirmed the positive correlation between vitamin D deficiency and COVID-19 infection and mortality rates in Asian countries, while in the European continent this correlation turned out to be significant only for COVID-19 related deaths with no impact on the total number of SARS-CoV-2 infections (62).

With regard to the pediatric population, only few studies are currently available concerning the effects of vitamin D deficiency on COVID-19 disease. A retrospective cohort study performed on hospitalized patients aged 0-18 years showed a significant relationship between low serum vitamin D concentrations, severe disease and elevated inflammatory markers: in particular, vitamin D levels were positively correlated with white cell blood count and negatively with C-reactive protein and fibrinogen levels (63, 64). However, the actual impact of vitamin D deficiency on COVID-19 infection is still under debate and further investigations are yet needed to clarify this matter. Meanwhile, considering vitamin D multiple skeletal and extraskeletal beneficial actions in association with its immunomodulatory effects, prophylactic vitamin D supplementation is highly recommended in the pediatric population as an easily modifiable risk factor that may protect from SARS-CoV-2 major complications (65).

Since several studies conducted in the pre-COVID era have demonstrated that vitamin D supplementation of deficient populations may help prevent infections, the prompt correction of hypovitaminosis with therapeutic dosages has become now mandatory and seems useful also in hospitalized patients with severe COVID-19 (66, 67).

Calcium is recognized to play an important role in viral infections, and hypocalcemia has been reported in many cases of adult patients with covid-19 and requiring admission to hospital (68, 69), and has been related also with a higher mortality risk (70). Although vitamin D deficiency is one of the main causes of hypocalcaemia, inappropriate levels of parathyroid hormone (PTH) are a contributing factor (71). Although there are no reports in childhood, recently two case reports evidence that SARS-CoV-2 infection can cause primary hypoparathyroidism and decompensate previous primary hypoparathyroidism independent of vitamin D levels (72, 73).

Obesity

Obese people experience functional impairment and a major tendency to comorbidities, resulting in a greater susceptibility to infection from SARS-CoV-2 and a more severe course of COVID 19, with higher risk of developing a critical situation (74). A higher body mass index (BMI > 40 kg/m²) correlates with an increased risk for hospitalization, in particular in intensive care units, and for mortality, as previously highlighted for other respiratory viruses also by Fezeu et al. in their meta-analysis

based on a systematic review of the Medline and Cochrane databases (75–77).

Gao et al. designed a prospective, community-based, cohort study and found that the risk of critical disease and death increased linearly with BMI for values above 23 kg/m², mostly in people younger than 40 years and black. In detail, for a BMI above 23 kg/m², every unit rise increases the risk for hospitalization (Hazard Ratio 1.09, 95% CI 1.08-1.10), intensive care need (Hazard Ratio 1.13, 95% CI 1.11-1.16) and death (Hazard Ratio 1.17, 95% CI 1.11-1.23) by COVID-19 disease (78).

The reason for the increased susceptibility is related to many factors. COVID-19 stimulates a cytokine storm, which worsens the subclinical basal inflammation associated with obesity. Inflammation then determines mechanisms leading to insulin resistance, hyperglycemic status and major thrombotic risk, establishing a vicious circle of harmful events (79).

Liu et al. have stated that the levels of circulating IL-6 and Creactive protein may efficiently predict the severe course of the disease and the adverse outcome of patients affected by SARS-CoV-2 (80).

Actually, Gao et al. found that patients affected by SARS-CoV-2 infection and metabolic dysfunction associated with fatty liver disease (MAFLD) present an increased level of the inflammatory cytokine IL-6 compared to patients without MAFLD. Moreover, elevated IL-6 levels correlated with a greater risk of developing severe COVID-19, thus high IL-6 levels were associated with a major hazard for severe COVID-19 in patients with MAFLD than in those without (Figure 3) (81).

Within the frame of inflammation, the role of HMGB1 should also be recalled. Patients with increased serum concentrations of this NFkb activator and damage-associated molecular pattern protein and alarmin. It is well known to be associated with obesity, insulin resistance, and diabetes, and is involved with thrombosis-related diseases, sepsis, triggered beta amyloid accumulation in central nervous system, gene polymorphisms associated with hypertension, all associated with a severe course of COVID-19 or related risk factors (82).

The pathogenesis of the major severity of the disease could be explained by the virus-induced cytokine storm intensified by MAFLD that causes the secretion of inflammatory cytokines by the liver. Furthermore, COVID-19 could activate macrophages, resulting in the release of IL-6 with further worsening of the cytokine storm (83).

Obesity leads to a wide range of clinical complications (Figure 4). Respiratory system compliance and the functional residual capacity are reduced, whilst abdominal pressure, oxygen expense and respiratory fatigue are augmented up to muscle exhaustion. Moreover, obstructive apnoea syndrome is most frequently experienced by obese people, making the airways management harder (84).

Obesity is a contributing cause of cardiovascular impairment, deriving from a higher blood volume leading to



heart failure. It is inextricably linked to metabolic syndrome, as it indirectly influences dyslipidemia and blood pressure increasing the hazard for ischemic cardiopathy (85).

Kidney function is also impaired by obesity, which is directly linked to acute kidney injury; moreover, blood overload due to overweight leads to glomerular sclerosis and comorbidities as type 2 diabetes and hypertension are well-known risk factors for chronic kidney disease (86).

Nonetheless, hospitalized obese people experience mechanical and practical issues too: the management of these patients in intensive care unit is more difficult, as they develop ARDS more frequently, but intubation is challenging as well as proning; in addition, it is more difficult to cannulate peripheral vessels and central accesses are at higher risk of infection (87).

Thus, institutions should continue addressing prevention measures to obese people aiming to reduce the individual and population burden of the disease which has become increasingly more difficult during the pandemic (88).

Evidence confirms that we are facing a double pandemic, meaning both the spread of COVID-19 and obesity. These considerations are of considerable importance in light of the fact that the pandemic has deeply affected the population



lifestyle. This is particularly evident for certain categories such as adolescents, among whom the prevalence of overweight has increased during the lockdown. On one hand, this may be due to physical inactivity, and on the other hand to the worsening of eating habits. These problems also result in psychological discomfort which is experienced by children and young people during this pandemic (89).

A high rate of changes in eating habits was recently shown in a study in 1,519 people to whom a specific questionnaire was administered. Specifically, a higher use of frozen food and an increased consumption of coffee and sweets, leading to weight gain was observed in the majority of participants. At the same time, a decrease in physical activity was also reported (90).

These feedbacks confirm an overall worsening of lifestyle that leads to psychological distress: children and adolescents experience a high risk of developing obesity during the pandemic, because they are facing new stressing situations. New routines have replaced the protective environments of school and family and social interactions, increasing stress and subsequently aggravating disparities, health problems, economical concerns and social issues (91).

The daily grind of both patients and healthcare professionals has suddenly changed, making it urge to find new tools and practices responding to current needs. Under this scenario, telemedicine has often answered to requirements of this new situation (92). Pecoraro et al. have evaluated the utility of telemedicine in the follow-up of obese patients by offering exercises, tutorials and games to play during the lockdown. At the end of this period, they measured anthropometric parameters (body mass index, waist circumference, fat mass and fat free mass) and found an improvement in body composition, with reduced fat mass (93). While considering the limitations of the short period and the small sample analyzed, this study paves the way for further research to improve patient status using technology.

Central precocious puberty

The incidence of central precocious puberty (CPP) has been steadily increasing over the last century, with average age at menarche dropping from 17 years in the early-1800s to 13 years by the mid-1900s, with a further minor decline through the last three decades (94).

Such trend in age at pubertal onset – known as "secular trend of puberty" – recognizes both genetic and environmental factors which contribute to determine the timing and the *tempo* of puberty.

Following the COVID-19 outbreak in February 2020, a significant increase in the diagnoses of CPP, rapidly progressing puberty and precocious menarche has been reported by some paediatric Endocrinologists in Italy (95–97). Stagi *et al.* were the first to evaluate retrospectively the incidence

of newly diagnosed CPP and the rate of pubertal progression in girls previously diagnosed with CPP between March and July 2020, and compared these data with medical records from the same period of time of the previous five years (2015-2019) (95). They found that the number of newly diagnosed CPP in 2020 was significantly higher than that in each year from 2015 to 2019 (37 vs 17.8 ± 1.3 patients, range from 16 to 19 cases/same period/ year), along with a significantly younger chronological age at stage B2 onset/CPP diagnosis and a more advanced Tanner stage at CPP diagnosis. Moreover, they described a greater number of patients with previously diagnosed CPP moving from a slowly progressing puberty to a rapidly progressing puberty following the Italian lockdown, in comparison with the previous five years (12 vs 2.2 \pm 0.4 patients, range from two to three cases/same period/year). Similar findings were reported by Verzani et al. who retrospectively analyzed medical records of their outpatient clinic from March to September 2020, comparing them with the same interval of time in 2019, and reported a significant increment of CPP in girls, observing no differences for boys (96).

A more recent Italian retrospective study has likewise reported a significantly increased incidence of both suspected and confirmed CPP in girls from March to September 2020, in comparison with the same period in 2019 (98). No difference was found in the anthropometric and hormonal parameters between 2019 and 2020, whilst girls diagnosed with CPP in 2020 showed an increased use of electronic devices paired with an overall more sedentary lifestyle.

The literature currently lacks studies enlisting larger samples of CPP patients. Moreover, data from the experience of Pediatric Endocrinology centers abroad are very scarce. A single-center retrospective study carried out in Turkey confirmed the Italian findings, reporting an increased incidence of idiopathic CPP in girls from April 2020 to March 2021, following their national lockdown, when compared with the same period of time in the previous three years (2017-2019) (99). Conversely, they did not observe significant differences in the frequency of rapidly progressing puberty and obesity before and after the COVID-19 pandemic.

When it comes to the possible underlying causes of this phenomenon, both direct and indirect mechanisms – secondary to the lockdown and the deep changes in our society and everyday life – must be taken into account. Possible factors contributing to CPP and rapidly progressing puberty are reported in Table 1.

As for the direct effects of the SARS-CoV-2 infection, Nagu et al. very well described the different routes for invasion of the CNS, which include the binding to the ACE-2 receptors – diffusely expressed on the endothelial cells of capillaries –, a cytokine storm syndrome, a hematogenous route and a olfactory route (100). Intriguingly, the olfactory tract shares its embryonic origin with the Gonadotropin Releasing Hormone (GnRH) neurons in the hypothalamus, which pulsatile activation determines the onset of puberty (97). Moreover, a recent work TABLE 1 Possible factors contributing/causing precocious puberty and rapidly progressive puberty.

Direct mechanisms	Indirect mechanisms			
•Effects of SARS-CoV-2 on the CNS through: - ACE-2 receptor	 Increased food consumption Decreased physical activity 			
- cytokine storm syndrome - hematogenous route - olfactory route	 Increased BMI Increased use of electronic devices Changes in sleep habits and changes in melatonin secretion Increased mental stress and emotivity Possible increased exposure to some endocrine disruptors due to increased indoor life 			

CNS, central nervous system.

found a positive correlation between the volume of the olfactory bulb and the incidence of CPP, suggesting that the olfactory tract plays a major role in determining the timing of puberty (101). In addition, the olfactory route is very abundant of GABAergic neurons, which contribute to determine the timing of puberty (102).

As for the indirect effect of the COVID-19 pandemic, the deep changes in our society and everyday life must be carefully addressed given the profound impact that they could have on the timing and *tempo* of puberty. The adjustment in food habits, the reduced access to physical activities, the overall increase in BMI, the increased use of digital devices, the worsened quality of sleep and the global emotional stress that children of all ages have undergone in the last two years could all be contributing factors to the increased risk of CPP.

At present, we lack studies which aim to analyze the role of each one of these mechanisms in the increasing trend which has been observed. Further investigations should be pursued in order to better investigate this phenomenon and understand the triggering role of each single environmental factor on the timing and the *tempo* of pubertal onset.

Conclusions

Current findings related to COVID-19 and pediatric endocrine conditions are reassuring in terms of rate of infection and severity of the disease in almost all properly managed conditions. The data support a need for adequate vitamin D supplementation, caution in obese patients, monitoring of thyroid function in hospitalized patients, and confirm the need for an awareness campaign for the increased frequency of precocious puberty, rapidly progressive puberty and precocious menarche. The changes in lifestyle, the increased

References

1. Huang C, Wang Y, Li X, Ren L, Zhao J, Hu Y, et al. Clinical features of patients infected with 2019 novel coronavirus in wuhan, China. *Lancet* (2020) 395 (10223):497–506. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30183-5

incidence of overweight and the change in the timing of puberty lead also to hypothesize that there might be an increase in the following years of ovarian dysfunction as polycystic ovarian disease, and metabolic derangements, therefore requiring a continuous surveillance.

Author contributions

MES conceived, designed and supervised this study. MG, TD, CL and GM performed the literature review and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. MES, MP and VP contributed to the interpretation of the results and in writing the manuscript. MES and SE provided scientific contributions and critically revised the paper. All the authors read, revised, and approved the final manuscript.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

^{2.} Zhu N, Zhang D, Wang W, Li X, Yang B, Song J, et al. China Novel coronavirus investigating and research team. a novel coronavirus from patients with pneumonia in China 2019. *N Engl J Med* (2020) 382(8):727–33. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2001017

3. Zeng ZQ, Chen DH, Tan WP, Qiu SY, Xu D, Liang HX, et al. Epidemiology and clinical characteristics of human coronaviruses OC43, 229E, NL63, and HKU1: a study of hospitalized children with acute respiratory tract infection in guangzhou, China. *Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis* (2018) 37(2):363–9. doi: 10.1007/s10096-017-3144-z

4. Whittaker E, Bamford A, Kenny J, Kaforou M, Jones CE, Shah P, et al. PIMS-TS study group and EUCLIDS and PERFORM consortia. clinical characteristics of 58 children with a pediatric inflammatory multisystem syndrome temporally associated with SARS-CoV-2. *JAMA* (2020) 324(3):259–69. doi: 10.1001/ jama.2020.10369

5. World Health Organization. Interim statement on COVID-19 vaccination for children and adolescents (2021). Available at: https://www.who.int/news/item/24-11-2021-interim-statement-on-covid-19-vaccination-for-children-and-adolescents.

6. Istituto Superiore di Sanità. *Epidemiology for public health. coronavirus* (2022). Available at: https://www.epicentro.iss.it/coronavirus/bollettino/Bollettino-sorveglianza-integrata-COVID-19_12-gennaio-2022.pdf.

7. Woodruff RC, Campbell AP, Taylor CA, Chai SJ, Kawasaki B, Meek J, et al. COVID-NET surveillance team. risk factors for severe COVID-19 in children. *Pediatrics* (2021) e2:e2021053418. doi: 10.1542/peds.2021-053418

8. Ashraf UM, Abokor AA, Edwards JM, Waigi EW, Royfman RS, Hasan SA, et al. SARS-CoV-2, ACE2 expression, and systemic organ invasion. *Physiol Genomics* (2021) 53(2):51-60. doi: 10.1152/physiolgenomics. 00087.2020

9. Li MY, Li L, Zhang Y, Wang XS. Expression of the SARS-CoV-2 cell receptor gene ACE2 in a wide variety of human tissues. *Infect Dis Poverty* (2020) 9(1):45. doi: 10.1186/s40249-020-00662-x

10. Rotondi M, Coperchini F, Ricci G, Denegri M, Croce L, Ngnitejeu ST, et al. Detection of SARS- COV-2 receptor ACE-2 mRNA in thyroid cells: a clue for COVID-19-related subacute thyroiditis. *J Endocrinol Invest* (2021) 44(5):1085–90. doi: 10.1007/s40618-020-01436-w

11. Lazartigues E, Qadir MMF, Mauvais-Jarvis F. Endocrine significance of SARS-CoV-2's reliance on ACE2. *Endocrinology* (2020) 161(9):bqaa108. doi: 10.1210/endocr/bqaa108

12. European Society for Pediatric Endocrinology. *Disease specific information and advice: Hypopituitarism* (2020). Available at: https://www.eurospe.org/media/2308/espe-patient-information-on-covid-19-and-hypopituitarism.pdf.

13. Prete A, Taylor AE, Bancos I, Smith DJ, Foster MA, Kohler S, et al. Prevention of adrenal crisis: Cortisol responses to major stress compared to stress dose hydrocortisone delivery. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2020) 105(7):2262–74. doi: 10.1210/clinem/dgaa133

14. European Society for Paediatric Endocrinology. *Disease specific information and advice: Adrenal Insufficiency* (2020). Available at: https://www.eurospe.org/media/2298/espe-patient-information-leaflet-on-covid-19-and-adrenal-insufficiency.pdf.

15. Fareau GG, Vassilopoulou-Sellin R. Hypercortisolemia and infection. Infect Dis Clin North Am (2007) 21(3):639–57. doi: 10.1016/j.idc.2007.06.001

16. Arlt W, Baldeweg SE, Pearce SHS, Simpson HL. ENDOCRINOLOGY IN THE TIME OF COVID-19: Management of adrenal insufficiency. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2020) 183(1):G25–32. doi: 10.1530/EJE-20-0361

17. Società Italiana di Endocrinologia e Diabetologia Pediatrica. "COVID-19 e malattie endocrine di bambini e adolescenti: Informazioni utili" (2020). Available at: http://www.siedp.it/files/ComunicatoSIEDPendocrinopatie200420.pdf.

18. Steardo L, Steardo LJr, Zorec R, Verkhratsky A. Neuroinfection may contribute to pathophysiology and clinical manifestations of COVID-19. *Acta Physiol (Oxf)* (2020) 229(3):e13473. doi: 10.1111/apha.13473

19. Hirsch JS, Uppal NN, Sharma P, Khanin Y, Shah HH, Malieckal DA, et al. Prevalence and outcomes of hyponatremia and hypernatremia in patients hospitalized with COVID-19. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* (2021) 36(6):1135–8. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfab067

20. Tzoulis P, Grossman AB, Baldeweg SE, Bouloux P, Kaltsas G. Management of endocrine disease: Dysnatraemia in COVID-19: prevalence, prognostic impact, pathophysiology, and management. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2021) 185(4):R103–11. doi: 10.1530/EJE-21-0281

21. Habib MB, Sardar S, Sajid J. Acute symptomatic hyponatremia in setting of SIADH as an isolated presentation of COVID-19. *IDCases* (2020) 21:e00859. doi: 10.1016/j.idcr.2020.e00859

22. Pascual-Goñi E, Fortea J, Martínez-Domeño A, Rabella N, Tecame M, Gómez-Oliva C, et al. COVID-19-associated ophthalmoparesis and hypothalamic involvement. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm* (2020) 7(5):e823. doi: 10.1212/NXI.00000000000823

23. Castagnoli R, Votto M, Licari A, Brambilla I, Bruno R, Perlini S, et al. Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) infection in children and adolescents: A systematic review. *JAMA Pediatr* (2020) 174(9):882–9. doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2020.1467

24. Di Iorgi N, Napoli F, Allegri AE, Olivieri I, Bertelli E, Gallizia A, et al. Diabetes insipidus-diagnosis and management. *Horm Res Paediatr* (2012) 77 (2):69-84. doi: 10.1159/000336333

25. Christ-Crain M, Hoorn EJ, Sherlock M, Thompson CJ, Wass JAH. ENDOCRINOLOGY IN THE TIME OF COVID-19: Management of diabetes insipidus and hyponatraemia. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2020) 183(1):G9-G15. doi: 10.1530/EJE-20-0338

26. Li T, Lu H, Zhang W. Clinical observation and management of COVID-19 patients. *Emerg Microbes Infect* (2020) 9(1):687-90. doi: 10.1080/22221751.2020.1741327

27. Baldeweg SE, Ball S, Brooke A, Gleeson HK, Levy MJ, Prentice M, et al. Society for endocrinology clinical committee. SOCIETY FOR ENDOCRINOLOGY CLINICAL GUIDANCE: Inpatient management of cranial diabetes insipidus. *Endocr Connect* (2018) 7(7):G8–G11. doi: 10.1530/EC-18-0154

28. da Mota F, Murray C, Ezzat S. Overt immune dysfunction after cushing's syndrome remission: a consecutive case series and review of the literature. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2011) 96(10):E1670–4. doi: 10.1210/jc.2011-1317

29. Dekkers OM, Horváth-Puhó E, Jørgensen JO, Cannegieter SC, Ehrenstein V, Vandenbroucke JP, et al. Multisystem morbidity and mortality in cushing's syndrome: a cohort study. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2013) 98(6):2277–84. doi: 10.1210/jc.2012-3582

30. Fleseriu M, Buchfelder M, Cetas JS, Fazeli PK, Mallea-Gil SM, Gurnell M, et al. Pituitary society guidance: pituitary disease management and patient care recommendations during the COVID-19 pandemic-an international perspective. *Pituitary* (2020) 23(4):327–37. doi: 10.1007/s11102-020-01059-7

31. Raucci U, Musolino AM, Di Lallo D, Piga S, Barbieri MA, Pisani M, et al. Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the emergency department of a tertiary children's hospital. *Ital J Pediatr* (2021) 47(1):21. doi: 10.1186/s13052-021-00976-y

32. Lazzerini M, Barbi E, Apicella A, Marchetti F, Cardinale F, Trobia G. Delayed access or provision of care in Italy resulting from fear of COVID-19. *Lancet Child Adolesc Health* (2020) 4(5):e10-1. doi: 10.1016/S2352-4642(20) 30108-5

33. Fleseriu M, Dekkers OM, Karavitaki N. Endocrinology in the time of COVID-19: Management of pituitary tumours. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2020) 183(1): G17-23. doi: 10.1530/EJE-20-0473

34. Regelmann MO, Conroy R, Gourgari E, Gupta A, Guttmann-Bauman I, Heksch R, et al. PES drug and therapeutics committee and practice management committee. pediatric endocrinology in the time of COVID-19: Considerations for the rapid implementation of telemedicine and management of pediatric endocrine conditions. *Horm Res Paediatri* (2020) 93(6):343–50. doi: 10.1159/000513060

35. Petrilli CM, Jones SA, Yang J, Rajagopalan H, O'Donnell L, Chernyak Y, et al. Factors associated with hospital admission and critical illness among 5279 people with coronavirus disease 2019 in new York city: prospective cohort study. *BMJ* (2020) 22:369:m1966. doi: 10.1136/bmj.m1966

36. Newell-Price J, Nieman LK, Reincke M, Tabarin A. Endocrinology at the time of COVID-19: Management of cushing's syndrome. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2020) 183(1):G1–7. doi: 10.1530/EJE-20-0352

37. Zhou F, Yu T, Du R, Fan G, Liu Y, Liu Z, et al. Clinical course and risk factors for mortality of adult inpatients with COVID-19 in wuhan, China: a retrospective cohort study. *Lancet* (2020) 395(10229):1054–62. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30566-3

38. Melmed S. Pituitary-tumor endocrinopathies. N Engl J Med (2020) 382 (10):937–50. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra1810772

39. Xu K, Lai XQ, Liu Z. Suggestions for prevention of 2019 novel coronavirus infection in otolaryngology head and neck surgery medical staff. *Zhonghua Er Bi* Yan Hou Tou Jing Wai Ke Za Zhi (2020) 2;55(0):E001. doi: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.1673-0860.2020.0001

40. Patel ZM, Fernandez-Miranda J, Hwang PH, Nayak JV, Dodd R, Sajjadi H, et al. Letter: Precautions for endoscopic transnasal skull base surgery during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Neurosurgery* (2020) 87(1):E66–7. doi: 10.1093/neuros/ nyaa125

41. Chen W, Tian Y, Li Z, Zhu J, Wei T, Lei J. Potential interaction between SARS-CoV-2 and thyroid: A review. *Endocrinology* (2021) 162(3):bqab004. doi: 10.1210/endocr/bqab004

42. Trimboli P, Cappelli C, Croce L, Scappaticcio L, Chiovato L, Rotondi M. COVID-19-Associated subacute thyroiditis: Evidence-based data from a systematic review. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)* (2021) 12:707726. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.707726

43. Inaba H, Aizawa T. Coronavirus disease 2019 and the thyroid - progress and perspectives. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)* (2021) 12:70833. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.70833

44. Zhang Y, Lin F, Tu W, Zhang J, Choudhry AA, Ahmed O, et al. Medical team from xiangya hospital to support hubei, china. thyroid dysfunction may be associated with poor outcomes in patients with COVID-19. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* (2021) 521:111097. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2020.111097

45. Lui DTW, Lee CH, Chow WS, Lee ACH, Tam AR, Fong CHY, et al. Thyroid dysfunction in relation to immune profile, disease status, and outcome in 191 patients with COVID-19. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2021) 106(2):e926–35. doi: 10.1210/clinem/dgaa813

46. British Thyroid Foundation. *Thyroid disease and coronavirus (Covid-19)*. Available at: https://www.btf-thyroid.org/faqs-about-thyroid-disease-and-coronavirus-covid-19.

47. Kostopoulou E, Güemes M, Shah P. COVID-19 in children and adolescents with endocrine conditions. *Horm Metab Res* (2020) 52(11):769–74. doi: 10.1055/a-1227-6635

48. Bergthorsdottir R, Leonsson-Zachrisson M, Oden A, Johannsson G. Premature mortality in patients with addison's disease: a population-based study. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2006) 91(12):4849–53. doi: 10.1210/jc.2006-0076

49. Bancos I, Hazeldine J, Chortis V, Hampson P, Taylor AE, Lord JM, et al. Primary adrenal insufficiency is associated with impaired natural killer cell function: a potential link to increased mortality. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2017) 176 (4):471–80. doi: 10.1530/EJE-16-0969

50. Muller L, Quinkler M. Adrenal disease: imitating the cortisol profile improves the immune system. *Nat Rev Endocrinol* (2018) 14(3):137–9. doi: 10.1038/nrendo.2018.5

51. Isidori AM, Venner i, Graziadio C, Simeoli C, Fiore D, Hasenmajer V, et al. Effect of once-daily, modified-release hydrocortisone versus standard glucocorticoid therapy on metabolism and innate immunity in patients with adrenal insufficiency (DREAM): a single-blind, randomised controlled trial. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol* (2018) 6(3):173–85. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(17) 30398-4

52. Tresoldi AS, Sumilo D, Perrins M, Toulis KA, Prete A, Reddy N, et al. Increased infection risk in addison's disease and congenital adrenal hyperplasia. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2020) 105(2):418–29. doi: 10.1210/clinem/dg2006

53. Bornstein SR, Allolio B, Arlt W, Barthel A, Don-Wauchope A, Hammer GD, et al. Diagnosis and treatment of primary adrenal insufficiency: an endocrine society clinical practice guideline. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2016) 101:364–89. doi: 10.1210/jc.2015-1710

54. Hasenmajer V, Sbardella E, Sciarra F, Minnetti M, Isidori AM, Venneri MA. The immune system in cushing's syndrome. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* (2020) 31 (9):655–69. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2020.04.004

55. Serban AL, Ferrante E, Carosi G, Indirli R, Arosio M, Mantovani G. COVID-19 in cushing disease: experience of a single tertiary centre in Lombardy. *J Endocrinol Invest* (2021) 44(6):1335–6. doi: 10.1007/s40618-020-01419-x

56. Carosi G, Morelli V, Del Sindaco G, Serban AL, Cremaschi A, Frigerio S, et al. Adrenal insufficiency at the time of COVID-19: A retrospective study in patients referring to a tertiary center. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2021) 106(3):e1354–61. doi: 10.1210/clinem/dgaa793

57. Società Italiana di Endocrinologia e Diabetologia Pediatrica. Raccomandazioni per la gestione del rientro a scuola, dell'influenza stagionale e del rischio di infezione da COVID-19 in bambini, adolescenti e giovani adulti con insufficienza surrenalica (2020). Available at: http://www.siedp.it/pagina/1205/ raccomandazioni+per+la+gestione+del+rientro+a+scuola%2C+dell%27influenza +stagionale+e+del+rischio+di+infezione+da+covid19+in+bambini%2C +adolescenti+e+giovani+adulti+con+insufficienza+surenalica.

58. Martineau AR, Jolliffe DA, Hooper RL, Greenberg L, Aloia JF, Bergman P, et al. Vitamin d supplementation to prevent acute respiratory tract infections: systematic review and meta-analysis of individual participant data. *BMJ* (2017) 356: i6583. doi: 10.1136/bmj.i6583

59. Cariolou M, Cupp MA, Evangelou E, Tzoulaki I, Berlanga-Taylor AJ. Importance of vitamin d in acute and critically ill children with subgroup analyses of sepsis and respiratory tract infections: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ Open* (2019) 9(5):e027666. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2018-027666

60. Vanherwegen AS, Gysemans C, Mathieu C. Regulation of immune function by vitamin d and its use in diseases of immunity. *Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am* (2017) 46(4):1061–94. doi: 10.1016/j.ecl.2017.07.010

61. Bae JH, Choe HJ, Holick MF, Lim S. Association of vitamin d status with COVID-19 and its severity : Vitamin d and COVID-19: a narrative review. *Rev Endocr Metab Disord* (2022) 4:1–21. doi: 10.1007/s11154-021-09705-6

62. Bakaloudi DR, Chourdakis M. A critical update on the role of mild and serious vitamin d deficiency prevalence and the COVID-19 epidemic in Europe. *Nutrition* (2022) 93:111441. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2021.111441

63. Bayramoğlu E, Akkoç G, Ağbaş A, Akgün Ö., Yurdakul K, Selçuk Duru HN, et al. The association between vitamin d levels and the clinical severity and inflammation markers in pediatric COVID-19 patients: single-center experience from a pandemic hospital. *Eur J Pediatr* (2021) 180(8):2699–705. doi: 10.1007/ s00431-021-04030-1

64. Yılmaz K, Şen V. Is vitamin d deficiency a risk factor for COVID-19 in children? *Pediatr Pulmonol* (2020) 55(12):3595-601. doi: 10.1002/ppul.25106

65. European Society for Peadiatric Endocrinology. Disease specific information and advice – vitamin d deficiency (2020). Available at: https://www.eurospe.org/ media/2313/espe-physician-information-on-covid-19-and-vitamin-d-deficiency. pdf.

66. Bouillon R, Marcocci C, Carmeliet G, Bikle D, White JH, Dawson-Hughes B, et al. Skeletal and extraskeletal actions of vitamin d: Current evidence and outstanding questions. *Endocr Rev* (2019) 40(4):1109–51. doi: 10.1210/er.2018-00126

67. Urashima M, Segawa T, Okazaki M, Kurihara M, Wada Y, Ida H. Randomized trial of vitamin d supplementation to prevent seasonal influenza a in schoolchildren. *Am J Clin Nutr* (2010) 91(5):1255-60. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.2009.29094

68. Booth CM, Matukas LM, Tomlinson GA, Rachlis AR, Rose DB, Dwosh HA, et al. Clinical features and short-term outcomes of 144 patients with SARS in the greater Toronto area. *JAMA* (2010) 289(21):2801–9. doi: 10.1001/jama.289.21.JOC30885

69. di Filippo L, Formenti AM, Doga M, Frara S, Rovere-Querini P, Bosi E, et al. Hypocalcemia is a distinctive biochemical feature of hospitalized COVID-19 patients. *Endocrine* (2021) 71(1):9–13. doi: 10.1007/s12020-020-02541-9

70. Raesi A, Saedi Dezaki E, Moosapour H, Saeidifard F, Habibi Z, Rahmani F, et al. Hypocalcemia in covid-19: A prognostic marker for severe disease. *Iran J Pathol* (2021) 16(2):144–53. doi: 10.30699/IJP.2020.130491.2442

71. Hashemipour S, Kiani S, Shahsavari P, Afshar S, Ghobadi A, Khairkhahan SMRH, et al. Hypocalcemia in hospitalized patients with COVID-19: roles of hypovitaminosis d and functional hypoparathyroidism. *J Bone Miner Metab* (2022) 40(4):663–9. doi: 10.1007/s00774-022-01330-w

72. Aojula N, Ready A, Gittoes N, Hassan-Smith Z. Management of parathyroid disease during the COVID-19 pandemic. *J Clin Med* (2021) 10(5):920. doi: 10.3390/jcm10050920

73. Bonnet J-B-, Berchoux E-, Sultan A. Decompensated primary hypoparathyroidism in a patient with COVID-19. *Ann Endocrinol (Paris)* (2021) 82(2):123-4. doi: 10.1016/j.ando.2021.02.002

74. Földi M, Farkas N, Kiss S, Zádori N, Váncsa S, Szakó L, et al. Obesity is a risk factor for developing critical condition in COVID-19 patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Obes Rev* (2020) 21(10):e13095. doi: 10.1111/obr.13095

75. Kwok S, Adam S, Ho JH, Iqbal Z, Turkington P, Razvi S, et al. Obesity: A critical risk factor in the COVID-19 pandemic. *Clin Obes* (2020) 10(6):e12403. doi: 10.1111/cob.12403

76. Moser JS, Galindo-Fraga A, Ortiz-Hernández AA, Gu W, Hunsberger S, Galán-Herrera JF, et al. Underweight, overweight, and obesity as independent risk factors for hospitalization in adults and children from influenza and other respiratory viruses. *Influenza Other Respi Viruses* (2019) 13(1):3-9. doi: 10.1111/irv.12618

77. Fezeu L, Julia C, Henegar A, Bitu J, Hu FB, Grobbee DE, et al. Obesity is associated with higher risk of intensive care unit admission and death in influenza a (H1N1) patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Obes Rev* (2011) 12(8). doi: 10.1111/j.1467-789X.2011.00864.x

78. Gao M, Piernas C, Astbury NM, Hippisley-Cox J, O'Rahilly S, Aveyard P, et al. Associations between body-mass index and COVID-19 severity in 6-9 million people in England: a prospective, community-based, cohort study. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol* (2021) 9(6). doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(21)00089-9

79. Brandão SCS, Godoi ETAM, de Oliveira Cordeiro LH, Bezerra CS, de Oliveira X, Ramos J, et al. COVID-19 and obesity: the meeting of two pandemics. *Arch Endocrinol Metab* (2021) 65(1). doi: 10.20945/2359-3997000000318

80. Liu F, Li L, Xu M, Wu J, Luo D, Zhu Y, et al. Prognostic value of interleukin-6, c-reactive protein, and procalcitonin in patients with COVID-19. *J Clin Virol* (2020) 127:104370. doi: 10.1016/j.jcv.2020.104370

81. Gao F, Zheng KI, Yan HD, Sun QF, Pan KH, Wang TY, et al. Association and interaction between serum interleukin-6 levels and metabolic dysfunction-associated fatty liver disease in patients with severe coronavirus disease 2019. *Front Endocrinol* (2021) 12:604100. doi: 10.3389/ fendo.2021.604100

82. Street ME. HMGB1: A possible crucial therapeutic target for COVID-19? Horm Res Paediatr (2020) 93(2):73–5. doi: 10.1159/000508291

83. McGonagle D, Sharif K, O'Regan A, Bridgewood C. The role of cytokines including interleukin-6 in COVID-19 induced pneumonia and macrophage activation syndrome-like disease. *Autoimmun Rev* (2020) 19(6):102537. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2020.102537

84. Malhotra A, Hillman D. Obesity and the lung: 3. obesity, respiration and intensive care. *Thorax* (2008) 63(10):925–31. doi: 10.1136/thx.2007.086835

85. Piché ME, Poirier P, Lemieux I, Després JP. Overview of epidemiology and contribution of obesity and body fat distribution to cardiovascular disease: An update. *Prog Cardiovasc Dis* (2018) 61(2):103-13. doi: 10.1016/j.pcad.2018.06.004

86. Kovesdy CP, Furth S, Zoccali C. World kidney day steering committee. obesity and kidney disease: Hidden consequences of the epidemic. *Physiol Int* (2017) 104(1):1–14. doi: 10.4102/phcfm.v9i1.1435

87. Schetz M, De Jong A, Deane AM, Druml W, Hemelaar P, Pelosi P, et al. Obesity in the critically ill: a narrative review. *Intensive Care Med* (2019) 45:757–69. doi: 10.1007/s00134-019-05594-1

88. Seidu S, Gillies C, Zaccardi F, Kunutsor SK, Hartmann-Boyce J, Yates T, et al. The impact of obesity on severe disease and mortality in people with SARS-CoV-2: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Endocrinol Diabetes Metab* (2020) 4 (1):e00176. doi: 10.1002/edm2.176

89. Cipolla C, Curatola A, Ferretti S, Giugno G, Condemi C, Delogu AB, et al. Eating habits and lifestyle in children with obesity during the COVID19 lockdown: a survey in an Italian center. *Acta Biomed* (2021) 92(2):e2021196. doi: 10.23750/abm.v92i2.10912

90. Izzo L, Santonastaso A, Cotticelli G, Federico A, Pacifico S, Castaldo L, et al. An Italian survey on dietary habits and changes during the COVID-19 lockdown. *Nutrients* (2021) 13(4):1197. doi: 10.3390/nu13041197

91. Browne NT, Snethen JA, Greenberg CS, Frenn M, Kilanowski JF, Gance-Cleveland B, et al. When pandemics collide: The impact of COVID-19 on childhood obesity. *J Pediatr Nurs* (2021) 56:90–8. doi: 10.1016/j.pedn.2020.11.004

92. Umano GR, Di Sessa A, Guarino S, Gaudino G, Marzuillo P, Miraglia Del Giudice E. Telemedicine in the COVID-19 era: Taking care of children with obesity and diabetes mellitus. *World J Diabetes* (2021) 12(5):651–7. doi: 10.4239/wjd.v12.i5.651

93. Pecoraro P, Gallè F, Muscariello E, Di Mauro V, Daniele O, Forte S, et al. A telehealth intervention for ensuring continuity of care of pediatric obesity during the CoVid-19 lockdown in Italy. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis* (2021) 31(12):3502–7. doi: 10.1016/j.numecd.2021.09.026

94. Sorensen K, Mouristen A, Aksglaede L, Hagen CP, Mogensen SS, Juul A. Recent secular trends in pubertal timing: implications for evaluation and diagnosis

of precocious puberty. Horm Res Paediatr (2012) 77(3):137-45. doi: 10.1159/ 000336325

95. Stagi S, De Masi S, Bencini E, Losi S, Paci S, Parpagnoli M, et al. Increased incidence of precocious and accelerated puberty in females during and after the Italian lockdown for the coronavirus 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic. *Ital J Pediatr* (2020) 46:165–75. doi: 10.1186/s13052-020-00931-3

96. Verzani M, Bizzarri C, Chioma L, Bottaro G, Pedicelli S, Cappa M. Impact of COVID-19 pandemic lockdown on puberty: experience of an Italian tertiary center. *Ital J Pediatr* (2021) 47:52–4. doi: 10.1186/s13052-021-01015-6

97. Street ME, Sartori C, Catellani C, Righi B. Precocious puberty and covid-19 into perspective: Potential increased frequency, possible causes, and a potential emergency to be addressed. *Front Pediatr* (2021) 20:734899(9). doi: 10.3389/fped.2021.734899

98. Chioma L, Bizzarri C, Verzani M, Fava D, Salerno M, Capalbo D, et al. Sedentary lifestyle and precocious puberty in girls during COVID-19 pandemic: an Italian experience. *Endocr Connect* (2022) 1:EC-21-0650. doi: 10.1530/EC-21-0650

99. Acar S, Özkan B. Increased frequency of idiopathic central precocious puberty in girls during the COVID-19 pandemic: preliminary results of a tertiary center study. *J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab* (2021) 35(2):249–51. doi: 10.1515/jpem-2021-0565

100. Nagu P, Parashar A, Behl T, Mehta V. CNS. implications of covid-19: a comprehensive review. *Rev Neurosci* (2021) 32:219-34. doi: 10.1515/revneuro-2020-0070

101. Karaoglan M, Çolakoğlu, Er H. The relationship between the olfactory bulb and precocious puberty: from the nose to the pituitary. *J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab* (2019) 32:1013–21. doi: 10.1515/jpem-2018-0534

102. Naulé L, Maione L, Kaiser UB. Puberty, a sensitive window of hypothalamic development and plasticity. *Endocrinology* (2020) 162:bqaa209. doi: 10.1210/endocr/bqaa209

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Stefano Stagi, University of Florence, Italy

REVIEWED BY Giorgio Radetti, Ospedale di Bolzano, Italy Anna Grandone, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy

*CORRESPONDENCE Seung Chan Park ii1075@hanmail.net

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Pediatric Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

RECEIVED 14 June 2022 ACCEPTED 03 August 2022 PUBLISHED 25 August 2022

CITATION

Choi KH and Park SC (2022) An increasing tendency of precocious puberty among Korean children from the perspective of COVID-19 pandemic effect. *Front. Pediatr.* 10:968511. doi: 10.3389/fped.2022.968511

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Choi and Park. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

An increasing tendency of precocious puberty among Korean children from the perspective of COVID-19 pandemic effect

Kyu Hee Choi and Seung Chan Park*

Highki Growth Clinic, Seoul, South Korea

Introduction: This study was conducted to investigate changes and new trends over the past 6 years by analyzing the current status of precocious puberty (PP) treatment and treatment costs in Korea between 2016 and 2021.

Materials and methods: Annual and monthly number of patients diagnosed with PP from 2016 to 2021 were reviewed using the data from Healthcare Bigdata Hub. Annual medical insurance expenses for the treatment of PP were also reviewed. The data were compared by the gender of the patients.

Results: The number of patients diagnosed with PP rose from 86,352 in 2016 to 166,645 in 2021, while medical expenses rose from KRW 64,111,689,000 in 2016 to KRW 134,642,100,000 in 2021. The percentage of male PP patients increased from 9.21% in 2016 to 19.55% in 2021.

Conclusion: Increasing numbers of Korean patients diagnosed with PP. Consistent with the situation in other countries, the rapid increase in the number of cases since April 2020 appears to be a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. In Korea, this is considered a nationwide phenomenon. Also on the rise is the incidence of PP in males, which appears to be due to an increased awareness of the phenomenon. Further investigations are required to determine the possible causes in increasing prevalence of PP.

KEYWORDS

precocious puberty (PP), early puberty, COVID-19, pandemic, social distancing

Introduction

When secondary sex characteristics appear before the age of 8 in females and 9 in males, this is referred to as precocious puberty (1). Since the 1970s, the onset of secondary sex characteristics has sped up by 0.24 years every decade on a global scale (2). This early onset of puberty is a sign of socioeconomic and environmental change.

Although the number of children and adolescents in Korea is declining, the number of patients diagnosed with precocious puberty and the associated costs continue to rise (3). Kim et al. demonstrated that the incidence of precocious puberty rose from 2004 to 2010 (4), and Kim et al. demonstrated that the prevalence of precocious puberty rose steadily and dramatically from 2008 to 2014 (5). Since then, 8 years have passed, and the world is undergoing rapid social change as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. Among these changes, since the COVID-19 pandemic in Italy, Turkey, India, China, etc., the number of patients with precocious puberty increased significantly, according to the results released (6–12). This study was conducted to observe the trends of annual and monthly number of patients with precocious puberty and their medical expenses in Korea from 2016 to 2021.

Materials and methods

Based on the census (13) of the national statistical portal (Korean Statistical Information Service, KSIS), the number of youth (0–19 years old) by year and the ratio of the youth population to the total population were investigated. The data for 2021 was derived from population projections for the future (14).

Every patient who visits hospital in Korea are registered with diagnoses according to the Korean Classification of Disease 10th revision (KCD-10). We investigated the data of the Healthcare Big Data Hub (15) registered as E301 (Early puberty, according to KCD-10). The number of patients diagnosed with precocious puberty by year, month, gender, and age in increments of 5 years, and region, as well as the status of insurance treatment costs, were analyzed.

Results

Domestic changes in youth population by year

The youth population in Korea decreased from 9,906,000 in 2016 to 8,490,000 in 2021. The ratio of the youth population to the total population also decreased from 19.32% in 2016 to 16.41% in 2021 (Table 1).

Status of patients with precocious puberty by year

The number of patients treated in medical facilities for E301 increased 1.93-fold between 2016 and 2021, from 86,352 to 166,521 (**Figure 1**). From 7,957 to 27,254, the number of male patients increased 3.43-fold, and the number of female patients

increased 1.78-fold from 78,395 to 139,391. The proportion of male patients increased from 9.21% in 2016 to 19.55% in 2021 (**Figure 2**). The highest portion of female patients was in the 5-9-year age group, while the highest proportion of male patients was in the 10-14-year age group (**Figures 3**, 4).

Status of patients with precocious puberty by region

The ratio of patients with precocious puberty to the total number of youths has increased nationally between 2016 (Figure 5) and 2021 (Figure 6). Daegu had the highest proportion of patients with precocious puberty.

Monthly status of patients with precocious puberty

29,916 patients were treated at medical institutions for E301 during the month of January 2016. The number stayed in the 30,000's for 4 years and 2 months until March 2020, a 1.2-fold increase. In April 2020, the number increased 1.5-fold compared to the previous month, reaching 41,255. A year later, in March 2021, the number reached 58,195, a 1.68-fold increase compared to January 2016 (Figure 7).

Cost of treatment for precocious puberty

The total cost of medical care for E301 patients treated at medical institutions increased 1.99-fold from KRW 43,579,409,000 in 2016 to KRW 86,846,620,000 in 2021. Likewise, the costs of accession deductible payment increased 2.33-fold, from KRW 20,532,280,000 to KRW 47,795,480,000 (Table 2).

Discussion

Secondary sex characteristics, rapid skeletal maturation, and rapid growth appear during puberty (16). Hormones of the hypothalamus-pituitary-gonadal axis (HPG axis) exist at the center of this change. The pituitary gland secretes follicle stimulating hormone (FSH) and luteinizing hormone (LH) in response to hypothalamic gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) stimulation. This leads to gonadal secretion of testosterone in males, and estradiol (E2) in female, resulting in the fertility of both sexes (17). Since hormones are sensitive to changes in both the external environment and the genetic unit, puberty has been a significant socioeconomic milestone.

Using statistical data from the national statistical portal and the Healthcare Big Data Hub, this study analyzed

TABLE 1 Korea adolescent population aged 0–19 (in thousands).

	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021*
Total population	51,270	51,423	51,630	51,779	51,829	51,744
Population under 19	9,906	9,605	9,316	9,030	8,704	8,490
Percentage of population under 19 (%)	19.32	18.68	18.04	17.44	16.79	16.41

^{*}Projected population figures.



Annual number of patients diagnosed with precocious puberty.



the medical status of patients with precocious puberty in Korea from 2016 to June 2021. Compared to 2016, the number of patients diagnosed with precocious puberty increased 1.93-fold in 2021. During the same time period, the population of youth aged 0–19 decreased, and the proportion of adolescents diagnosed with precocious puberty increased 2.25-fold, from 0.87% in 2016 to 1.96% in 2021, a greater increase than the increase in the number of patients (**Figure 8**). In addition, the ratio of patients with precocious puberty to the population is rising in nearly all



regions, indicating that the rise in the number of patients with precocious puberty is a nationwide phenomenon. As the number of patients increases, so do the costs associated with precocious puberty. The total cost of medical care and the amount of accession deductible payment increased 2.1-fold between 2016 and 2021, from KRW 64,111,689,000 to KRW 134,642,100,000. Considering previous research (3), it is believed that the number of patients with precocious puberty in Korea continues to rise.

In this study, the authors discovered two new trends. One is the significant increase in patients seen after April 2020. The growth rate between 2019 and 2021 is steeper than the change between 2016 and 2019, and a monthly analysis reveals a meteoric rise beginning in April 2020. This trend continued until June 2021. After the first COVID-19 outbreak in China at the end of 2019, the world entered a crisis, and each country implemented lockdowns or equivalent measures in 2020, making telecommuting and remote learning the norm, and outdoor activities restricted. Changes in lifestyle have caused an increase in endocrine diseases (18). In Italy, outpatient treatment for suspected symptoms of early puberty and precocious puberty increased dramatically compared to the same time period in 2019 (7). In addition, the phenomenon of accelerated puberty onset was identified, and the rate of precocious puberty diagnosis increased (6). Compared to the 3 years preceding the pandemic, the diagnosis rate of idiopathic central precocious puberty (ICPP) in Turkey has more than doubled (8). Both central precocious puberty (CPP) and rapidly progressive early puberty (RPEP) increased by greater than threefold in other studies (10). After lockdown, the referrals for precocity and the number of children diagnosed with ICPP quadrupled in India (11). The prevalence of precocious puberty in Shanghai, China also has more than doubled (12). It is suggested that excessive use of digital devices is the primary cause of this phenomenon. In a study conducted between October 2020 and March 2021, the salivary melatonin levels of 39 females diagnosed with precocious puberty were significantly lower than those of the control group. This was attributed to the effects of light stimulation and electromagnetic fields (EMF) generated by electronic devices (19). Low melatonin levels affect the HPG axis, thereby accelerating the onset of puberty (20). In addition, restriction of physical activity and increased BMI due to high-calorie food consumption, fear of the pandemic, mental factors such as anxiety, changes in sleep patterns, exposure to environmental hormones, and direct stimulation of the central nervous system due to COVID-19 infection are



cited as potential causes (21, 22). The situation in Korea is similar. After the first COVID-19 patient was reported (23) in January 2020, strict social isolation measures were implemented, school was suspended until May 2020, and some classes are still conducted remotely. According to a study (24) conducted by the Department of Pediatrics at Eulji University Hospital, the proportion of overweight and obese children who presented with precocious puberty in 2020 was significantly higher than in 2019. This was more prevalent in males. Moreover, while the overall number of pediatric outpatients has been decreasing, the number of outpatients due to short stature, precocious puberty, and obesity is increasing, and this is thought to be due to the decrease in physical activity as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. In this study we confirmed that the number of patients diagnosed with precocious puberty increased from April 2020 to April 2021 in Korea. We could speculate several possible factors for this trend based on the previous studies. First, increasing obesity due to the lack of physical activities could be the main factor. It has been suggested that obesity, fast food consumption, and the consumption of growth-related health functional foods are factors accelerating the onset of puberty in Korean adolescents (25). The BMI of elementary school students has risen significantly over the past year, as the physical activity of adolescents has decreased, and their consumption of fast foods has increased as a result of COVID-19 (26). Meanwhile, the immune-related health functional food industry is experiencing a boom that is unprecedented (27). Under these conditions, it appears inevitable that the number of patients receiving treatment for precocious puberty will increase rapidly. Second, overuse of digital devices during the social distancing and remote learning period could affects this phenomenon, too. According to the Korea Information Society Development Institute's "Comparison of Media Usage Behaviors of Adolescents Before and After COVID-19" report (28), the use of paper media decreased as a result of online classes, while time spent on laptops, tablets, desktops, and smartphones increased. Third, endocrine-disrupting chemicals are possible factor of this tendency. Since social distancing caused non-contact delivery culture, it is also necessary to observe a correlation between the rapid increase in the use of disposable items such as plastic and vinyl and precocious puberty (29). These chemicals are known to the factors that lead to precocious puberty. All of these factors working together, precocious puberty patients are steeply increasing during the pandemic in Korea.



An increasing proportion of males are diagnosed with precocious puberty, which is another trend. Since 2016, the proportion of males, who accounted for less than 10% in the previous study, has steadily risen, reaching 12.59% in 2020 and 19.55% in 2021. Particularly, the rate of medical treatment among 5 to 9-year-olds increased from 34 to 47.3%, which appears to have contributed to the rise in male patients. Existing studies show that the precocious puberty is 10 times more prevalent in females than in males; however, severe cases accompanied by abnormalities of the central nervous system, such as malformations, tumors, or inflammation, are more prevalent in males; therefore, referral to a tertiary medical institution has been deemed necessary (13, 30). However, according to an analysis of male patients with precocious puberty in Korea from 2001 to 2016 by Lee et al. (31) in 2018, the rate of idiopathic precocious puberty, for which it is difficult to identify a specific cause, has increased with the annual increase in the number of patients, accounting for more than 60%. After the age of eight, the proportion increases even further. These results are attributed to an increase in parental awareness through the Internet and broadcast media, in addition to environmental factors such as nutritional improvement and endocrine disrupting substances. Males, unlike females, have an unclear onset of secondary sex characteristics, making it easy to miss the opportunity to diagnose precocious puberty. In this study, the increase in the proportion of male patients before 9 years of age and the total number of male patients occurred simultaneously, which means, the treatment rate has increased as a result of the growing awareness of precocious puberty in males. In addition, the sudden increase in male patients coincided with the period of COVID-19 social distancing. As mentioned previously, this is likely due to the fact that the restrictions on physical activity and tendency toward obesity caused by the pandemic are more pronounced in previously active males. This supports the possibility that the increase in the number of patients with precocious puberty during this time period is due to changes in lifestyle brought about by the COVID-19 pandemic.

The trend of precocious puberty in Korea over past 6 years was analyzed by year, gender, age, and region in this study. Through this process, it was possible to confirm the need for a large-scale correlation study on various factors that can





	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021
Medical care benefits	43,579,409	49,264,944	52,220,670	50,846,925	65,078,828	86,846,620
Accession deductible payment	20,532,280	23,650,423	25,948,170	26,181,533	35,033,886	47,795,480
Total expenses	64,111,689	72,915,367	78,168,840	77,028,458	100,112,714	134,642,100

TABLE 2 Annual medical insurance expenses for precocious puberty (KRW 1000 won).



influence precocious puberty. In addition, Korea is a country where Western medical treatment for precocious puberty utilizing GnRH agonist and oriental medical treatment (32) utilizing herbal medicine to regulate hormones coexist. The majority of non-insured patients receiving oriental medical treatment are omitted from this study's statistics. In the future, research should be conducted on the current status of treatment for precocious puberty by various medical institutions and the effects thereof.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in this study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

Ethics review and approval/written informed consent was not required as per local legislation and institutional requirements.

Author contributions

Both authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Muir A. Precocious puberty. *Pediatr Rev.* (2006) 27:373–81. doi: 10.1542/pir. 27-10-373

2. Eckert-Lind C, Busch AS, Petersen JH, Biro FM, Butler G, Brauner EV, et al. Worldwide secular trends in age at pubertal onset assessed by breast development among females: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA Pediatr.* (2020) 174:e195881. doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2019.5881

3. Choi KH, Park SC. An increase of patients diagnosed as precocious puberty among Korean children from 2010 to 2015. *J Pediatr Korean Med.* (2016) 30:60–5. doi: 10.7778/jpkm.2016.30.4.060

4. Kim SH, Huh K, Won SH, Lee KW, Park MJ. A significant increase in the incidence of central precocious puberty among Korean females from 2004 to 2010. *PLoS One.* (2015) 10:e141844. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0141844

5. Kim YJ, Kwon AR, Jung MK, Kim KE, Suh JW, Chae HW, et al. Incidence and prevalence of central precocious puberty in Korea: an epidemiologic study based on a national database. *J Pediatr.* (2019) 208:221–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2018.12.022

6. Stagi S, Masi S, Bencini E, Losi S, Paci S, Parpagnoli M, et al. Increased incidence of precocious and accelerated puberty in females during and after the Italian lockdown for the coronavirus 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic. *Ital J Pediatr.* (2020) 46:165. doi: 10.1186/s13052-020-00931-3

7. Verzani M, Bizzarri C, Chioma L, Bottaro G, Pedicelli S, Cappa M. Impact of COVID-19 pandemic lockdown on early onset of puberty: experience of an Italian tertiary center. *Ital J Pediatr.* (2021) 47:52. doi: 10.1186/s13052-021-01015-6

8. Acar S, Ozkan B. Increased frequency of idiopathic central precocious puberty in girls during the COVID-19 pandemic: preliminary results of a tertiary center study. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab. (2022) 35:249–51. doi: 10.1515/jpem-2021-0565

9. Akyurek N. Evaluation of COVID-19 pandemic process effect on the increase of precocious puberty and premature thelarche. *Genel Top Derg.* (2022) 32:32–5. doi: 10.54005/geneltip.1011301

10. Acinikli KY, Erbas IM, Besci O, Demir K, Abaci A, Bober E. Has the frequency of precoccious puberty and rapidly progressive early puberty increased in girls during the COVID-19 pandemic? *J Clin Res Pediatr Endocrinol.* (2022). doi: 10.4274/jcrpe.galenos.2022.2022-12-11 [Epub ahead of print].

11. Shruti AM, Chriantap O, Vaman K, Nikhil S, Ketan G, Neha K, et al. Impact of COVID-19 lockdown on idiopathic central precocious puberty – experience from an Indian centre. *J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab.* (2022) 35:895–900. doi: 10.1515/ jpem-2022-0157

12. Chen Y, Chen J, Tang Y, Zhang Q, Wang Y, Li Q, et al. Difference of precocious puberty between before and during the COVID-19 pandemic: a cross-sectional study among Shanghai school-aged girls. *Front. Endocrinol.* (2022) 13:839895. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.839895

13. Korean Statistical Information Service. *Population Census*, (2020). Available online at: https://kosis.kr/statHtml/statHtml.do?orgId=101&tblId=DT_1IN1503& conn_path=12 (https://kosis.kr/statHtml/statHtml.do?orgId=101&tblId=DT_1IN1503&conn_path=12) (accessed July 29, 2021).

14. Korean Statistical Information Service. *Population Projection for Korea*. (2021). Available online at: https://kosis.kr/statHtml/statHtml.do?orgId=101& tblId=DT_1BPA001&conn_path=12 (https://kosis.kr/statHtml/statHtml/statHtml.do? orgId=101&tblId=DT_1BPA001&conn_path=12) (accessed December 09, 2021).

15. Healthcare Bigdata Hub. *Statistics by Four-character Subcategories*. (2021). Available online at: http://opendata.hira.or.kr/op/opc/olap4thDsInfo.do (http:// opendata.hira.or.kr/op/opc/olap4thDsInfo.do) (accessed November 01, 2021)

16. Bradley SH, Lawrence N, Steele C, Mohamed Z. Precocious puberty. BMJ. (2020) 368:16597. doi: 10.1136/bmj.16597

17. Spaziani M, Tarantino C, Tahani N, Gianfrilli D, Sbardella E, Lenzi A, et al. Hypothalamo-pituiary axis and puberty. *Mol Cell Endocrinol.* (2020) 520:111094. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2020.111094

18. Peinkhofer M, Bossini B, Penco A, Giangreco M, Pellegrin MC, Vidonis V, et al. Reduction in pediatric growth hormone deficiency and increase in central precocious puberty diagnoses during COVID 19 pendemics. *Ital J Pediatr.* (2022) 48:49. doi: 10.1186/s13052-022-01238-1

19. Stagi S, Ferrari M, Paiusco G, Moriondo M, Azzari C. Possible role of melatonin in precocious and accelerated puberty in females during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Ital J Pediatr.* (2021). doi: 10.21203/rs.3.rs-855928/v1 [Epub ahead of print].

20. de Holanda FS, Tufik S, Bignotto M, Maganhin CG, Vieira LHL, Baracat EC, et al. Evaluation of melatonin on the precocious puberty: a pilot study. *Gynecol Endocronol.* (2011) 27:519–23. doi: 10.3109/09513590.2010.501888

21. Umano GR, Maddaluno I, Riccio S, Lanzaro F, Antignani R, Giuliano M, et al. Central precocious puberty during COVID-19 pandemic and sleep disturbance: an exploratory study. *Ital J Pediatr.* (2022) 23:48–60. doi: 10.1186/s13052-022-01256-z

22. Street ME, Sartori C, Catellani C, Righi B. Precocious puberty and COVID-19 into perspective: Potential increased frequency, possible causes, and a potential emergency to be addressed. *Front Pediatr.* (2021) 9:734899. doi: 10.3389/fped.2021. 734899

23. Kim JY, Choe PG, Oh Y, Oh KJ, Kim J, Park SJ, et al. The first case of 2019 novel coronavirus pneumonia imported into Korea from Wuhan, China: implication for infection prevention and control measures. *J Korean Med Sci.* (2020) 35:e61. doi: 10.3346/jkms.2020.35.e61

24. Roh SM, Eun BW, Seo JY. Does coronavirus disease 2019 affect body mass index of children and adolescents who visited a growth clinic in South Korea?: a single-center study. *Ann Pediatr Endocrinol Metab.* (2022) 27:52–9. doi: 10.6065/apem.2142082.041

25. Park YJ, Moon CM, Yoo HJ. A study of factors influencing advanced puberty. *Korean J Pediatr* (2010) 53:146–51. doi: 10.3345/kjp.2010.53.2.146

26. Gwag SH, Oh YR, Ha JW, Kang EG, Nam HK, Lee Y, et al. Weight changes of children in 1 year during COVID-19 pandemic. *J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab.* (2022) 35:297–302. doi: 10.1515/jpem-2021-0554

27. Korean Statistical Information Service. *Consumption of Health Functional Food*. (2021). Available online at: https://kosis.kr/statHtml/statHtml.do?orgld=145&ttblId=DT_145010_009&conn_path=12 (https://kosis.kr/statHtml/statHtml. do?orgId=145&tblId=DT_145010_009&conn_path=12) (accessed March 10, 2022).

28. Kim DH. Comparison of media usage behaviors of adolescents before and after COVID-19. KISDI STAT Report. (2021) 21:1-7.

29. Yoon JY, Yoon YH, Yoon SL, Lee WT. The current state of management and disposal of wastes related to COVID-19: A review. *J Korean Soc Environ Eng.* (2021) 43:739–46. doi: 10.4491/ksee.2021.43.12.739

30. Kaplowitz P, Blosch C. Evaluation and referral of children with signs of early puberty. *Pediatrics.* (2016) 137:e20153732. doi: 10.1542/peds.2015-3732

31. Lee JS, Kim JS, Yang AR, Cho SY, Jin DK. Etiological trends in male central precocious puberty. *Ann Pediatr Endocrinol Metab.* (2018) 23:75–80. doi: 10.6065/apem.2018.23.2.75

32. Park SC, Trinh TA, Lee WY, Baek JY, Lee SY, Choi KH, et al. Effects of estrogen inhibition formula herbal mixture for danazol-induced precocious puberty in female rats: an experimental study with network pharmacology. *Integr Med Res.* (2021) 10:100708. doi: 10.1016/j.imr.2020.100708

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Stefano Stagi, University of Florence, Italy

REVIEWED BY

Bryce Allen Nelson, Children's Hospital of Richmond at VCU, United States Barbara Glowinska-Olszewska, Medical University of Bialystok, Poland

*CORRESPONDENCE

Agnieszka Zubkiewicz-Kucharska agnieszka.zubkiewicz-kucharska@ umed.wroc.pl

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Pediatric Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

RECEIVED 11 July 2022 ACCEPTED 08 September 2022 PUBLISHED 12 October 2022

CITATION

Zubkiewicz-Kucharska A, Wikiera B and Noczyńska A (2022) Weight gain in type 1 diabetes during the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic. Does lockdown affect the metabolic control of pediatric patients? *Front. Endocrinol.* 13:991269. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.991269

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Zubkiewicz-Kucharska, Wikiera and Noczyńska. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Weight gain in type 1 diabetes during the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic. Does lockdown affect the metabolic control of pediatric patients?

Agnieszka Zubkiewicz-Kucharska*, Beata Wikiera and Anna Noczyńska

Department of Pediatric Endocrinology and Diabetology, Wrocław Medical University, Wrocław, Poland

Background and aims: Due to the severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 pandemic, governments of many countries decided to implement lockdowns, which included school closures. This major lifestyle change also applied to people with diabetes. The aim of this paper was to analyze how the COVID-19 pandemic and related restrictions influenced the metabolic compensation of diabetes in the pediatric population.

Methods: Patients with type 1 diabetes (T1D), treated by one therapeutic team, who in 2020 and 2021 paid at least two in-person visits in the outpatient clinic, were included in the study. The time in range (TIR) and HbA1c, as well as the total daily dose (TDD) of insulin and BMI from the visit before the announcement of the pandemic restrictions (March 2020) and during the lockdown (second visit after 6 months) and within the period of loosened restrictions (two visits in 2021) were analyzed.

Results: A total of 185 patients with T1D were included in the study (96 boys), aged 2–18 years (11.5 \pm 3.5); 135 of them (72.9%) use CSII and 142 (76.8%) use CGM or FGM. During the first months of the studied period, despite comparable (p>0.05) TIR (57.5 \pm 21.4% vs. 59.9 \pm 20.5%), improvement of HbA1c was noticed (7.9 \pm 1.6% vs. 7.5 \pm 1.4%, p=0.0336), whereas in the following months, both HbA1c and TIR were comparable. Also, the TDD increased significantly (from 37.3 \pm 18.9 units/day on the first visit up to 46.8 \pm 22.7 units/day on the last visit, p=0.0003); however, TDD/kg remained constant (p>0.05) (0.8 \pm 0.2 units/kg/day vs. 0.8 \pm 0.3 units/kg/day) possibly due to an increased BMI (19.1 \pm 3.7 kg/m² vs. 20.9 \pm 4.1 kg/m², p=0.0001). The percentage of basal insulin in the TDD remained stable (p>0.05) (39.7 \pm 11.3% vs. 39.3 \pm 13.6%). Furthermore, a significant (p=0.0001) change in the BMI percentile was noticed [from 58.9 \pm 26.2 percentiles (%iles) before lockdown vs. 64.6 \pm 28.4%iles) at the visit at the end of the observation period.

Conclusions: The parameters of metabolic control in pediatric patients with T1D during the pandemic period remained stable; however, weight gain and an increase in daily insulin dose have been observed, possibly due to reduced physical activity.

KEYWORDS

BMI, metabolic control, type 1 diabetes, COVID-19 lockdown, children

A novel coronavirus [severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2)], which had caused a cluster of pneumonia in the Chinese province of Hubei in late 2019, spread throughout the world rapidly. On 11 March 2020, the World Health Organization (WHO) declared a pandemic of the disease induced by this virus—coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19).

SARS-CoV-2 is spread by droplet transmission. As it is a new pathogen for humanity, in early 2020, vaccination against this virus was not available. Therefore, it can be concluded that only the minority of the human population who suffered from COVID-19 had developed adaptive immunity against SARS-CoV-2, whereas the majority were susceptible to infection. The reproduction ratio, R0, of SARS-CoV-2 was estimated to be between 2 and 3.5. This means that every patient with COVID-19 infects, on average, two to three people, and, as so, the number of affected people doubles every week (1).

For obvious reasons, before the development of vaccination against this virus, the only effective method to reduce the spread of COVID-19 was social distancing. In order to reduce viral exposure and possible contamination, social isolation, "stay at home" orders, followed by lockdowns or semi-lockdowns were imposed in many countries, including Poland. To reduce public gatherings, many public spaces were closed, including gyms and swimming pools. Moreover, distance learning in schools and universities was introduced, which globally affected more than 90% of students (2). As a consequence of schools' closure, limitation of participation in sports activities and reduction of children's physical activity, as well as an increase in sedentary behavior, occurred. Furthermore, homeschooling alters eating habits, including snacking between meals and comfort eating (3, 4). All those changes might have affected the physical health of children with diabetes, including possible weight gain and worsening of metabolic control.

Obesity in children and adolescents is a growing health problem. According to Majcher et al., in the group of 656 Polish children with excess body weight, 21.8% had 2nd-degree obesity; furthermore, 84% of those patients were already obese at the age of 6 (5). The increasing prevalence of overweight and obesity is also observed in people with type 1 diabetes (T1D), affecting up to 35% of patients, as well as augmenting the risk of chronic

complications of diabetes. In T1D, like in the general population, a high supply of simple carbohydrates and fats in the diet along with sedentary lifestyle and physical inactivity are factors contributing to the increase in the BMI (6). Furthermore, both overweight and physical inactivity in patients with T1D influence beta-cell residual function; therefore, it may negatively impact diabetes remission occurrence and duration (7).

In this regard, the aim of the paper was to analyze whether the restrictions introduced due to the COVID-19 pandemic have influenced the metabolic control of children with T1D, as well as the change in the body mass of those patients.

Patients and methods

In this retrospective study, we evaluated pediatric patients with T1D from at least 12 months before the first visit, treated by one therapeutic team, who had at least two in-person visits in the outpatient clinic in 2020 (before and 6 months after the lockdown announcement in Poland), as well as at least two inperson visits in 2021 (6 and 12 months following the last visit in 2020). The following data were analyzed: the time in range (TIR) (70-180 mg/dl, %), HbA1c, as well as the total daily dose (TDD) of insulin (IU/day and IU/kg of body mass), height (measured to the nearest 0.1 cm), and weight (measured to the nearest 0.01 kg) from the visit before the announcement of the pandemic restrictions (15 March 2020), during the lockdown (second visit after 6 months in 2020), and within the period of loosened restrictions (two visits in 2021 in 6 months interval). The body mass index (BMI, kg/m²) together with BMI percentile (BMI%ile) were calculated. BMI%ile was calculated according to WHO BMI growth charts (8). BMI%ile is a measure of the relative BMI, adjusted for a child's age and sex. If a child has maintained the BMI over time, BMI%ile would not change despite the difference in the absolute value of the BMI, whereas an increase or decrease in BMI%ile indicates that the BMI gain is greater or less in comparison with the reference sample of peers of the same age and sex. Nutrition status terminology was based on Ref (9). Underweight was defined as BMI < 5th %ile, a normal BMI was recognized when the BMI was within 5th to 85th %ile, overweight was diagnosed if BMI \ge 85th % ile and < 95th %ile, and obesity if BMI \ge 95th %ile. Newly diagnosed T1D, complete remission of T1D, and other types of diabetes were the exclusion criteria.

Descriptive statistics were calculated for all four time points. The data were presented as the arithmetic mean (x) and standard deviation (SD) for continuous variables and as percentages for categorical variables. As only patients with complete data from all four visits were included in the study, no data imputation was required. The W Shapiro-Wilk test was used to verify the compliance of the distribution of quantitative variables of the analyzed sample with the normal distribution. To determine if there was a change from one measurement to the other, the paired Student's t test was used if the distribution of the samples did not differ significantly from the normal distribution with statistically equal variance. If those assumptions were not met, the Wilcoxon signed-rank test was used. To detect differences among multiple dependent samples, repeated-measures ANOVA or Friedman tests were used appropriately, followed by post hoc analysis with the Tukey test or Dunn test with Bonferroni correction. In order to evaluate the difference between the BMI category of studied children on each visit, the McNemar test for paired proportions was used, as patients served here as their own control. In all statistical tests, a significance level of $\alpha = 0.05$ was assumed.

The study was approved by the Bioethical Committee of Wrocław Medical University, Wrocław, Poland (No. KB-487/2022).

Results

A total of 185 patients with T1D were included in the study (96 boys, 51.9%), aged 2–18 years (11.5 \pm 3.5), with disease duration from 1 to 15 years (4.4 \pm 3.1). Furthermore, 135 of them (72.9%) use continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion

(CSII), and 142 (76.8%) use continuous glucose monitoring (CGM) or flash glucose monitoring (FGM) systems. Boys and girls did not differ according to age or duration of the disease (p=0.8025 and p=0.6411, respectively).

During the first months of the studied period, despite comparable TIR (57.5 \pm 21.4% vs. 59.9 \pm 20.5%, p=0.3604), a significant improvement in HbA1c was noticed: 7.9 \pm 1.6% vs. 7.5 \pm 1.4%, (p=0.0336). It was followed by the stabilization of metabolic control, with comparable results regarding both TIR and HbA1c on second, third, and fourth visits: 59.9 \pm 20.5% vs. 63.8 \pm 17.6% vs. 63.1 \pm 16.4%, p=0.4796, and 7.5 \pm 1.4% vs. 7.6 \pm 1.3% vs. 7.7 \pm 1.3%, p=0.6065, respectively. Those observations were comparable for both sexes, although the HbA1c concentration on the last visit in girls was significantly lower compared with the HbA1c concentration in boys (Table 1, Figure 1). Furthermore, the TIR on the second and third visits was significantly lower in girls than in boys.

During the whole study period, the TDD increased significantly (p=0.0003) from 37.3 ± 18.9 units/day on the first visit to 41.7 ± 21.1 units/day on the second visit (p=0.0353) up to 46.8 ± 22.7 units/day on the fourth visit (p=0.0258); however, insulin demand related to body mass remained constant (0.8 ± 0.2 units/kg on the first visit vs. 0.8 ± 0.3 units/kg on the last visit, p=0.4857). Likewise, the proportion of basal insulin in the TDD was comparable throughout the observation ($39.7 \pm 11.3\%$ on the first visit vs. $39.3 \pm 13.6\%$ on the last visit, p=0.7428). Those findings were similar for both sexes (p>0.05).

The BMI, as well as BMI%ile, of the examined patients increased significantly during the study period (p=0.0027 and p=0.0001, respectively), especially in the first months of restrictive lockdown (from $19.1 \pm 3.7 \text{ kg/m}^2$ before lockdown vs. $20.1 \pm 3.6 \text{ kg/m}^2$ on the second visit, p<0.0001, and from 58.9 ± 26.2 before lockdown vs. 64.6 ± 26.0 on the second visit, p<0.0001), stabilizing when the pandemic limitations were loosened ($20.4 \pm 3.9 \text{ kg/m}^2$ on the third visit vs. $20.9 \pm 4.1 \text{ kg/m}^2$ on the last visit, p=0.2302, and $60.7 \pm 26.6 \text{ kg/m}^2$ on the third visit vs. $58.1 \pm 28.4 \text{ kg/m}^2$ on the last visit p=0.4098). It is noteworthy that a significant increase in BMI

```
TABLE 1 Metabolic control in children with type 1 diabetes before and during SARS-CoV-2 pandemic according to sex.
```

		Total	Boys	Girls	P value
Visit 1	HbA1c [%]	7.9 ± 1.6	7.8 ± 1.8	8.0 ± 1.4	0.7458
	TIR [%]	57.5 ± 21.4	61.4 ± 21.3 51.4 ± 20.0 8.0 ± 1.9 7.6 ± 1.4	0.1007	
Visit 2	HbA1c [%]	7.5 ± 1.4	8.0 ± 1.9	7.6 ± 1.4	0.1070
	TIR [%]	59.9 ± 20.5	60.5 ± 20.4	52.8 ± 21.2	0.0127
Visit 3	HbA1c [%]	7.6 ± 1.3	7.8 ± 1.7	7.4 ± 1.0	0.0550
	TIR [%]	63.8 ± 17.6	68.5 ± 16.7	58.4 ± 17.6	0.0001
Visit 4	HbA1c [%]	7.7 ± 1.3	7.9 ± 1.4	7.5 ± 1.0	0.0276
	TIR [%]	TIR [%] 63.1 ± 16.4 63.9 ± 16.2 62.1 ± 17.0	62.1 ± 17.0	0.4618	
P value (ANOVA)	HbA1c	0.0678	0.7654	0.2979	
	TIR	0.8363	0.3324	0.0952	

TIR, time in range, 70-180 mg/dl.

was observed in girls but not in boys, with a clear difference on the last visit. BMI%ile, however, changed during the study period regardless of sex (Table 2, Figure 2), overall indicating significant weight gain in girls and reduction of body mass in boys.

The prevalence of overweight and obesity in the studied population is presented in Table 3 and Figure 3. The overall proportion of different categories of BMI was stable (p>0.05) throughout the study period; however, there was a significant change in the percentage of patients with overweight and obesity, with an increase during the lockdown period from 18% on visit 1 to 28% on visit 2 (p<0.0001), and the reduction to 23% on visit 3 (p<0.0001), stabilizing afterward to 23% on visits 3 and 4 (p>0.05). Finally, the percentage of patients with excess body mass increased during the observation by 5.4% (Table 4).

Lastly, we evaluated whether overweight and obesity at the beginning of the observation influenced the change in body mass during the study period. The difference between the BMI on the first and last visits was significantly (p=0.0078) greater in patients who had excess body mass before the pandemic (-1.8 \pm 4.8 kg/m²) than in children with normal body weight (0.3 \pm 2.2 kg/m²). On the other hand, those patients reduced their BMI%ile by 0.1 \pm 7.0 (p=0.0046), whereas children without excess body mass gained weight and their BMI%ile increased by 1.9 \pm 8.7 (p=0.0002). The difference was not significant between those groups (p=0.2554).

Discussion

Rundle et al. hypothesized that restrictive mitigation measures due to the COVID-19 pandemic will exacerbate the risk factors of weight gain in children mainly by increasing food insecurity along with higher consumption of ultraprocessed and calorie-dense food. Consequently, children will experience higher calorie diets. Furthermore, social distancing and "stay at home" recommendations reduce opportunities for physical activities and enhance sedentary behaviors and screen time (10). Observations done during the early months of the COVID-19 pandemic by Pietrobelli et al. support Rundle's hypothesis. In this small study on lifestyle changes during lockdown in 41 obese children, the authors found an increased number in meals eaten per day followed by an increased intake in potato chips, sugary drinks, and red meat. Sleep time and screen time increased significantly, whereas sports time decreased significantly. Although post-confinement measurements of body mass were not performed in this study due to pandemic limitations, it may be assumed that the above-mentioned negative lifestyle changes will result in an excess weight gain during the lockdown (4).

Obviously, a negative association of mitigation measures related to the pandemic with reduced activity level, increased sedentary behavior, and weight gain is observed not only in the general population but also in people with diabetes. In a cohort of children with T1D, we have observed a significant increase in BMI, as well as BMI%ile, during the study period. Weight gain was especially distinct in the first months of restrictive lockdown; nevertheless, when pandemic mitigations were loosened, both the BMI and BMI %ile stabilized. Moreover, we have found that the prevalence of overweight and obesity increased during the study period by 5.4%; however, the greatest augmentation, reaching 10.3%, happened during lockdown. Our results are in line with Weaver et al.'s observation that COVID-19 led to an accelerated increase in the BMI z-score gain. This interesting investigation was designed as an interrupted time-series study with anthropometric data collected in August/September from 2017 to 2020, followed by an estimation of mixed-effects linear regression of the yearly BMI z-score change before and during the COVID-19 pandemic (i.e., 2017-2019 and 2019-2020, respectively). It was found that the non-pandemic yearly BMI z-score change was stable, reaching +0.03 every year (95% CI=-0.10, 0.15; difference 0.0, 95% CI=-0.09, 0.08), whereas during the pandemic year, it was +0.34 (95% CI=0.21, 0.47), with an acceleration in the BMI z-score change of +0.31 (95% CI=1.19, 0.44). The increase in the BMI z-score during the COVID-19 pandemic corresponded with an increased risk of excess adiposity in those children (odds ratio 1.80, 95% CI=1.40, 2.33) (11). Similarly, Jarnig et al.'s study showed that in a cohort of 764

TABLE 2 Body mass index in type 1 diabetic children before and during SARS-CoV-2 pandemic according to sex.

		Total	Boys	Girls	P value
Visit 1	BMI [kg/m ²]	19.1 ± 3.7	18.9 ± 3.4	19.3 ± 4.0	0.6043
	BMI%ile	I%ile 58.9 ± 26.2 64.8 ± 23.6 52.5 ± 27.7	52.5 ± 27.7	0.0417	
Visit 2	BMI [kg/m ²]	20.1 ± 3.6	18.8 ± 2.7	19.4 ± 3.9	0.2225
	BMI%ile	64.6 ± 26.0	64.3 ± 26.1	64.9 ± 26.3	0.9295
Visit 3	BMI [kg/m ²]	20.4 ± 3.9	20.1 ± 4.2	20.8 ± 3.4	0.2165
	BMI%ile	60.7 ± 26.6	60.2 ± 27.1	61.3 ± 26.4	0.8532
Visit 4	BMI [kg/m ²]	20.9 ± 4.1	20.3 ± 4.5	21.6 ± 3.5	0.0304
	BMI%ile	58.1 ± 28.4	57.8 ± 31.1	58.5 ± 25.5	0.8858
P value (ANOVA)	BMI [kg/m ²]	p=0.0027	0.0956	0.0220	
	BMI%ile	0.0001	0.0009	0.0019	

BMI, body mass index; BMI%ile, body mass index percentile.

	BMI criterion*	Total	Boys	Girls	P value
Visit 1	Underweight	3%	0%	6%	0.1280
	Normal BMI	80%	82%	78%	0.6690
	Overweight	14%	10% 17% 8% 0% 0% 7% 73% 63% 21% 26% 6% 4% 0% 6%	17%	0.3803
	Obese	4% 8%	0%	0.0852	
Visit 2	Underweight	3%	0%	7%	0.1257
	Normal BMI	68%	73% 21%	63%	0.4107
	Overweight	23%	21%	26%	0.6510
	Obese	5%	6%		0.7283
Visit 3	Underweight	3%	0%	6%	0.1446
	Normal BMI	74%	82% 78% 10% 17% 8% 0% 0% 7% 73% 63% 21% 26% 6% 4% 0% 6% 77% 71% 12% 20% 11% 3% 4% 0% 70% 79% 17% 20% 9% 1%	71%	0.5812
	Overweight	15%	12%	20%	0.3770
	Obese	8%		3%	0.2143
Visit 4	Underweight	2%	4%	0%	0.0992
	Normal BMI	74%	70%	79%	0.2238
	Overweight	17%	17%	20%	0.6475
	Obese	6%	9%	1%	0.0332
P value		0.9905	0.7687	0.8425	

TABLE 3 The prevalence of underweight, overweight, and obesity in children with type 1 diabetes before and during SARS-CoV-2 pandemic.

* Underweight (BMI < 5th %ile); normal BMI (BMI 5th - 85th %ile); overweight (BMI \ge 85th %ile – 95th %ile); obese (BMI \ge 95th %ile) (9). BMI, body mass index.

Austrian children, the implementation of strict pandemic limitations was associated with an increase in the BMI z-score by 0.16 ± 1.10 during 1 year of observation. In this study, the percentage of children with excess adiposity increased by 3.8%, from 20.3% to 24.1% (12).

One explanation of the observed weight gain, as mentioned by Pietrobelli et al. and Rundle et al., is the unhealthy change in eating behavior, including the increased consumption of ultraprocessed, calorie-dense comfort foods (4, 10). As the TDD increased during the observation, we may suspect in the studied cohort of an increased caloric intake during the pandemic; however, regrettably, it was not evaluated in a direct manner. Still, downloads of personal insulin pump data revealed a higher number of meal boluses during lockdown (data not shown). Moreover, in some children, an increased basal rate during the day might have covered snacking. Increased calorie intake is apparently not the whole story. The other part is the decrease in physical activity, as school closures and social distancing orders issued across the world reduced the opportunities to exercise (4, 10). Restrictions imposed in many countries, including Poland, resulted in limited occasions to be physically active. The negative association of pandemic mitigation measures with the level of physical activity and sedentary behavior, and subsequent decreased physical fitness, was described in numerous studies and is considered to be the indirect consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic (4, 12-16). Unfortunately, in our study, we did not measure the level of physical activity, which is undoubtedly a limitation of the study. It has to be underlined, however, that the initial COVID-19 mitigation measures implemented in Poland were rigorous and included the closure of not only gyms and swimming pools, but also playgrounds and parks, as well as prohibiting children under the age of 16 to stay outside their home without adult supervision. Together with physical education classes, all other organized sport activities were suspended. Therefore, we may assume that weight gain found in our study, at least in part, was the result of reduced activity. Pandemic mitigation measures implemented in Poland were comparable to those imposed in Austria. Hence, Jarnig et al.'s study, which examined the association of COVID-19 restrictions with changes in

TABLE 4 The difference between paired proportions of patients with overweight and obesity on each visit.

Visit interval	Difference	95% Confidence Interval	P value (McNemar test)
Visit 1–Visit 2	10.3%	5.9% to 14.6%	<0.0001
Visit 2-Visit 3	-4.6%	-7.6% to -1.7%	<0.0001
Visit 3-Visit 4	0%	0%	
Visit 1-Visit 4	5.4%	2.1% to 8.7%	<0.0001



cardiorespiratory fitness (CRF) in primary schoolchildren, could be referred to the situation in our country and in our cohort (12). They found that, along with weight gain, the CRF SD scores decreased (-1.06, 95% CI=-1.13, -1.0) apparently due to lower physical activity, especially those of higher intensity (12, 17, 18). The increased TDD of insulin, noticed in our study during the lockdown period, may also be the indirect evidence of reduced physical activity, since in children who exercise, a significant reduction in insulin dose is observed and recommended (19–21). It was assumed that overweight and obese patients tend to gain more weight than subjects with normal body mass. The explanation for this observation seems to be simple: people with excessive adiposity more often present unhealthy dietary habits, including increased consumption of sweets, meat, and fried food, while their physical activity is lower (3, 22). Indeed, the increased quantity and decreased quality of meals were confirmed in multicenter studies to be associated with a higher BMI (23). The survey from Poland revealed that obese subjects had the lowest frequency of vegetables, fruits, and legumes consumption





on a daily basis (58.5% and 13.8%, respectively), whereas everyday consumption of fast foods and meat was the highest (3.2% and 40.4%, respectively). The weight gain in overweight and obese people was the greatest. The authors conclude that mitigation measures may amplify preexisting excess adiposity and, therefore, magnify health issues related to body mass (24). The meta-analysis by Bakaloudi et al. confirmed that there was a tendency toward an increase in body weight during lockdown in the majority of studies and populations (25).

The meta-analysis by Tu-Hsuan Chang et al. showed that there was an increase in the BMI of children in the general population (MD 0.77, 95% CI 0.33-1.20;p= 0.0006), associated with the period with strict restrictions, followed by the increased rates of obesity (OR 1.23, 95% CI 1.10-1.37; p = 0.0002) and overweight (OR 1.17, 95% CI 1.06-1.29; p = 0.001). The authors performed the subgroup analysis according to the study population, which showed that the BMI did not change significantly during the lockdown both in children with T1D mellitus and obesity. It has to be underlined though that the substantial heterogeneity among studies, also in the subgroup analysis, was reported (26). On the contrary, in our study, the BMI as well as BMI%ile of pediatric patients with T1D increased significantly during the study period, especially in the period of restrictive lockdown, stabilizing subsequently with the withdrawal of the pandemic limitations. On the other hand, in overweight and obese patients with T1D, in absolute values, the change of the BMI was significantly higher in comparison with normal-weight children; however, overweight and obese subjects reduced their BMI%ile during lockdown. Thus, it can be concluded that children who had excess adiposity before the COVID-19 pandemic did not experience accelerated weight gain during the pandemic. Comparable results were reported by Weaver et al., who revealed that the BMI z-score gain increase was enhanced during the pandemic lockdown, but this observation did not apply to pre-pandemic overweight and obese children (11). We may only speculate that improved parental control while being together during the lockdown, and less possibility to buy unhealthy snacks, resulted in less weight gain.

The question is whether the observed changes in body weight could be transitory once the imposed restrictions are withdrawn. Matsumoto et al. found that in obese patients, a decrease in body fat was significantly higher during lockdown in comparison with the group unaffected by mobility restrictions. On the other hand, their exercise tolerance (VO2 at anaerobic threshold and peak VO2) was significantly lower (27). This corresponds with Jarnig et al.'s study in children, who observed reduced CRF due to reduced physical activity during lockdown (12). The time after COVID-19 mitigations were withdrawn worldwide is too short to be sure whether children will recover from the consequences of the previous restrictions. Our study brings some data on this. As in many other studies, we have observed an increase in the BMI and BMI%ile during the period of restrictive lockdown. It resulted in an increase in the prevalence of overweight and obesity in the studied cohort by approximately 10%, from the initial 18% on the pre-pandemic visit to 28% on the second visit (the lockdown visit). Fortunately, a further increase in both the BMI and BMI%ile was not observed, indicating the stabilization of patients' body mass when pandemic mitigations were loosened and the intensification of physical activity was possible. Furthermore, the prevalence of excess adiposity was reduced by 4.6% between the second and third visits, giving the overall increase in overweight and obesity rate by 5.4% throughout the study period. It clearly indicates the importance of physical activity in maintaining body mass (17, 18).

The deterioration of metabolic control may be expected in patients with T1D as a result of lower intensity of physical
activity, negative change in nutritional habits, and an increased level of stress accompanying the sudden change of lifestyle due to lockdown and separation anxiety. Indeed, people with diabetes who reported deterioration in metabolic control experienced higher stress, followed by increased insulin demand during lockdown, as reported by Ruissen et al., but, surprisingly, an elevated level of anxiety was not associated with HbA1c itself. Furthermore, in this study, 40.9% of patients reported weight gain and 45.7% decreased physical activity without any difference between people with type 1 and type 2 diabetes, and, again, without any influence on HbA1c. Ruissen et al. showed in people with T1D that HbA1c was lower during lockdown than before this period (7.52 \pm 1.1% vs. 7.68 \pm 1.2%, p<0.0001), even though the mean difference is not clinically relevant. Additionally, glucose monitoring data showed higher time in range (63.4% vs. 60.5%, p=0.0009) together with lower time above range (32.1% vs. 34.6%, p<0.003), but glucose variability did not change. The authors concluded that the improvement in metabolic control was a consequence of more focus on diabetes self-management, indicated by more frequent glucose monitoring, as the number of FGM scans per day increased from 9.6 ± 6.5 before lockdown to 11.8 vs. 8.1 during lockdown (p<0.01). Interestingly, the biggest improvement in HbA1c was reported in patients in the highest pre-lockdown tertile of HbA1c (28). Continuous glucose monitoring systems significantly improved the metabolic control of diabetes (29). Similar results were observed in our cohort, where HbA1c lowered by 0.4% during the lockdown, despite comparable time in range. The following visits showed the stabilization of improvement in the metabolic control achieved during the first months of the studied period. Our results are in agreement with an Italian report on 62 patients, showing the time in range increased by 3% (p=0.008), resulting in the improvement from 7.4% to 7.25% of the glucose management indicator during the first 3 months of lockdown. Furthermore, glucose variability lowered as glucose standard deviation and coefficient of variation improved across the study (p<0.0001 and p=0.001, respectively) (30). Another Italian study revealed the dependence of metabolic results on the patient's age because CGM metrics improved during the lockdown in children (glucose standard deviation, p=0.029 and time below range, p=0.029) and adults (time in range, p<0.001), whereas, in teenagers, CGM metrics remained unchanged during lockdown. Furthermore, it was reported that adult patients who improved metabolic control were more physically active and younger, whereas those who worsened glucose control showed higher perceived stress compared with others (31). Eberle and Stichling in their systematic review, which included 33 studies with 2,881 T1D participants and 1,823 type 2 diabetes participants, concluded that the glycemic control of patients with T1D improved significantly during lockdown (32). The authors of the above studies suggest that continuous parental management associated with positive changes in self-management of the disease could have beneficial effects on metabolic control in T1D. The role of telemedicine was also underlined (30-32). The results from the Diabetes Prospective follow-up registry regarding metabolic control during the COVID-19 pandemic lockdown in a large cohort of German children with T1D showed comparable metabolic control before, during, and after lockdown in the spring months of 2020. The authors aggregated HbA1c values from laboratory measurements and, from continuous glucose monitoring, derived estimates into a combined glucose indicator (CGI), which is analogous to HbA1c itself. The CGI values of 19,729 patients for 2020 were insignificantly higher compared with those for 2019, whereas the time in range increased and the mean sensor glucose decreased in 2020. It is noteworthy that there were fewer hospitalizations in 2020 in comparison with 2019 (33). This is in line with the observation of our center (data not shown). Stable metabolic control during the period of COVID-19 related mitigation measures was also found in pediatric patients with T1D from Greece and Israel (34, 35). To our knowledge, no study has indicated a deterioration of metabolic control in patients with T1D. Again, the "stay at home" rule may have had a positive effect on metabolic control in diabetic patients by increasing the time spent under parental supervision and parental diabetes management. Furthermore, slowdown in daily activities might have resulted in focusing on one's diabetes management, whereas spending more time in a private environment reduced the embarrassment in performing diabetes care with others present and the diabetes-related stigma, especially in adolescents (36, 37).

Undoubtedly, the COVID-19 pandemic and necessary restrictions resulting from it have worsened the burden of childhood obesity. Furthermore, the reduction of physical activity along with the increase in sedentary behavior not only negatively influenced changes in the BMI but also impaired relevant health-related parameters including cardiorespiratory fitness (CRF). The CRF level is negatively correlated with markers of adiposity: BMI, waist circumference, and quantity of body fat. The higher the level of CRF during childhood, the lower the risk factors of metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular disease (CVD) later in life (38). The role of diabetes as a cardiovascular risk factor is well known. Fortunately, restrictions related to COVID-19 generally did not impair metabolic control in people with T1D (39-41). Treatment of CVD risk factors, including excess adiposity, as well as regular physical activity plays an important role in the primary and secondary prevention of CVD (42). This observation is true not only in the general population but also in people with diabetes (43). Therefore, it could be assumed that increasing obesity and worsening of CRF due to prolonged periods of forced inactivity will likely have additional implications for the health of children and adolescents with diabetes. Hence, interventions to ensure the recovery to an age-adequate BMI and CRF level are needed and should be undertaken (44).

Conclusions

The parameters of metabolic control in pediatric patients with T1D during the pandemic period remained stable; however, weight gain and an increase in daily insulin dose have been observed, possibly due to reduced physical activity.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

This study was reviewed and approved by The study was approved by the Bioethical Committee of Wrocław Medical University, Wrocław, Poland (No. KB-487/2022). Written informed consent from the participants' legal guardian/next of kin was not required to participate in this study in accordance with the national legislation and institutional requirements.

Author contributions

AZ-K: Conceptualization; Formal analysis; Investigation; Methodology; Project administration; Validation; Writing -

References

1. Zhao S, Lin Q, Ran J, Musa SS, Yang G, Wang W, et al. Preliminary estimation of the basic reproduction number of novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV) in China, from 2019 to 2020: A data-driven analysis in the early phase of the outbreak. *Int J Infect Dis* (2020) 92:214–7. doi: 10.1016/j.ijid.2020.01.050

2. COVID-19 educational disruption and response, UNESCO. Available at: https://en.unesco.org/covid19/educationresponse (Accessed April 24, 2020).

3. Cena H, Fiechtner L, Vincenti A, Magenes VC, De Giuseppe R, Manuelli M, et al. COVID-19 pandemic as risk factors for excessive weight gain in pediatrics: The role of changes in nutrition behavior. *A Narrative Rev Nutrients* (2021) 13 (12):4255. doi: 10.3390/nu13124255

4. Pietrobelli A, Pecoraro L, Ferruzzi A, Heo M., Faith M, Zoller T, et al. Effects of COVID-19 lockdown on lifestyle behaviors in children with obesity living in Verona, Italy: A longitudinal study. *Obes (Silver Spring)* (2020) 28(8):1382–5. doi: 10.1002/oby.22861

5. Majcher A, Czerwonogrodzka-Senczyna A, Kądziela K, Rumińska M, Pyrżak B. Development of obesity from childhood to adolescents. *Pediatr Endocrinol Diabetes Metab* (2021) 27(2):70–5. doi: 10.5114/pedm.2021.105297

 Ciężki S, Kurpiewska E, Bossowski A, Głowińska-Olszewska B. Multi-faceted influence of obesity on type 1 diabetes in children - from disease pathogenesis to complications. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)* (2022) 13:890833. doi: 10.3389/ fendo.2022.890833

7. Jamiołkowska-Sztabkowska M, Głowińska-Olszewska B, Bossowski A. C-peptide and residual β -cell function in pediatric diabetes - state of the art. Pediatr Endocrinol Diabetes Metab (2021) 27(2):123–33. doi: 10.5114/pedm.2021.107165

8. WHO. *Child growth standards* (2022). Available at: https://www.who.int/ toolkits/child-growth-standards/standards/body-mass-index-for-age-bmi-for-age (Accessed January 24, 2022). original draft, review & editing. BW: Investigation; Methodology; Validation; Writing - review & editing. AN: Conceptualization; Methodology; Supervision; Writing review & editing. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

The publication fee for this article was paid by the Medical University of Wroclaw.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

9. Barlow SEExpert Committee. Expert committee recommendations regarding the prevention, assessment, and treatment of child and adolescent overweight and obesity: summary report. *Pediatrics* (2007) 120(suppl 4):s164–92. doi: 10.1542/peds.2007-2329C

10. Rundle AG, Park Y, Herbstman JB, Kinsey EW, Wang YC. COVID-19-Related school closings and risk of weight gain among children. *Obes (Silver Spring)* (2020) 28(6):1008–9. doi: 10.1002/oby.22813

11. Weaver RG, Hunt ET, Armstrong B, Beets MW, Brazendale K, Turner-McGrievy G, et al. COVID-19 leads to accelerated increases in children's BMI zscore gain: An interrupted time-series study. *Am J Prev Med* (2021) 61(4):e161–9. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2021.04.007

12. Jarnig G, Jaunig J, van Poppel MNM. Association of COVID-19 mitigation measures with changes in cardiorespiratory fitness and body mass index among children aged 7 to 10 years in Austria. *JAMA Netw Open* (2021) 4(8):e2121675. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.21675

13. Moore SA, Faulkner G, Rhodes RE, Brussoni M, Chulak-Bozzer T, Ferguson LJ, et al. Impact of the COVID-19 virus outbreak on movement and play behaviours of Canadian children and youth: a national survey. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act* (2020) 17(1):85. doi: 10.1186/s12966-020-00987-8

14. Pombo A, Luz C, Rodrigues LP, Ferreira C, Cordovil R. Correlates of children's physical activity during the COVID-19 confinement in Portugal. *Public Health* (2020) 189:14–9. doi: 10.1016/j.puhe.2020.09.009

15. Dunton GF, Do B, Wang SD. Early effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on physical activity and sedentary behavior in children living in the U. S BMC Public Health (2020) 20(1):1351. doi: 10.1186/s12889-020-09429-3

 López-Bueno R, López-Sánchez GF, Casajús JA, Calatayud J, Gil-Salmerón A, Grabovac I, et al. Health-related behaviors among school-aged children and adolescents during the Spanish covid-19 confinement. Front Pediatr (2020) 8:573. doi: 10.3389/fped.2020.00573

17. Raghuveer G, Hartz J, Lubans DR, Takken T, Wiltz JL, Mietus-Snyder M, et al. Cardiorespiratory fitness in youth: An important marker of health: A scientific statement from the American heart association. *Circulation* (2020) 142(7):e101–18. doi: 10.1161/CIR.00000000000866

18. Domaradzki J, Koźlenia D, Popowczak M. Prevalence of positive effects on body fat percentage, cardiovascular parameters, and cardiorespiratory fitness after 10-week high-intensity interval training in adolescents. *Biol (Basel)* (2022) 11 (3):424. doi: 10.3390/biology11030424

19. Ostman C, Jewiss D, King N, Smart NA. Clinical outcomes to exercise training in type 1 diabetes: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* (2018) 139:380–91. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2017.11.036

20. Riddell MC, Gallen IW, Smart CE, Taplin CE, Adolfsson P, Lumb AN, et al. Exercise management in type 1 diabetes: a consensus statement [published correction appears. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol* (2017) 5(5):377–90. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(17)30014-1

21. Moser O, Riddell MC, Eckstein ML, Adolfsson P, Rabasa-Lhoret R, van den Boom L, et al. Glucose management for exercise using continuous glucose monitoring (CGM) and intermittently scanned CGM (isCGM) systems in type 1 diabetes: position statement of the European association for the study of diabetes (EASD) and of the international society for pediatric and adolescent diabetes (ISPAD) endorsed by JDRF and supported by the American diabetes association (ADA). *Pediatr Diabetes* (2020) 21(8):1375–93. doi: 10.1111/pedi.13105

22. Brooks CG, Spencer JR, Sprafka JM, Roehl KA, Ma J, Londhe AA, et al. Pediatric BMI changes during COVID-19 pandemic: An electronic health recordbased retrospective cohort study. *E Clin Med* (2021) 38:101026. doi: 10.1016/ j.eclinm.2021.101026

23. Ruiz-Roso MB, de Carvalho Padilha P, Mantilla-Escalante DC, Ulloa N, Brun P, Acevedo-Correa D, et al. Covid-19 confinement and changes of adolescent's dietary trends in Italy, Spain, Chile, Colombia and Brazil. *Nutrients* (2020) 12(6):1807. doi: 10.3390/nu12061807

24. Sidor A, Rzymski P. Dietary choices and habits during COVID-19 lockdown: Experience from Poland. *Nutrients* (2020) 12(6):1657. doi: 10.3390/ nu12061657

25. Bakaloudi DR, Barazzoni R, Bischoff SC, Breda J, Wickramasinghe K, Chourdakis M. Impact of the first COVID-19 lockdown on body weight: A combined systematic review and a meta-analysis. *Clin Nutr (Edinburgh, Scotland)* (2021) S0261-5614(21)00207-7. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2021.04.015

26. Chang TH, Chen YC, Chen WY, Chen CY, Hsu WY, Chou Y, et al. Weight gain associated with COVID-19 lockdown in children and adolescents: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Nutrients* (2021) 13(10):3668. doi: 10.3390/nu13103668

27. Matsumoto Y, Kurose S, Miyauchi T, Yoshiuchi S, Habu D, Kimura Y. Effect of mobility restrictions during the coronavirus disease epidemic on body composition and exercise tolerance in patients with obesity: Single institutional retrospective cohort study. *J Phys Act Health* (2022) 19(5):1–7. doi: 10.1123/jpah.2021-0649

28. Ruissen MM, Regeer H, Landstra CP, Schroijen M, Jazet I, Nijhoff M, et al. Increased stress, weight gain and less exercise in relation to glycemic control in people with type 1 and type 2 diabetes during the COVID-19 pandemic. *BMJ Open Diabetes Res Care* (2021) 9(1):e002035. doi: 10.1136/bmjdrc-2020-002035

29. Kowalczyk E M, Adamczyk M, Pietrzyk J, Jastrzębska B, Szypowska A. Continuous glucose monitoring systems in well-controlled children with type 1 diabetes mellitus. *Pediatr Endocrinol Diabetes Metab* (2021) 27(3):151–8. doi: 10.5114/pedm.2021.107717

30. Predieri B, Leo F, Candia F, Lucaccioni L, Madeo SF, Pugliese M, et al. Glycemic control improvement in Italian children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes followed through telemedicine during lockdown due to the COVID-19

pandemic. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) (2020) 11:595735. doi: 10.3389/ fendo.2020.595735

31. Di Dalmazi G, Maltoni G, Bongiorno C, Tucci L, Di Natale V, Moscatiello S, et al. Comparison of the effects of lockdown due to COVID-19 on glucose patterns among children, adolescents, and adults with type 1 diabetes: CGM study. *BMJ Open Diabetes Res Care* (2020) 8(2):e001664. doi: 10.1136/bmjdrc-2020-001664

32. Eberle C, Stichling S. Impact of COVID-19 lockdown on glycemic control in patients with type 1 and type 2 diabetes mellitus: a systematic review. *Diabetol Metab Syndr* (2021) 13(1):95. doi: 10.1186/s13098-021-00705-9

33. Hammersen J, Reschke F, Tittel SR, Pappa A, Dost A, Köstner K, et al. Metabolic control during the SARS-CoV-2 lockdown in a large German cohort of pediatric patients with type 1 diabetes: Results from the DPV initiative. *Pediatr Diabetes* (2022) 23(3):351–61. doi: 10.1111/pedi.13319

34. Christoforidis A, Kavoura E, Nemtsa A, Pappa K, Dimitriadou M. Coronavirus lockdown effect on type 1 diabetes management on children wearing insulin pump equipped with continuous glucose monitoring system. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* (2020) 166:108307. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2020.108307

35. Brener A, Mazor-Aronovitch K, Rachmiel M, Levek N, Barash G, Pinhas-Hamiel O, et al. Lessons learned from the continuous glucose monitoring metrics in pediatric patients with type 1 diabetes under COVID-19 lockdown. *Acta Diabetol* (2020) 57(12):1511–7. doi: 10.1007/s00592-020-01596-4

36. Bonora BM, Boscari F, Avogaro A, Bruttomesso D, Fadini GP. Glycaemic control among people with type 1 diabetes during lockdown for the SARS-CoV-2 outbreak in Italy. *Diabetes Ther* (2020) 11(6):1369–79. doi: 10.1007/s13300-020-00829-7

37. Brazeau AS, Nakhla M, Wright M, Henderson M, Panagiotopoulos C, Pacaud D, et al. Stigma and its association with glycemic control and hypoglycemia in adolescents and young adults with type 1 diabetes: Cross-sectional study. *J Med Internet Res* (2018) 20(4):e151. doi: 10.2196/jmir.9432

38. Mintjens S, Menting MD, Daams JG, van Poppel MNM, Roseboom TJ, Gemke RJBJ. Cardiorespiratory fitness in childhood and adolescence affects future cardiovascular risk factors: A systematic review of longitudinal studies. *Sports Med* (2018) 48(11):2577–605. doi: 10.1007/s40279-018-0974-5

39. Diabetes Control and Complications Trial (DCCT). Epidemiology of diabetes interventions and complications (EDIC) study research group. intensive diabetes treatment and cardiovascular outcomes in type 1 diabetes: The DCCT/ EDIC study 30-year follow-up. *Diabetes Care* (2016) 39(5):686–93. doi: 10.2337/ dc15-1990

40. Miller RG, Costacou T, Orchard TJ. Risk factor modeling for cardiovascular disease in type 1 diabetes in the Pittsburgh epidemiology of diabetes complications (EDC) study: A comparison with the diabetes control and complications Trial/Epidemiology of diabetes interventions and complications study (DCCT/EDIC). *Diabetes* (2019) 68(2):409–19. doi: 10.2337/db18-0515

41. McGurnaghan SJ, McKeigue PM, Read SH, Franzen S, Svensson AM, Colombo M, et al. Development and validation of a cardiovascular risk prediction model in type 1 diabetes. *Diabetologia* (2021) 64(9):2001-11. doi: 10.1007/s00125-021-05478-4

42. Shah VN, Grimsmann JM, Foster NC, Dost A, Miller KM, Pavel M, et al. Undertreatment of cardiovascular risk factors in the type 1 diabetes exchange clinic network (United states) and the prospective diabetes follow-up (Germany/Austria) registries. *Diabetes Obes Metab* (2020) 22(9):1577–85. doi: 10.1111/dom.14069

43. Wu N, Bredin SSD, Jamnik VK, Koehle MS, Guan Y, Shellington EM, et al. Association between physical activity level and cardiovascular risk factors in adolescents living with type 1 diabetes mellitus: a cross-sectional study. *Cardiovasc Diabetol* (2021) 20(1):62. doi: 10.1186/s12933-021-01255-0

44. Margaritis I, Houdart S, El Ouadrhiri Y, Bigard X, Vuillemin A, Duché P. How to deal with COVID-19 epidemic-related lockdown physical inactivity and sedentary increase in youth? adaptation of anses' benchmarks. *Arch Public Health* (2020) 78:52. doi: 10.1186/s13690-020-00432-z

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Stefano Stagi, University of Florence, Italy

REVIEWED BY

Agnieszka Zubkiewicz-Kucharska, Wrocław Medical University, Poland Gerdi Tuli, Regina Margherita Hospital, Itały

*CORRESPONDENCE M. Guftar Shaikh Guftar.shaikh@ggc.scot.nhs.uk

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Pediatric Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

RECEIVED 08 August 2022 ACCEPTED 27 September 2022 PUBLISHED 17 October 2022

CITATION

McCowan R, Wild E, Lucas-Herald AK, McNeilly J, Mason A, Wong SC, Ahmed SF and Shaikh MG (2022) The effect of COVID-19 on the presentation of thyroid disease in children. *Front. Endocrinol.* 13:1014533. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.1014533

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 McCowan, Wild, Lucas-Herald, McNeilly, Mason, Wong, Ahmed and Shaikh. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License

(CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

The effect of COVID-19 on the presentation of thyroid disease in children

Rebecca McCowan^{1,2†}, Edith Wild^{1,2†}, Angela K. Lucas-Herald^{1,2}, Jane McNeilly³, Avril Mason^{1,2}, Sze Choong Wong^{1,2}, S. Faisal Ahmed^{1,2} and M. Guftar Shaikh^{1,2*}

¹Developmental Endocrinology Research Group, University of Glasgow, Royal Hospital for Children, Glasgow, United Kingdom, ²Department of Paediatric Endocrinology, Royal Hospital for Children, Glasgow, United Kingdom, ³Department of Clinical Biochemistry, Queen Elizabeth University Hospital, Glasgow, United Kingdom

Introduction: Although studies suggest a potential link between COVID-19 and thyroid dysfunction in adults, there are insufficient data to confirm that association in children, and whether there is any effect on presentation to healthcare services.

Aims: To identify whether presentations of thyroid dysfunction in children to a tertiary paediatric hospital changed as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Methods: A retrospective case note review was conducted of all children with abnormal thyroid function tests between 1st January 2016 and 31st December 2021 at a tertiary paediatric endocrine centre in the United Kingdom.

Results: Overall, 244 children whose first presentation was within the timeframe of interest were included in this study, with a median age (range) of 11.5 (6.1, 16.8) years. Of these, 43 (18%) were hyperthyroid and 201 (82%) were hypothyroid. The greatest number of thyroid presentations occurred in 2021 (n=60, 25% of total over time period) and the fewest in 2020 (n=10, 4% of total over time period). Prior to this, the median (range) number of presentations per year was 34 (28, 39). There were no statistically significant differences in biochemistry, antibody status or other clinical characteristics between those who presented with hyperthyroidism prior to the pandemic or after. In those with hypothyroidism, baseline biochemistry was similar between the 2 groups, but the presence of other autoimmune conditions was greater pre-pandemic (17.2% vs 15.0%, p=0.03). In addition, patients were more likely to have transient thyroid dysfunction, which did not require treatment post-pandemic (70.0% vs 49.6%, p=0.0086).

Conclusions: Although overall rates of presentation with thyroid dysfunction have not altered since the first wave of the COVID-19 pandemic, presentations with transient thyroid dysfunction, not requiring ongoing treatment have increased. Further research regarding the relationship between COVID-19 and thyroid function in children and young people, is needed.

KEYWORDS

coronavirus, virus, thyrotoxicosis, hypothyroidism, antibodies

Introduction

Approximately 1-2% of children will have a thyroid disease before the age of 16 years (1). During the COVID-19 pandemic, there have been concerns regarding potential for increased rates of thyroid dysfunction, potentially due to the mechanism of entry of the virus *via* angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2), which is highly concentrated on thyroid cells (2, 3). In addition, thyroiditis as a result of viral infection triggers pre-formed colloid release which enables raised thyroid hormone concentration, i.e. thyrotoxicosis. Both autoimmune and viral thyroiditis can destroy follicular cells, further escalating thyrotoxicosis (4). In particular, COVID-19 can cause a cytokine storm, characterised by hyperactivity of the Th1/ Th17 immune response with increased production of proinflammatory cytokines, for example IL-6, which has been strongly associated with thyroiditis (5).

Studies regarding thyroid function and COVID-19 in adults suggest that the virus can contribute to increased rates and severity of thyroid dysfunction. One systematic review incorporating 1,237 adult patients, identified a positive correlation between thyroid dysfunction and clinical severity of COVID-19, with prevalence of thyroid dysfunction in patients positive for COVID-19 varying between 13-64% (6). Most commonly studies report lower Thyroid Stimulating Hormone (TSH) and free triidothyronine (fT_3) levels (7–9) in association with the virus.

There are very limited data available to date describing the effects of the pandemic on presentation with thyroid disease in children and young people. One study from an outpatient paediatric practice in New York reported increased numbers of thyroid screening tests but with no differences in TSH in children between the ages of 6-18 years pre- and post-pandemic (10). There have also been case reports in children showing an association between COVID-19 and significant thyroid dysfunction including thyroid storm (11), as well as increased risk of admission to Paediatric Intensive Care units (12).

Of note, the COVID-19 pandemic also caused significant changes to the provision of healthcare throughout the world. For

example, in one centre in the United Kingdom, nearly 1/3 of children with trisomy 21 did not receive the recommended annual TSH screening in 2020 compared to 3% in 2015 (13). A study in 25, 361 adults with thyroid disease in Japan found that thyroid control deteriorated with delayed follow up during the pandemic (14). It is possible therefore, that rates and clinical characteristics of presentation with thyroid dysfunction in all children may also differ pre- and post-pandemic.

The aim of this study was to identify whether presentations of thyroid dysfunction in children to a tertiary paediatric hospital changed as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Methods

Patients and methods

A retrospective case note review was conducted of all children with abnormal thyroid function tests between 1st January 2016 and 31st December 2021 at the Royal Hospital for Children in Glasgow, Scotland. This is a tertiary paediatric hospital, which takes new patient referrals from birth to the age of 16.9 years from throughout the West of Scotland, but primarily from the Greater Glasgow and Clyde area.

Children were identified *via* a primary search of laboratory results. Inclusion criteria were: age 5.0 to 16.9 years old, TSH>5mU/L or a $fT_4>21pmol/L$ and recorded between 01/01/2016 to 31/12/2021. Exclusion criteria were: diagnosis of secondary thyroid disease, abnormal thyroid function result prior to 01/03/2016, or where clinical information were not available. Where a child had more than one abnormal test result recorded within the timeframe and identified in the primary search, the first abnormal result was used for analysis if it was in the study period. It was not known if the children had exposure to COVID-19, prior or current COVID-19 infection, or COVID-19 vaccination. However, COVID-19 vaccination was not available to children in the United Kingdom during this time period. Routinely collected hospital data were collected from the child's electronic medical records to determine whether

treatment was started for the thyroid dysfunction, as well as sex and age at the time of the blood test and the presence/absence of some key symptoms of thyroid disease. The children were seen by different members of the Paediatric Endocrinology team so absolute standards for starting treatment, for example, may differ although in all cases, this was in response to clinical condition as well as biochemistry. For the purposes of analysis, 'pre-pandemic' refers to results prior to 01/03/2020.

Biochemical analyses

All biochemical analyses were performed on the Abbott Architect platform using chemiluminescent microparticle immunoassays (CMIA). The functional sensitivity for TSH was 0.01 U/L. The inter-and intra-assay coefficients of variation (CVs) were for TSH were; (inter) 3.1%, 2.0% and 2.2% and (intra) 4.1%, 2.9% and 4.7% at levels of 0.7 U/L, 5.2 U/L and 23.9 U/L. The functional sensitivity for fT₄ was 5 pmol/L. The interand intra-assay CVs for FT4 were; (inter) 2.6%, 2.9% and 7.1% and (intra) 1.5%, 0.8% and 4.9% at levels of 8.9 pmol/L, 18.9 pmol/L and 33.4 pmol/L. The functional sensitivity for Total T₃ (T_3) was 0.4 U/L. The inter-and intra-assay CVs were for (T_3) were; (inter) 2.6%, 1.2% and 1.3% and (intra) 4.6%, 2.2% and 1.6% at levels of 1.2 nmol/L, 2.6 nmol/L and 3.9 nmol/L. The functional sensitivities for Thyroid peroxidase (TPO) antibodies and thyroid receptor antibodies (TRAb) these assays were 1.0 U/ ml and 1.3 U/l respectively The inter- and intra-assay CVs for thyroid peroxidase (TPO) antibodies were (inter) 3.2%, 3.5% and 1.8% and (intra) 5.5%, 4.6% and 4.3% at levels of 25.2 U/ml, 72.5 U/ml and 197 U/ml. The inter- and intra-assay CVs for thyroid receptor antibodies (TRABs) were; (inter) 4.8%, 1.8% and 1.1% and (intra) 5.2, 2.0 and 1.2 at levels of 2.9, 9.8 and 29.9 U/l.

Ethics

Caldicott Guardian approval was obtained for this study.

Statistical analyses

Data processing and statistical analysis was conducted using GraphPad Prism v 8.01. To compare differences before and after the pandemic, non-continous variables were analysed using Fisher Exact Test. Continuous variables were analysed using Mann–Whitney U test. A p-value <0.05 was regarded as statistically significant.

Results

The primary search identified 1,239 abnormal TSH or $\rm fT_4$ results (TSH>5mU/L or a fT4>21pmol/L) between the dates of

01/01/2016 to 31/12/2021 at the Royal Hospital for Children, Glasgow. A total of 995 (80%) of these were excluded, as they were repeat blood tests in known patients, already receiving treatment for thyroid dysfunction. Overall, 244 children whose first presentation was within the timeframe of interest were therefore included in this study, with a median age (range) of 11.5 (6.1, 16.8) years. Of these, 43 (18%) were hyperthyroid and 201 (82%) were hypothyroid (Figure 1). None of the children in the post-pandemic group had a history of trisomy 21, whereas 5 (3%) of the pre-pandemic group did.

With regards to the distribution of thyroid presentation by year within the timeframe of the study, this increased over the study period (Figure 2). The median (range) number of presentations with thyroid dysfunction prior to the pandemic was 34 (28, 39) per year. The greatest number of thyroid presentations occurred in 2021 (n=60, 25% of total over time period) and the fewest in 2020 (n=10, 4% of total over time period) (Figure 2).

Presentation of hyperthyroidism

In those who were hyperthyroid, 33 patients presented prior to the pandemic (median (range) 8 (5-13) per year, 0.2 per week) and 10 patients presented during/after the pandemic (n=2 in 2020 and n=8 in 2021, 0.1 per week overall) (Table 1). There was a female preponderance in both groups. Median (range) age prepandemic was 12 years (7, 15) compared to 14 (7, 16) during the pandemic. There were no statistically significant differences in biochemistry or other clinical characteristics between the 2 groups. In all cases where treatment was not started, this was because repeat blood tests had normalised. There were no differences in the proportions of children presenting with unrecordably low TSH pre- and during/after the pandemic (75% vs 65%, p=0.4) or with unrecordably high fT_4 (0% vs 0%, p>0.999).

Presentation of hypothyroidism

In the hypothyroid group 141 patients presented before the pandemic and 60 patients presented during the pandemic (0.3 per week overall) (Table 2). In 2021 there were 52 presentations of hypothyroidism, compared to a median (range) of 28 (13, 44) and a total of only 8 presentations during 2020. Overall, the weekly presentations of hypothyroidism increased from 0.3 new referrals per week to 0.6 post pandemic. The median (range) age in those who presented pre-pandemic was 11 years (6, 16), with the median (range) age in those presenting during/after the pandemic also being 11 (7, 16).

Presenting pre- or during the COVID-19 pandemic did not affect TSH, free T_4 or TPO antibodies in hypothyroid patients. The presence of other autoimmune conditions was greater pre-



pandemic with a prevalence of 17.2% compared to during the pandemic where there was a prevalence of 15.0%, (p=0.03). Fewer patients received treatment for thyroid dysfunction during the pandemic, with 50.4% of the patients who presented before the pandemic being treated compared to 30.0% who were commenced on treatment during/after the pandemic (p=0.0086). Again, in all cases where treatment was not started, this was because repeat blood tests had normalised. There were no differences in the proportions of children

presenting with unrecordably high TSH pre- and during the pandemic (10.0% vs 11.8%, p=0.8) or with unrecordably low fT_4 (8.5% vs 10.3%, p=0.7).

Discussion

This retrospective observational study found that the presentation of thyroid dysfunction in children within a



	Pre-Pandemic n=33 (76.7%)	Pandemic n=10 (23/3%)	p-value
Female sex (%)	21 (63.6)	6 (60.0)	>0.9999
Median age (years) (range)	12 (7, 15)	14 (7, 16)	0.6729
Median TSH (mU/l) (range)	<0.01 (<0.01, 4.5)	<0.01 (<0.01, 2.38)	0.9021
Median fT4 (pmol/l) (range)	26.7 (15.7, 49.4)	34.8 (21.4, 64.4)	0.2017
Median fT3 (pmol/l) (range)	6.2 (1.4, >12.3)	7.1 (4.3, >9.2)	0.3729
Median TPO antibodies (U/ml)(range)	349.0 (1.1, >2000.0)	535.4 (<1.0, 1497.8)	0.9402
No +ve TPO antibodies (%)	21 (63.6)	7 (70.0)	>0.9999
Median TRABs (U/ml) (range)	18.0 (1.1, 77.0)	7.3 (<1.0, 33.0)	0.0800
No +ve TRABs (%)	21 (63.6)	8 (80.0)	0.4557
Goitre (%)	13 (39.4)	7 (70.0)	>0.9999
Tremor (%)	8 (24.2)	6 (60.0)	>0.9999
Menarche (% of females)	5 (23.8)	2 (20.0)	>0.9999
Autoimmune history (%)	6 (18.2)	0 (0.0)	0.1405
Family history (%)	11 (33.3)	2 (33.3)	0.1357
Treated (%)	21 (63.6)	8 (80.0)	0.457

TABLE 1 Characteristics of hyperthyroid patients.

TSH, Thyroid Stimulating Hormone; fT4, thyroxine; T3, triiodothyronine; TPO, thyroid peroxidase; TRAB, thyroid receptor antibody.

TABLE 2 Characteristics of hypothyroid patients (n=201) prior to the pandemic and during the pandemic.

	Pre-Pandemic n=141 (70.2%)	Pandemic n=60 (29.8%)	p-value
Female sex (%)	93 (65.9)	43 (71.7)	0.5106
Median age (years) (range)	11 (6, 16)	11 (7, 16)	0.1498
Median TSH (mU/l) (range)	8.2 (5.01, >500)	6.71 (5.01, >500)	0.8371
Median fT4 (pmol/l) (range)	11.1 (<0.01, 20.7)	11.7 (<0.01, 17.0)	0.1614
Median fΓ3 (pmol/l) (range)	2.0 (0.9, 4.1)	2.4 (1.6, 3.1)	0.8831
Median TPO antibodies (U/ml)(range)	373.5 (<1.0, >2000)	366.2 (<1.0, >2000)	0.7163
No +ve TPO antibodies (%)	72 (51.1)	31 (51.7)	>0.9999
Median TRABs (U/ml) (range)	1.4 (<1.0, >40.0)	<1.0 (<1.0, 7.3)	0.779
No +ve TRABs (%)	12 (8.5)	5 (8.3)	>0.9999
Goitre (%)	23 (17.2)	6 (10.0)	0.4222
Tremor (%)	0 (0)	1 (1.7)	0.3269
Menarche (% of females)	16 (23.8)	2 (20.0)	>0.9999
Autoimmune history (%)	30 (21.3)	9 (15.0)	0.0343*
Family history (%)	29 (20.6)	17 (28.3)	0.6238
Treated (%)	71 (50.4)	18 (30.0)	0.0086**

TSH, Thyroid Stimulating Hormone; fT4, thyroxine; T3, triiodothyronine; TPO, thyroid peroxidase; TRAB, thyroid receptor antibody. *p<0.05. **p<0.01. Bold mean they are statistically significant. tertiary paediatric endocrine centre did not significantly change pre- and post-pandemic. This study adds to a small, but rapidly growing pool of evidence around the effect of the COVID-19 pandemic on thyroid function. Shidid et al. (10) recently reported no significant differences observed in percentage of abnormal TSH tests reported pre- and post- pandemic in children. The findings of our study support this statement and expand on it as we included fT_4 , fT_3 , TPO antibodies and TRABs as well as characteristics of presentation.

Within the hypothyroid cohort, more children presented with other autoimmune conditions or trisomy 21 in the prepandemic time frame compared to during/after the pandemic. This is contrast to studies in adults which have reported an increase in autoimmune mediated dysfunction after the pandemic (16). These data have not yet been reported in children. This may be because there was a reduction in total number of presentations of any children to healthcare services due to the constraints of the pandemic, and as such, additional autoimmune conditions, such as coeliac disease, may not have been identified during this time. The first lockdown in the UK was commenced in March 2020; therefore COVID-19 might have been circulating in the community or the population may have changed its behaviour in response to the virus in the months before this. Indeed, overall presentations in 2020 are likely to have been lower due to limited access to healthcare during the peak of the pandemic.

In the hypothyroid cohort, there was also a reduction in the number of children requiring treatment post-pandemic. This suggests that these children may have had minor transient thyroid dysfunction, perhaps secondary to COVID-19 related thyroiditis, which then resolved prior to the need for treatment. A systematic review into thyroid dysfunction related to COVID-19 has reported thyroiditis, which spontaneously improves within 3 months of infection (17). As such, it would be interesting to determine the COVID-19 antibody status of children within this group, but this was not possible within this study. Future prospective studies should consider antibody status and its effects on health status.

This study reports data from a single health board region, which may limit its generalisability and data from paediatric endocrine centres elsewhere in the world may therefore differ accordingly. That said, the Greater Glasgow and Clyde health board reflects a geographical area with the highest density population of Scotland along with huge health discrepancies (15). Differences in the number of presentations with thyroid dysfunction may reflect challenges associated with access to health services during the pandemic.

Although overall rates of presentation with thyroid dysfunction have not altered since the first wave of the COVID-19 pandemic, presentations with transient thyroid dysfunction, not requiring ongoing treatment have increased. Further research regarding the relationship between COVID-19 and thyroid function in children and young people, is needed. Where possible, further prospective longitudinal studies should therefore be conducted.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Author contributions

RM and EW undertook data collection and drafting of the manuscript. They contributed equally to the manuscript and should be considered as joint 1st authors. AL-H undertook data analysis and redrafting of the manuscript. JM, AM, SCW, SFA, and MGS provided data for analysis and revised the manuscript. All authors have read and approved the manuscript for submission.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

^{1.} Bettendorf M. Thyroid disorders in children from birth to adolescence. *Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging.* (2002) 29:S439–46. doi: 10.1007/s00259-002-0905-3

^{2.} Li M-Y, Li L, Zhang Y, Wang X-S. Expression of the SARS-CoV-2 cell receptor gene ACE2 in a wide variety of human tissues. *Infect Dis Poverty.* (2020) 9:23–9. doi: 10.1186/s40249-020-00662-x

^{3.} Allam MM, El-Zawawy HT, Ahmed SM, Aly Abdelhamid M. Thyroid disease and covid-19 infection: Case series. *Clin Case Rep* (2021) 9:e04225. doi: 10.1002/ccr3.4225

Bogusławska J, Godlewska M, Gajda E, Piekiełko-Witkowska A. Cellular and molecular basis of thyroid autoimmunity. *Eur Thyroid J* (2022) 11:R1–R16. doi: 10.1530/ETJ-21-0024

5. Lania A, Sandri MT, Cellini M, Mirani M, Lavezzi E, Mazziotti G. Thyrotoxicosis in patients with COVID-19: The THYRCOV study. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2020) 183:381-7. doi: 10.1530/EJE-20-0335

6. Giovanella L, Ruggeri RM, Ovčariček PP, Campenni A, Treglia G, Deandreis D. Prevalence of thyroid dysfunction in patients with COVID-19: A systematic review. *Clin Transl Imaging.* (2021) 9:233–40. doi: 10.1007/s40336-021-00419-y

7. Chen M, Zhou W, Xu W. Thyroid function analysis in 50 patients with COVID-19: A retrospective study. *Thyroid* (2021) 31:8–11. doi: 10.1089/thy.2020.0363

8. Wang W, Su X, Ding Y, Fan W, Zhou W, Su J, et al. Thyroid function abnormalities in COVID-19 patients. *Front endocrinology*. (2021) 11:623792. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.623792

9. Kazakou P, Paschou SA, Psaltopoulou T, Gavriatopoulou M, Korompoki E, Stefanaki K, et al. Early and late endocrine complications of COVID-19. *Endocr Connect.* (2021) 1:R229–R239. doi: 10.1530/EC-21-0184

10. Shidid S, Kohlhoff S, Smith-Norowitz TA. Thyroid stimulating hormone levels in children before and during the coronavirus disease-19 pandemic. *Health Sci Rep* (2022) 5:e579-e579. doi: 10.1002/hsr2.579

11. Das BB, Shakti D, Akam-Venkata J, Obi O, Weiland MD, Moskowitz W. SARS-CoV-2 infection induced thyroid storm and heart failure in an adolescent girl. *Cardiol Young.* (2021) 32, 1–5. doi: 10.1017/S1047951121004352

12. Banull NR, Reich PJ, Anka C, May J, Wharton K, Kallogjeri D, et al. Association between endocrine disorders and severe COVID-19 disease in pediatric patients. *Hormone Res Paediatrics*. (2022) 95, 1–8. doi: 10.1159/000524595

13. Puri S, McLelland B, Bryce N. 1651 the impact of covid-19 on thyroid surveillance offered to children with down syndrome. *Arch Dis Child.* (2021) 106: A444. doi: 10.1136/archdischild-2021-rcpch.773

14. Inoue K, Noh JY, Yoshihara A, Watanabe N, Matsumoto M, Fukushita M, et al. Delayed follow-up visits and thyrotropin among patients with levothyroxine during the COVID-19 pandemic. *J Endocr Soc* (2022) 6:bvab181. doi: 10.1210/jendso/bvab181

15. National Records Scotland. Scotland's population. (2022). Available at: https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data. Accessed 01/07/2022.

16. Lui DTW, Lee CH, Chow WS, Lee ACH, Tam AR, Fong CHY, et al. Insights from prospective follow-up of thyroid function and autoimmunity among covid-19 survivors. *J Endocrine Society*. (2021) 5:A840–1. doi: 10.1210/ jendso/bvab048.1715

17. Tutal E, Ozaras R, Leblebicioglu H. Systematic review of COVID-19 and autoimmune thyroiditis. *Travel Med Infect Disease*. (2022) 47:102314. doi: 10.1016/j.tmaid.2022.102314

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Stefano Stagi, University of Florence, Italy

REVIEWED BY Gerdi Tuli, Regina Margherita Hospital, Italy Valeria Calcaterra, University of Pavia, Italy

*CORRESPONDENCE A. Cassio alessandra.cassio@unibo.it

[†]This author holds Senior authorship

SPECIALTY SECTION RECEIVED 31 August 2022 ACCEPTED 10 November 2022

ACCEPTED 10 November 2022 PUBLISHED 30 November 2022

CITATION

Barberi C, Di Natale V, Assirelli V, Bernardini L, Candela E and Cassio A (2022) Implicating factors in the increase in cases of central precocious puberty (CPP) during the COVID-19 pandemic: Experience of a tertiary centre of pediatric endocrinology and review of the literature. *Front. Endocrinol.* 13:1032914. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.1032914

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Barberi, Di Natale, Assirelli, Bernardini, Candela and Cassio. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms. Implicating factors in the increase in cases of central precocious puberty (CPP) during the COVID-19 pandemic: Experience of a tertiary centre of pediatric endocrinology and review of the literature

C. Barberi¹, V. Di Natale², V. Assirelli³, L. Bernardini³, E. Candela³ and A. Cassio^{4*†}

¹Department of Medical and Surgical Sciences, Istituto di Ricovero e Cura a Carattere Scientifico (IRCCS) Azienda Ospedaliera Universitaria di Bologna, Bologna, Italy, ²Istituto di Ricovero e Cura a Carattere Scientifico IRCCS Azienda Ospedaliera Universitaria di Bologna, Program of Endocrine Metabolic Diseases, Unit of Pediatrics, Bologna, Italy, ³Department of Medical and Surgical Sciences, Pediatric School of University of Bologna, University of Bologna, Bologna, Italy, ⁴Department of Medical and Surgical Sciences, University of Bologna, IRCCS Azienda Ospedaliera Universitaria di Bologna, Program of Endocrine Metabolic Diseases, Bologna, Italy

Sexual development is a complex mechanism activated by the hypothalamicpituitary-gonadal axis. Over the last one hundred years there has been a decline in the age at puberty onset in industrialised countries. Some Italian studies showed an increase in diagnoses of Central Precocious Puberty (CPP) during the COVID-19 pandemic. It is thus supposed that in this period there was an increased impact of factors that can influence pubertal development. Our retrospective monocentric study aimed to confirm the existence of this phenomenon and analysed possible related factors. We retrospectively evaluated clinical, laboratory, radiological and ultrasound (US) data of 154 girls referred to our Tertiary Centre of Paediatric Endocrinology from January 2019 to April 2021 for different forms of Precocious Puberty. We subdivided the cases into subgroups according to the final diagnosis: CPP, Early Puberty (EP), isolated thelarche and isolated pubarche. The observation period was subdivided into: Period 1, before lockdown (1 January 2019 – 8 March 2020) and Period 2, lockdown and the following months (9 March 2020 - 30 April 2021). Period 2 was further divided into "restrictive lockdown period" (Period 2.1) (March 2020 – 14 June 2020, in which the schools were closed) and "less restrictive lockdown period" (Period 2.2) (15 June 2020 - 30 April 2021). We analysed data regarding the use of electronic devices before and during lockdown in a group of girls with CPP diagnosed in Period 2 and we compared the data with that of a control group. Our data show an increase in the number of new diagnoses of CPP during lockdown and in the following months, compared with the previous period. We also detected a higher use of PCs and smartphones in girls with CPP diagnosed in Period 2, compared with the control group. The percentage of the presence of endometrial rhyme detected during the pelvic ultrasound was higher in girls with CPP in Period 2, compared with the previous period. Based on our data we assume there was an environmental effect on pubertal timing that calls our attention to factors such as food, use of electronic devices and stress. We will need further studies to better understand this data.

KEYWORDS

central precious puberty, COVID - 19, early puberty, thelarche premature, electromagnetic field, BMI - body mass index, endometrial rhyme, isolated pubarche

Introduction

The complex mechanism that leads to sexual development starts from the activation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal axis by an unknown primary input. Over the last one hundred years there has been a decrease in age at puberty onset in industrialised countries; menarche appears on average in girls about 12 and a half years old, and thelarche in girls between 9 and a half and ten years old (1, 2). The basis of this decline involves not only genetic factors (2, 3) but also environmental factors such as BMI (4), dietary habits, physical activity, stressors (5) and exposure to ECDs and electromagnetic fields (6, 7).

In Italy, the restrictions due to the coronavirus pandemic led to deep changes in people's habits. Italians had to stay at home for several months. The schools closure and the beginning of distance learning led to an increase in the use of electronic devices. These devices were also used more frequently for extracurricular reasons (video games, TV, PC games) that resulted in an accumulation of hours spent in front of screens.

Forced home - staying at home also led a reduction in physical activities and an increase in consumption of junk food resulting in body weight gain.

In addition, the pandemic situation led to a growth in stressors for many families (fear of illness, fear for the health of loved ones, economic problems...).

Some previous Italian studies reported an increase in the number of new cases of Central Precocious Puberty (CPP) in girls during the COVID-19 pandemic (8–11) It has been assumed that during this period, the impact of factors interfering with pubertal development increased.

This retrospective monocentric study aimed to confirm the existence of this phenomenon and analysed possible related factors.

Materials and methods

We retrospectively evaluated clinical, laboratory, radiological and ultrasound (US) data on 154 girls referred to our Tertiary Centre of Paediatric Endocrinology from January 2019 to April 2021 for different forms of Precocious Puberty. We subdivided the cases into subgroups according to the final diagnosis: CPP, Early Puberty (EP), isolated thelarche and isolated pubarche. CPP was defined according to Consensus Guidelines (12). Early puberty was defined as the onset of pubertal signs between 8 and 9 years old (13).

The observation period was subdivided into: Period 1, before lockdown (1 January 2019 – 8 March 2020), and Period 2, lockdown and the following months (9 March 2020 – 30 April 2021). Period 2 was further divided into "restrictive lockdown period" (Period 2.1) (9 March 2020 – 14 June 2020, in which the schools were closed) and "less restrictive lockdown period" (Period 2.2) (15 June 2020 – 30 April 2021).

We analysed data regarding the use of electronic devices obtained through a questionnaire (Figure 1) administered to 17 girls diagnosed with CPP in Period 2 and to 26 "short normal" controls matched for sex and age referred to our Centre in the same period.

We excluded girls with CPP associated with hypothalamicpituitary congenital malformations, neurological, neurosurgical and/or genetic diseases, psychomotor delay, oncological diseases. We also excluded adopted girls with CPP.

Age, sex, ethnicity, family history of precocious and EP, midparental height, age at the onset of pubertal signs, and age at first observation were recovered from clinical records. Height, weight, birth weight and BMI were expressed as a standard deviation score (SDS) according to Italian standards (14). Pubertal stage was recorded according to Marshall and

	Never	<30'	30'-60'	1-2 hours	2-3 hours	3-4 hours	4-5 hours	>5 hours
PC								
TV								
Tablet								
PC/TV games								
Smartphone								
PC TV	Never	<30'	30'-60'	1-2 hours	2-3 hours	3-4 hours	4-5 hours	>5 hours
Tablet								
PC/TV games	-	-						
Smartphone		-						
 3. At what time did you use electronic devices on average before lockdown period? 8-13 13-20 20-24 4. At what time did you used electronic devices during lockdown period (march 2020 – June 2020) 8-13 13-20 20-24 								
□ 13-20 □ 20-24								
□ 13-20 □ 20-24	usually u	ise elec	ctronic de	evices in you		before fallin	g asleep?	

Tanner's genital stage (15); we analysed the rate of progression of pubertal signs. We defined "rapid progression" as a transition from B2 to B3 in less than six months.

When available, we recorded levels at baseline of folliclestimulating hormone [FSH], luteinizing hormone [LH], estradiol [E2]. A Gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) test was performed by i.v. administration of GnRH to 94 girls (37 in Period 1 and 57 in Period 2) with LH and FSH measurement at 0, + 30 and + 60 min.

A basal level of LH > 0,3 IU/L and/or a peak response of LH after GnRH infusion > 5 IU/L, with or without serum estradiol levels > pg/ml, were considered suggestive of CPP (16–18).

We estimated bone age (BA) from an X-ray of the left hand and wrist using the Greulich & Pyle atlas (19). Bone age advancement was defined as the difference between BA and chronological age expressed in years.

Pelvic ultrasound was trans-abdominally performed by a group of paediatric evaluation expert radiologists. It was used a Convex ecotomograph with B-mode ultrasound signal and a variable wavelength between 3.5 and 5.0 MHz (Philips). The subject was examined in a supine position with distended bladder and we're detected uterine measurements [longitudinal diameters (LD), tranverse diameter (DT) and antero-posterior diameter (APD)] and ovarian measurements. It was also evaluated the visibility of the endometrial rhyme. The uterine volumes were obtained through the ellipsoid formula [(DL x DT x ADP x 0.52)/1000]. A uterine longitudinal diameters (ULD) > 34 mm and/or a uterine volume (UV) > 4 ml and/or the presence of endometrial rhyme were considered suggestive of estrogenic stimulation and advanced pubertal development (20).

Statistical analysis

We performed a descriptive analysis of central trend measures (mean and median), with range maximum and minimum value and standard deviation of continuous variables (age at diagnosis, SDS height, SDS BMI, Tanner stage, neonatal weight, rate of progression of pubertal development, basal and peak value of LH and FSH, estradiol, bone age, uterine volume and longitudinal diameter of uterus).

We analysed Tanner stage with frequency tables. We analysed data with Chi squared tests.

We realised frequency tables for distribution analysis of descriptive variables (presence of endometrial rhyme, Tanner stage and medical therapy). We used Student's t-distribution tests to evaluate differences between means of the following variables, in the different groups defined on the basis of diagnosis: SDS weight, SDS height, SDS BMI, birth weight, rate of progression of pubertal development, age at diagnosis, basal and peak value of LH and FSH, bone age, uterine volume, longitudinal diameter uterus.

We used non-parametric tests (Mann–Whitney) for data with non-normal distribution and two proportion zeta tests and chi squared tests for frequency analysis.

All statistical tests were two-tailed and P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Statistical analyses were performed with the use of NCSS 2021 (NCSS 2021 Statistical Software. NCSS, LLC. Kaysville, Utah, USA, ncss.com/software/ncss, 2020) for statistical analyses.

Results

Table 1 shows the frequency of the different diagnoses in the two periods of observation. Compared to Period 1, the Group CPP only increased significantly the frequency of diagnosis in Period 2.

Table 2 shows auxological data at diagnosis and rate of pubertal progression in girls with CPP diagnosed in period 2, compared with girls with CPP diagnosed in period 1. We did not find any significant difference in the rate of pubertal progression. As regards isolated pubarche, our data show a lower onset age in the pre-Covid group with statistical significance (6.75 \pm 0.04 years vs 7.33 \pm 0.2 years, p < 0.005), probably due to the diagnostic delay during the pandemic.

Table 3 shows hormonal data at diagnosis in girls with CPP subdivided by observation period. We did not find any difference in the two groups.

Table 4 shows US data in girls with CPP subdivided by observation period. The percentage of girls with endometrial rhyme at diagnosis was higher in period 2, compared to period 1, but this difference was not significant, probably due to the small sample of patients.

We found 3 girls with CPP and 14 girls with EP in sub-Period 2.1 and 14 girls with CPP and 34 girls with EP in sub-Period 2.2. The comparative analysis of sub-Period 2.1 and 2.2 did not show any differences in auxological, laboratory and radiologic data except for BMI SDS that showed a significant increase in the period after the restrictive lockdown in the EP group (sub-Period 2.1: -0.73 \pm 1.39, sub-Period 2.2 0.26 \pm 0.72). We did not find any significance in the group with CPP, probably due to the sample's reduced size (sub-Period 1 0.07 \pm 0.79 vs sub-Period 2 0.79 \pm 0.53).

In regard to the results of the questionnaire on the use of electronic devices in girls with CPP, the percentage of girls with CPP that used PCs and tablets more than 2 hours a day was significantly higher during the lockdown period, compared with the preceding period (PC 85.5% vs 0%, Tablet 15% vs 0, p < 0.005). In addition, the percentage of girls that used PCs and smartphones more than 2 hours a day during lockdown was significantly higher in girls with CPP compared with the control group (PC 85.5% vs 73%, p < 0.005, Smartphone 29% vs 10% p < 0.005).

Discussion

CPP is a rare disease that involves mainly females and in most cases it is idiopathic.

The results of our study, in line with other Italian studies recently published (8–11), show an increase in the number of new diagnoses of CPP during lockdown and in the following months, compared with previous period.

Moreover, in accordance with the results of Chioma et al (10), this increase is observed only in patients with the classical form of CPP, with onset before 8 years of age, while it was not observed in girls with isolated forms of pubarche and thelarche. These results therefore prompt the hypothesis that the factors potentially responsible for this increase specifically induce the precocious activation of hypothalamic-pituitary axis.

During the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic, people's habits changed radically; we think that an environmental change in lifestyle may influence pubertal timing.

We assumed that obesity and the increase of BMI in the paediatric population are possible contributing factors of the pubertal onset advance seen in the last few decades in industrialized countries. The increase in fat mass may lead to an augmented production of adipocyte hormones like leptin, which has a permissive role in HPG axis activation (21) (22), and insulin, which promotes GnRH activity, mostly mediated by leptin (23) (24). The increased weight leads to augmented hypothalamic ceramide levels, a lipid signalling molecule with a permissive

TABLE 1 Frequency of different diagnoses of precocious puberty in Period 1 and Period 2.

	N° of patients	Period 1 (N%)	Period 2 (N%)	p value
СРР	26	9 (35%)	17 (75%)	<0.05
EP	67	28 (42%)	39 (48%)	NS
Pubarche	38	20 (52%)	18 (48%)	NS
Telarche	23	10 (43%)	13 (47%)	NS

NS, not statistically significant.

Period 1 (9 cases) Period 2 (17 cases) Age at onset 6.96 ± 0.55 6.43 ± 1.5 (yrs, M ± SD) Age at diagnosis 727 ± 0.6 6.99 ± 1.38 (yrs, $M \pm SD$) Weight SDS 0.93 ± 0.95 0.83 ± 0.85 $(M \pm SD)$ Height SDS 1.25 ± 1.15 $1.10\,\pm\,1.30$ $(M \pm SD)$ BMI SDS 0.57 ± 0.92 0.66 ± 0.6 (M + SD)SDS target height -0.5 ± 0.51 0.57 ± 1.3 $(M \pm SD)$ Rate of pubertal progression 6.5 ± 2.12 4 ± 2.83 (months) EO-EC 1.89 ± 1.20 1.64 ± 1.16 (years, months)

TABLE 2 Auxological data at diagnosis and rate of pubertal progression in girls with CPP subdivided by observation period.

TABLE 3 Hormonal data at diagnosis in girls with CPP subdivided by observation period.

	Period 1 (9 cases)	Period 2 (17 cases)
Basal LH (pg/mL) (M ± SD)	2.5 ± 3.92	1.15 ± 0.64
Peak LH (M ± SD)	7.37 ± 5.03	11.42 ± 13.76
E2 > 15 pg/mL (% cases)	50%	69%

TABLE 4 Ultrasound (US) data at diagnosis in girls with CPP subdivided by observation period.

	Period 1 (9 cases)	Period 2 (17 cases)
Uterus D.L. (M ± SD)	40.38 ± 10.78	39.53 ± 7.32
Uterine volume (M ± SD)	5.21 ± 3.63	3.88 ± 2.10
Endometrial rhyme % cases	12.5%	40%

role on the HPG axis (25) and lead to a reduction of Sirtuin 1, a deacetylase that negatively influences pubertal activation.

In our experience, we found no significant increase in SDS BMI in girls with CPP diagnosed in Period 2, but only a trend of increasing BMI in months after lockdown in girls with EP. Indeed only in Stagi's study (8) was an increase observed in BMI in girls with CPP diagnosed during lockdown, while no other Italian studies detected this change. On the other hand, we have to consider the reduction of physical activity that characterized the lockdown and the following months, with the persistence of distance learning in the paediatric population. This lack of physical activity may have had a negative influence on body composition resulting in an increase in fat mass without an increase in BMI (10). In regard to a greater pubertal thrust that characterized the diagnosis of forms of CPP detected during lockdown, as compared with forms identified in the previous period, there is contrasting literature data.

The studies of Stagi (8) and Umano (11) report levels of gonadotropins significantly higher in girls with CPP diagnosed during lockdown compared with the previous period. Our data, according to the multicentre study of Chioma et al (10), show no differences in hormone levels at diagnosis.

In Stagi's (8) study the number of girls with CPP who experienced a transition from slowly progressive pubertal development to accelerated pubertal development during lockdown was significantly higher compared with the previous 5 years. We did not observe this increase in pubertal progression, although our evaluation was based on referred data and not on clinical evaluation.

On the other hand, as concerns US data, our study is the only one in literature that shows a higher percentage of girls with the presence of endometrial rhyme during lockdown, compared with previous period.

It is well known that the presence of endometrial rhyme is a really specific parameter of estrogenic secretion and significant pubertal activation (24). It could be assumed that the estrogenic boost was more intensive in patients with onset during lockdown and that this favoured the onset of endometrial rhyme, despite the similarity of laboratory data.

We must however considerer that controversial results in the literature could depend on the difficulty of comparing studies having different numbers of patients, inclusion criteria and observation period.

The lifestyle change due to lockdown led to an increase in the use of electronic devices. The use of PCs increased more than other devices, due to distance learning. We detected that patients with CPP used more PCs and smartphones during lockdown, compared to the control group. Some studies assume that the electromagnetic radiation produced by electronic devices causes a down regulation in melatonin secretion (6, 7, 26). Normally, melatonin levels decrease during puberty and this down regulation leads to an activation of GnRH *via* genetic transcription (27). The increased use of electronic devices could have determined a melatonin level reduction that may have favoured the development of precocious puberty in susceptible individuals. This data may justify the stability of other forms of non-central precocious puberty like EP, isolated pubarche and thelarche.

Psychological factors linked to the pandemic are other environmental factors that we may consider. Some studies showed an increase of stress factors (fear of disease, drastic change of habits, break up of social contacts) (8, 9). Stress factors lead to an increase and then a decrease of cortisol levels. Cortisol has a negative feedback on the HPG axis; we can assume that a decrease in cortisol could have favoured the development of puberty. The examination of psychological effects is outside our analysis but we can assume there was indeed an increase in stress factors in our patients.

Strengths

We performed all the evaluations in the same Centre with homogeneous criteria of diagnosis and evaluation.

We also analysed the frequency of other forms of precocious puberty without central involvement, in contrast to other published studies.

We used a control group for the examination of the questionnaires regarding the use of electronic devices.

Limits

The limitations of our study are largely related to the emergency situation due to the pandemic, which did not allow prospective, controlled studies.

The sample small size and restrospective nature are also in the limitations of our study.

The data are preliminary and other evaluations need to be carried out through multicentre analyses with wider case studies.

Conclusion

The SARS-CoV-2 pandemic led to radical habit changes and we assume that these changes influenced the increase in frequency of CPP. Based on our data we assume there was an environmental effect on pubertal timing that calls our attention to factors such as food, use of electronic devices and stress. We will need other studies to better understand this data. By improving our knowledge of these factors, we could better understand some of the physiopathological aspects of puberty and implement preventive and corrective actions.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by UOC Ricerca e Innovazione - Scudeller Startup/ Istruttoria (CE Locale) IRCCS Azienda Ospedaliero-Universitaria di Bologna Policlinico S.Orsola-Malpighi. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

Author contributions

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

References

 Roberts SA, Kaiser UB. Genetics in endocrinology genetic etiologies of central precocious puberty and the role of imprinted genes. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2020) 183: R107–17. doi: 10.1530/EJE-20-0103

2. Abreu AP, Kaiser UB. Pubertal development and regulation. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol (2016) 4(3):254-64. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(15)00418-0

3. Maione L, Bouvattier C, Kaiser UB. Central precocious puberty: recent advances in understanding the aetiology and clinical approach. *Clin Endocrinol* (2021) 95:542–55. doi: 10.1111/cen.14475

4. Brix N, Ernst A, Lauridsen LLB, Parner ET, Arah OA, Olsen J, et al. Childhood overweight and obesity and timing of puberty in boys and girls: Cohort and sibling-matched analyses. *Int J Epidemiol* (2021) 49:834–44. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyaa056

5. Amigo H, Vásquez S, Bustos P, Ortiz G, Lara M. Socioeconomic status and age at menarche in indigenous and non-indigenous Chilean adolescents. *Cad Saude Publica* (2012) 28:977–83. doi: 10.1590/S0102-311X2012000500016

6. Waldhauser F, Weiszenbacher G, Tatzer E, Gisinger B, Waldhauser M, Schemper M, et al. Alterations in nocturnal serum melatonin levels in humans with growth and aging. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (1988) 66(3):648 –52. doi: 10.1210/jcem-66-3-648

7. Waldhauser F, Waldhauser M, Lieberman HR, Deng MH, Lynch HJ, Wurtman RJ. Bioavailability of oral melatonin in humans. *Neuroendocrinology* (1984) 39(4):307-13. doi: 10.1159/000123997

8. Stagi S, De Masi S, Bencini E, Losi S, Paci S, Parpagnoli M. Increased incidence of precocious and accelerated puberty in females during and after the Italian lockdown for the coronavirus 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic. *Ital J Pediatr* (2020) 46(1):165. doi: 10.1186/s13052-020-00931-3

9. Verzani M, Bizzarri C, Chioma L, Bottaro G, Pedicelli S, Cappa M. Impact of COVID-19 pandemic lockdown on early onset of puberty: Experience of an Italian tertiary center. *Ital J Pediatr* (2021) 47(1):52. doi: 10.1186/s13052-021-01015-6

10. Chioma L, Bizzarri C, Verzani M, Fava D, Salerno M, Capalbo D, et al. Sedentary lifestyle and precocious puberty in girls during the COVID-19 pandemic: an Italian experience. *Endocr Connect* (2022) 11(2):e210650. doi: 10.1530/EC-21-0650

11. Umano GR, Rondinelli G, Rivetti G, Klain A, Aiello F, Miraglia Del Giudice M, et al. Effect of covid – 19 lockdown on children's eating behaviours: A longitudinal study. *Children (Basel)* (2022) 20:9. doi: 10.3390/children9071078

12. Carel JC, Eugster EA, Rogol A, Ghizzoni L, Palmert MR, ESPE-LWPES GnRH Analogs Consensus Conference Group, et al. Consensus statement on the use of gonadotropin-releasing hormone analogs in children. *Pediatrics* (2009) 123 (4):e752-62. doi: 10.1542/peds.2008-1783

13. Mul D, Oostdijk W, Drop SL. Early puberty in girls. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab (2002) 16(1):153–63. doi: 10.1053/beem.2001.0187 organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

14. Cacciari E, Milani S, Balsamo A, Spada E, Bona G, Cavallo L, et al. Italian Cross-sectional growth charts for height, weight and BMI (2 to 20 yr). *J Endocrinol Invest* (2006) 29:581–93. doi: 10.1007/BF03344156

15. Marshall WA, Tanner JM. Variations in pattern of pubertal changes in girls. Arch Dis Child (1969) 44:291–303. doi: 10.1136/adc.44.235.291

16. Carel JC, Leger J. Clinical practice. precocious puberty. N Engl J Med (2008) 358:2366–77. doi: 10.1056/NEJMcp0800459

17. Neely EK, Hintz RL, Wilson DM, Lee PA, Gautier T, Argente J, et al. Normal ranges for immunochemiluminometric gonadotropin assays. *J Pediatr* (1995) 127:40–6. doi: 10.1016/s0022-3476(95)70254-7

18. Bangalore Krishna K, Fuqua JS, Rogol AD, Klein KO, Popovic J, Houk CP, et al. Use of gonadotropin-releasing hormone analogs in children: update by an international consortium. *Horm Res Paediatr* (2019) 91:357–72. doi: 10.1159/000501336

19. Greulich WW, Pyle SI. Radiographic atlas of skeletal development of the hand and wrist. *Calif Med* (1959) 91(1):53.

20. Orsini LF, Salardi S, Pilu G, Bovicelli L, Cacciari E. Pelvic organs in premenarcheal girls: Real- time ultrasonography. *Radiology* (1984) 153(1):113–6. doi: 10.1148/radiology.153.1.6473771

21. Ahima RS, Saper CB, Flier JS, Elmquist JK. Front leptin regulation of neuroendocrine systems. *Neuroendocrinol* (2000) 21(3):263–307. doi: 10.1006/ frne.2000.0197

22. Considine RV, Sinha MK, Heiman ML, Kriauciunas A, Stephens TW, Nyce MR, et al. Serum immunoreactiveleptin concentrations in normal-weight and obese humans. *N Engl J Med* (1996) 334(5):292–5. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199602013340503

23. Moret M, Stettler R, Rodieux F, Gaillard RC, Waeber G, Wirthner D, et al. Insulin modulation of luteinizing hormone secretion in normal female volunteers and lean polycystic ovary syndrome patients. *Neuroendocrinology* (2009) 89 (2):131–9. doi: 10.1159/000160911

24. Barr VA, Malide D, Zarnowski MJ, Taylor SI, Cushman SW. Insulin stimulates both leptin secretion and production by rat white adipose tissue. *Endocrinology* (1997) 138(10):4463–72. doi: 10.1210/endo.138.10.5451

25. Heras V, Castellano JM, Fernandois D, Velasco I, Rodriguez-Vasquez E, Roa J, et al. Central ceramide signaling mediates obesity-induced precocious puberty. *Cell Metab* (2020) 32:951–966.e8. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2020.10.001

26. Lewczuk B, Redlarski G, Zak A, Zió łkowska N, Przybylska-Gornowicz B, Krawczuk M. Influence of electric, magnetic, and electromagnetic fields on the circadian system: Current stage of knowledge. *BioMed Res Int* (2014) 2014:169459. doi: 10.1155/2014/169459

27. Roy D, Belsham DD. Melatonin receptor activation regulates GnRH gene expression and secretion in GT1-7 GnRH neurons. Signal transduction mechanisms. *J Biol Ch* (2002) 277(1):251–8. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M108890200

Frontiers in Endocrinology

Explores the endocrine system to find new therapies for key health issues

The second most-cited endocrinology and metabolism journal, which advances our understanding of the endocrine system. It uncovers new therapies for prevalent health issues such as obesity, diabetes, reproduction, and aging.

Discover the latest Research Topics



Frontiers

Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne, Switzerland frontiersin.org

Contact us

+41 (0)21 510 17 00 frontiersin.org/about/contact



